
Page 1 of 2 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR MEETING 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

PLAN COMMISSION 

 October 19, 2017 – 7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Village Hall – 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue 
 

Regular Meeting Called to Order 
Pledge of Allegiance 
Roll Call Taken 
Communications 
Approval of Minutes: Minutes of the October 5, 2017 Regular Meeting 
  
Item #1 BANGING GAVEL – 6811 HICKORY STREET 

PUBLIC HEARING: VARIANCES 
CONSIDERATION FOR APPROVAL: SITE PLAN 
CONSIDERATION FOR RECOMMENDATION: PLAT OF SUBDIVISION AND 
VARIANCES 
Consider granting the Petitioner, James Richert of Banging Gavel, Site Plan Approval for 
an outdoor seating area and related landscape improvements and recommending that the 
Village Board grant approval for the following: 
 

1. The Final Plat of Subdivision;  
 

2. A three foot, four inch (3’4”) variance from Section XII.4.E. (Table 4.E.1.) of the 
Zoning Ordinance where the maximum height for a freestanding frame sign is 
four feet (4’). This variance would allow a seven foot, four inch (7’4”) tall 
freestanding frame sign. 
 

3. A nine foot (9’) variance from Section XII.4.E. (Table 4.E.1.) of the Zoning 
Ordinance where a freestanding frame must be set back ten feet (10’) from the 
property line. This variance would allow the freestanding frame sign to be set 
back one foot (1’) from the north property line.  
 

4. A thirteen foot (13’) variance from Section XII.2.A.9. (Table 2.A.6.) of the 
Zoning Ordinance where an accessory structure is required to be set back twenty 
feet (20’) from a primary street. This variance would allow a pergola at a seven 
foot (7’) setback from the east property line. 

 
Item #2 ALDI – 16000 HARLEM AVENUE 

PUBLIC HEARING: SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
CONSIDERATION FOR RECOMMENDATION: SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Doyle Signs, Inc. on 
behalf of Aldi, a Special Use Permit for a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center 
Plaza Planned Unit Development to allow for an increase in the size and number of signs 
allowed for Aldi at 16000 Harlem Avenue and within the B-3 PD (General Business and 
Commercial, Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development) Zoning District. The 
proposed Substantial Deviation would allow a total of four (4) wall signs, a total sign face 
area of 211 square feet, and the main sign would be a maximum height of fifteen feet 
(15’). 
 

 



Page 2 of 2 

Item #3 STUDIO Q – 17708 OAK PARK AVENUE 
WORKSHOP: SPECIAL USE PERMIT  
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Qiana Grant of Studio 
Q, a Special Use Permit to allow a recreational business use (including group fitness 
classes) at 17708 Oak Park Avenue in the NG (Neighborhood General) Zoning District. 

 
Item #4 THE RESIDENCE OF BROOKSIDE GLEN – SOUTHWEST CORNER OF 191ST 

STREET AND MAGNUSON LANE 
WORKSHOP: SITE PLAN APPROVAL AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
Consider granting Site Plan Approval and consider recommending that the Village Board 
grant the Petitioner, Andrea Crowley of Griffin & Gallagher, LLC on behalf of Karli 
Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture, a Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development and any related 
Exceptions to develop a one hundred forty-four (144) unit multi-family residential project 
(a.k.a. The Residence of Brookside Glen) at the properties generally located west of 
Magnuson Lane and John Michael Drive in the southwest corner of 191st Street and 
Magnuson Lane. 

 
Good of the Order 
Receive Comments from the Public 
Adjourn Meeting 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 1 of 13 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE  
PLAN COMMISSION, VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 
COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS 

 
OCTOBER 5, 2017 
 

 
The Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission was held in the Council Chambers of Village Hall on 
October 5, 2017 at 7:00 p.m. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Plan Commissioners:  Ken Shaw, Chairman 

Eduardo Mani 
Angela Gatto 
Tim Stanton 
Peter Kroner 
Garrett Gray 
John Curran 
Lucas Engel 

    Chuck Augustyniak 
 
Absent Plan Commissioner(s):  None 
   
Village Officials and Staff: Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
    Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary  
     
CALL TO ORDER 
 
PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN SHAW called to order the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission 
for October 5, 2017 at 7:00 p.m. 
 
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW welcomed PLAN COMMISSIONER CHUCK AUGUSTYNIAK to his first 
meeting. 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW read a letter regarding a situation he had recently: 
 

“I’d like to take a moment to acknowledge and thank several members of the Village Staff for 
their professionalism assisting me with my application for a residential building permit.  I’d also 
like to provide a quick summary of my personal experience as a public service announcement; 
offering myself up for what I’d call a “teachable moment”. 
 
I recently hired a wonderful contractor, Beary Landscaping, to install a short paver walkway 
behind my garage.  Unfortunately, I misread the responsibilities section of our contract, which 
clearly stated that I was responsible for securing a building permit.  After they started, I realized I 
didn’t have a permit, so I had them stop working while I applied for the permit to correct my 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 2 of 13 

mistake.  I’ve received conditional permit approval from the Building Department, pending 
public utility waivers, as the walk is within the public utility easement.  I’ve already received 
several and expect the rest soon.   
 
I’d like to thank Stephanie Kisler and Jean Bruno for their professional conduct in helping me 
navigate the Village’s permit requirements quickly and correct my mistake.  From the beginning, 
I emphasized that I expected no special consideration based on my position as Chairman of the 
Plan Commission and expected my application to be treated the same as every other Village 
resident.  I acknowledged that failing to obtain a permit in advance was entirely my own error and 
that if other residents in my situation have been assessed fines.  I expect that I would also. To her 
great credit, Jean has been very fair and pleasant, but hasn’t gone the least bit easy on me.  She’s 
held me to the same standard as every other resident, and I expect no less than that.   
 
I offer my experience as example to all residents and advise that you always consult the Building 
Department on projects.  They won’t make you get permits that aren’t required. And, if you screw 
up, as I did, the best thing you can do is stop the work and let the Village help you correct the 
situation.  They know people make mistakes and they will help you get in compliance quickly.   
 
So once again, thank you.”  

 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Minutes of the September 21, 2017 Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission were presented for 
approval.  A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER GRAY, seconded by COMMISSIONER 
CURRAN, to approve the Minutes.  
 
COMMISSIONER GRAY noted corrections on the spelling of his name on page 4 and page 6.  Spelling 
should be “GRAY”. 
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER MANI, to 
approve the minutes as corrected.  The Motion was approved by voice call.  CHAIRMAN SHAW 
declared the motion carried.   
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 3 of 13 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE OCTOBER 5, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 

 
ITEM #1:  PUBLIC HEARING: MILE 1 FITNESS – 17030 OAK PARK AVENUE – 

SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the 
Petitioner, Mark Higgins of Mile 1 Fitness, a Special Use Permit to: 1) allow a 
recreational business use (including group fitness classes); and 2) allow the business to 
open at 5:00a.m. at 17030 Oak Park Avenue in the NG (Neighborhood General) Zoning 
District. 

 
Present were the following: 
 

Plan Commissioners:  Ken Shaw, Chairman 
Eduardo Mani 
Angela Gatto 
Tim Stanton 
Peter Kroner 
Garrett Gray 
John Curran 
Lucas Engel 

     Chuck Augustyniak 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s):  None 
   

Village Officials and Staff: Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
     Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary  
 
 Guests:    Mark Higgins, Mile 1 Fitness, Petitioner 
     Tammy Spilis, Network Real Estate Leasing Agent 
     Rose Gillece, Network Real Leasing Agent 
 
A Motion was made by  COMMISSIONER KRONER, seconded by COMMISSIONER 
AUGUSTYNIAK, to open the Public Hearing for a Special Use Permit for Mile 1 Fitness.  The Motion 
was approved unanimously by voice call.  CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion approved. 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW noted that Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice regarding the 
Public Hearing was published in the local newspaper in accordance with State law and Village 
requirements.   
  
CHAIRMAN SHAW requested anyone present in the audience, who wished to give testimony, comment, 
engage in cross-examination or ask questions during the Hearing stand and be sworn in. 
 
STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner I, stated Mark Higgins of Mile 1 Fitness is proposing to open a 
recreational/fitness use business at 17030 Oak Park Avenue in the Elmore Plaza Shopping Center (a.k.a. 
Tinley Square).  The Petitioner is requesting a Special Use Permit to open the business at 5:00 a.m. and 
allow a recreational use, which includes group fitness classes.  The earliest a business can open is 6:00 
a.m. without approval of a Special Use Permit.   



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 4 of 13 

MS. KISLER displayed PowerPoint slides of the location of the proposed business.   Staff followed up on 
the following open items previously discussed at the September 21, 2017 workshop: 
 
1.  Consider conditions related to sound. 

• The Petitioner noted that he was able to get inside the vacant tenant space north of his unit. 
He played music in his unit and was unable to hear it in the vacant unit. 

• The property owner should acknowledge for the record that they will inform the future tenant 
at 17028 Oak Park Avenue that Mile 1 Fitness will be playing music. 

• Most importantly, Staff recommends that sound shall not exceed 50 dB when measured from 
outside the tenant space (exterior of the building or within the adjacent tenant space). Sound 
shall not cause a nuisance to other tenant spaces or surrounding properties. Staff recommends 
that the Plan Commission consider adding a condition that states that the Petitioner will be 
required to do soundproofing if there are valid complaints regarding noise. 

• On the interior, Staff recommends compliance with sound standards for gyms set by the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), as amended from time to time, with a maximum 
volume of 80 decibels (dB) when measured inside the tenant space.  
 

2.  Consider conditions related to class sizes or class times. 
• The Petitioner stated that the maximum number of people at the site (employees and people  

attending the classes) will be 25 rather than 32 as originally noted. 
 

3.  The Petitioner is required to install a bike rack to provide parking for at least two (2) bikes. 
• The property management company, Network Real Estate Group, is working to provide bike 

parking. They agreed to provide a shared bike rack for all of the tenant spaces at the south 
end of the shopping center near the American Cancer Society. The new bike rack will ensure 
that all tenant spaces comply with the requirement for bike parking. 
 

4.  Consider conditions related to required improvements including improvements to the south entry area  
     and general building and parking lot maintenance. 

• The property management company, Network Real Estate Group, is working to get bids for 
the parking lot maintenance work. The building will be power washed and painted by the end 
of October. Staff will follow up with the property management company to ensure that these 
tasks are completed in a timely manner. The property maintenance (façade, parking lot) 
aspects do not need to be a condition of the Special Use Permit since these items fall under 
the property maintenance code. 

• The trash enclosure south of the tenant space will be removed to improve access between the 
buildings. Staff recommends the removal of the trash enclosure become a condition of the 
Special Use Permit since it directly affects the access and parking for the Mile 1 Fitness 
tenant space. 

• The Petitioner plans to utilize the south access door as the main entrance to the tenant space. 
He will make improvements to the south entry by changing the doors to glass, reconfiguring 
the step, and adding planters. Staff provided a conceptual graphic showing what these 
improvements may look like. 

 
MS. KISLER noted the subject property is zoned NG (Neighborhood General) and is within the Legacy 
District. The site has frontage on Oak Park Avenue to east.  There are currently sixteen (16) parking 
spaces striped directly south of the tenant space, ten (10) of which are exclusively leased to the Petitioner.   
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 5 of 13 

MS. KISLER displayed a photo of the current lighting in the rear of the building, which the Petitioner 
will improve.   
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked about the maintenance of the parking lot next to the building.  MS. 
KISLER noted the management company will be taking care of any maintenance needed in the parking 
lot.   
 
MS. KISLER stated there are draft Findings of Fact in the Staff Report. She offered to discuss them.   
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked about the Petitioner’s plans for the new doors and signs. MARK 
HIGGINS, Petitioner, noted he will be working on signage and the drawings for the change in the current 
doors.  He stated he would be putting glass doors in so the clients will be able to see into the building.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW noted the management company will be installing a shared bike rack for all of the 
property owner’s tenants in this shopping center.  MS. KISLER noted that there are multiple property 
owners within the shopping center and these bike racks would account for only this property owner’s bike 
parking requirement. 
 
COMMISSIONER GRAY asked about how the decibel rating for sound was arrived at. MS. KISLER 
replied she looked at several decibel comparison charts to determine what an acceptable amount of noise 
was for the exterior of the space.  She also noted that if there were valid complaints soundproofing could 
be recommended. CHAIRMAN SHAW asked for elaboration on the term “valid”. MS. KISLER stated a 
valid complaint would have to be verified by a decibel meter by Village staff.  
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW asked if anyone else wanted to provide comment during the Public Hearing. No one 
wished to speak. 
 
Motion was made by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER GRAY, to close 
the Public Hearing.  Vote by voice.  CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion carried.   
 
Motion was made by COMMISSIONER KRONER, seconded by COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK, 
to recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Mark Higgins of Mile 1 Fitness, a Special Use 
Permit to:  

1. allow a recreational business use (including group fitness classes); and  
2. allow the business to open at 5:00 a.m. 

 
The Petitioner’s tenant space is located at 17030 Oak Park Avenue in the NG (Neighborhood General) 
Zoning District. 
 
The Plan Commission recommends the following conditions:  
 

1. That sound shall not exceed 50 dB when measured from outside the tenant space (exterior of the 
building or within the adjacent tenant space).  Sound shall not cause a nuisance to other tenant 
spaces or surrounding properties.  The Petitioner will be required to do soundproofing if there are 
valid complaints regarding noise. 

2. That the trash enclosure south of the tenant space is removed prior to release of the Certificate of 
Occupancy. 

3. That the Petitioner provides potted plants with seasonal plant material outside the entrance in 
order to meet the spirit of the landscape requirement. 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 6 of 13 

 
AYES:   PLAN COMMISSIONERS KRONER, STANTON, CURRAN, ENGEL, MANI, 

GATTO, GRAY, AUGUSTYNIAK, and CHAIRMAN SHAW 
 
NAYS:   NONE 

 
CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion approved. 
  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 7 of 13 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE OCTOBER 5, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
 
ITEM #2:  PUBLIC HEARING: TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 

PARK ZONING ORDINANCE (SECTION II AND SECTION III) RELATED TO 
FENCE REGULATIONS 
Consider recommending that the Village Board approve Text Amendments to Section II 
and Section III of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance.  The proposed Text 
Amendments include, but are not limited to:  fence regulations and related definitions.   

 
Present were the following: 

 
Plan Commissioners:  Ken Shaw, Chairman 

Eduardo Mani 
Angela Gatto 
Tim Stanton 
Peter Kroner 
Garrett Gray 
John Curran 
Lucas Engel 

     Chuck Augustyniak 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s):  None 
   

Village Officials and Staff: Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
     Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary  
 
A Motion was made by  COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER CURRAN, to 
open the Public Hearing on Text Amendments to the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance (Section II 
and Section III) Related to Fence Regulations.  The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  
CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion approved. 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW noted that Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice regarding the 
Public Hearing was published in the local newspaper in accordance with State law and Village 
requirements.   
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER GRAY, seconded by COMMISSIONER GATTO, to table the 
Public Hearing on Text Amendments to the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance (Section II and 
Section III) Related to Fence Regulations to a future date uncertain.  The Motion was approved 
unanimously by voice call.  CHAIRMAIN SHAW declared the Motion approved. 
 
 
  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 8 of 13 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE OCTOBER 5, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
 
ITEM #3:  WORKSHOP: BANGING GAVEL – 6811 HICKORY STREET – SITE PLAN 

APPROVAL, PLAT APPROVAL, AND VARIANCES 
Consider granting the Petitioner, James Richert of Banging Gavel, Site Plan Approval for 
an outdoor seating area and related landscape improvements and recommending that the 
Village Board grant approval for the following: 

 
1. The Final Plat of Subdivision; 

 
2. A three foot, four inch (3’4”) variance from Section XII.4.E. (Table 4.E.1.) 

of the Zoning Ordinance where the maximum height for a freestanding frame 
sign is four feet (4’). This variance would allow a seven foot, four inch (7’4”) 
tall freestanding frame sign; 
 

3. A nine foot (9’) variance from Section XII.4.E. (Table 4.E.1.) of the Zoning 
Ordinance where a freestanding frame must be set back ten feet (10’) from 
the property line. This variance would allow the freestanding frame sign to 
be set back one foot (1’) from the north property line; and 
 

4. A thirteen foot (13’) variance from Section XII.2.A.9. (Table 2.A.6.) of the 
Zoning Ordinance where an accessory structure is required to be set back 
twenty feet (20’) from a primary street. This variance would allow a pergola 
at a seven foot (7’) setback from the east property line. 

 
Present were the following: 

 
Plan Commissioners:  Ken Shaw, Chairman 

Eduardo Mani 
Angela Gatto 
Tim Stanton 
Peter Kroner 
Garrett Gray 
John Curran 
Lucas Engel 

     Chuck Augustyniak 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s):  None 
   

Village Officials and Staff: Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
     Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary  
 
 Guests:    Jim Richert, Banging Gavel, Petitioner 

Joe Bandza, Trinity Commercial Construction 
Kyle O’Connor, Banging Gavel 
Rebecca O’Connor, Banging Gavel 

 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 9 of 13 

STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner I, presented the Staff Report. She noted the subject property is located at 
6811 Hickory Street in the southwest corner of Oak Park Avenue and Hickory Street in the downtown 
area of Tinley Park.  She displayed the plans for the outdoor seating/beer garden area and landscape 
improvements. She then showed a drawing of the pergola proposed for entertainment in the beer garden.  
The Legacy Code states that accessory structures are required to be set back twenty feet from a primary 
street in this district.  This variance would allow a pergola at a seven foot (7’) setback from the east 
property line. 
 
MS. KISLER also discussed the variance requests for the proposed freestanding frame sign. She noted 
that the Petitioner will not be able to utilize wall signage due to historic architecture regulations. The 
proposed sign is aesthetically in character with the building. There is precedent with the variance for the 
sign location. The sign height is lower than the maximum height allowed for a monument sign in this 
zoning district. 
 
COMMISSIONER GRAY noted on the landscaping plan that the there is a 36 inch minimum footing 
depth on the fence posts.  This is not acceptable to prevent destruction from frost.  MS. KISLER noted 
this would be address by the Community Development Department at permit time.   
 
COMMISSIONER CURRAN asked about the sight line safety for cars entering on Oak Park Avenue.  
MS. KISLER replied Public Safety would be looking at this. 
 
COMMISSIONER MANI noted the fence gates should be swinging out rather than into the beer garden 
for safety purposes. 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW asked if there could be renderings at the Public Hearing to get a better view from 
street level at Oak Park Avenue to make sure there is no sight line danger caused by the proposed pergola.  
 
JOE BANDZA, Trinity Commercial Construction, stated there is a rendering in the packet.  MS. KISLER 
stated the base of the pergola is only about four feet (4’) high and is see-thru above that.   
 
MS. KISLER noted the open items are: 
 

1. A variance is required for the proposed pergola.  MS. KISLER  noted the Petitioner will provide 
a rendering of the pergola from Oak Park Avenue. She will provide a diagram with the fence line 
colorized so the location of the fence is clear.   

2. Variances are required for the proposed freestanding frame sign. The proposed sign does not meet 
all aspects of the sign regulations regarding the maximum height and required setback. The Plan 
Commission did not express concerns about the proposed sign.  

 
COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK asked about the capacity within the outdoor seating area.  MR. 
RICHERT replied that there could be roughly 150 people within the beer garden area.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW thanked the Petitioner and noted the Public Hearing is scheduled for the regular 
Plan Commission meeting on October 19, 2017. 
 
 
  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 10 of 13 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE OCTOBER 5, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
 
ITEM #4:  WORKSHOP: ALDI – 16000 HARLEM AVENUE – SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR 

A SUBSTANTIAL DEVIATION FROM THE PARK CENTER PLAZA PLANNED 
UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Doyle Signs, Inc. on 
behalf of Aldi, a Special Use Permit for a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center 
Plaza Planned Unit Development to allow for an increase in the size and number of signs 
allowed for Aldi at 16000 Harlem Avenue and within the B-3 PD (General Business and 
Commercial, Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development) Zoning District. The 
proposed Substantial Deviation would allow a total of four (4) wall signs, a total sign face 
area of 211 square feet, and the main sign would be a maximum height of fifteen feet 
(15’). 

 
Present were the following: 

 
Plan Commissioners:  Ken Shaw, Chairman 

Eduardo Mani 
Angela Gatto 
Tim Stanton 
Peter Kroner 
Garrett Gray 
John Curran 
Lucas Engel 

     Chuck Augustyniak 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s):  None 
   

Village Officials and Staff: Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
     Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary  
 
 Guests:    Scott Kator, Aldi 
     John Streetz, Doyle Signs, Inc. 
 
STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner I, noted the Petitioner, Doyle Signs, Inc. on behalf of Aldi, seeks a 
Special Use Permit for a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development to 
allow for an increase in the size and number of signs allowed for Aldi at 16000 Harlem Avenue and 
within the B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial, Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development) 
Zoning District.  The proposed Substantial Deviation would allow a total of four wall signs, a total sign 
face area of 253 square feet, and the main sign would be a maximum height of fifteen feet.   
 
MS. KISLER displayed images of the existing site and the proposed signage.  The Petitioner proposes to 
mount the new signage on the façade of the new Aldi store.  The proposed signage includes a total of four 
(4) wall signs with a total sign face area of approximately 253 square feet.  The main sign would be 
fifteen feet (15’) tall.  Additionally there are three (3) disc signs with reverse LED lighting.  According to 
the Village’s Sign Regulations, the maximum height is seven feet (7’) with a maximum sign face area of 
110 square feet.    



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 11 of 13 

COMMISSIONER KRONER asked if the current store is one of the most successful Aldi stores in the 
area.  SCOTT KATOR, Aldi, replied that it was not.   
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER noted concern about the size of the proposed sign being twice the size of 
the allowed signage.  He stated it is unfair to have this size sign and that the Petitioner is asking for too 
much of a variance.  He prefers a more understated Aldi sign.  He has a lot of concerns giving that 
variation.  Sam’s Club is a much larger building and their sign is not this big.   
 
JOHN STREETZ, Doyle Signs, Inc., stated the Aldi façade has taller elevations than the other stores 
within the shopping center.  He noted this site is significantly set back from Harlem Avenue – over 500 
feet – and it would be difficult to see a smaller sign that meets code from Harlem Avenue.  
COMMISSIONER KRONER noted the current Aldi is further back from the street and people are still 
going to the store.   
 
MR. STREETZ stated that in his professional opinion as a sign contractor this sign is well-placed and 
well-sized for the architecture of this building.  It does not look overly large.  COMMISSIONER 
KRONER noted this sign is double the size allowed and the Village has rules.  The sign is just too big.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW stated if we focus on the main Aldi sign the square footage is a smaller number for 
the variance.  He noted if we look at the three (3) icons separately from the large Aldi sign, his opinion is 
that the icons are not obtrusive.   
 
MR. KATOR stated the three (3) smaller disc signs are more like lights rather than signs. MS. KISLER 
clarified that we consider them signs since they convey a message. MR. KATOR noted this Aldi sign is a 
larger sign than what they usually use due to the scale of the façade on this building.  He noted the façade 
plans showed the sign and wrongfully assumed that when the façade plans were approved by the Village 
that the sign was also approved. He added the sign has already been purchased because they thought it 
was approved. There is a hardship and a unique circumstance because the store is over 500 feet from 
Harlem Avenue and the size of the sign is appropriate for distance of the building from Harlem Avenue. 
COMMISSIONER KRONER replied that is not a valid argument as the current Aldi store is further back 
from Harlem Avenue and that store is successful. He noted Sam’s Club has a much larger building and a 
smaller sign.   
 
MS. KISLER noted she reviewed Aldi’s façade plans for building permits and specifically stated that 
signage requires a separate permit and review.  
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW asked for opinions from the Commissioners.   
 
COMMISSIONER ENGEL stated they are asking for a variance.  It fits the building.  He does not see 
that the sign is overly huge.   
 
COMMISSIONER CURRAN noted he does not see that the sign is overly huge and obnoxious. The sign 
looks good on the building.  He is fine with the 3 icons.   
 
COMMISSIONER MANI stated it was a little large and a bit smaller would look good.  He looks at it as 
2 signs.   
 
COMMISSIONER GATTO said she would like to see the size of the main sign reduced a bit. She feels 
the 3 icons are good.   
 
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 12 of 13 

COMMISSIONER GRAY noted that the sign should meet code or be smaller than the proposed sign.  He 
asked if they had already purchased this sign.   
 
COMMISSIONER SHAW asked what it might look like if the main Aldi sign used up the entire 
allowable square footage. He stated the smaller sign may look puny with the scale of the façade.  
 
COMMISSIONER GRAY noted this sign is too large and too much of a deviation but if we go strictly to 
the code it will look weird.  We need flexibility and should address only the main sign.  Before we go to 
Public Hearing we should have photos of a smaller sign for comparison.   
 
MR. KATOR stated this store will be testing an in-store bakery, fresh produce, and will be testing new 
concepts.  This will be very different from the previous store.   
 
MS. KISLER stated at the next meeting we will have an overlay of the smaller version of the sign for 
comparison with a sign that meets code. She will show a comparison to the Sam’s Club sign.   She will 
fix the calculations on the square footage in the Staff Report.  She noted that the Sign Regulations do 
allow additional sign face area for properties along I-80 based on the setbacks from the highway.  This 
site is not adjacent to the interstate but could be a consideration since Harlem Avenue is a major arterial 
street.  
 
COMMISSIONER SHAW mentioned the fact that the current store was successful with the sign they 
had; however, with a larger sign, could they be more successful.  He noted the Public Hearing is 
scheduled for the regular Plan Commission meeting on October 19, 2017. 
 
 
  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                             October 5,  2017           

Page 13 of 13 

GOOD OF THE ORDER 
 
STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner I, noted the following project updates: 
 
1. The Residence of Brookside Glen developers have submitted revised plans. Staff and the developer 

have been working with Brookside Glen residents to create a better plan.  The plan now shows four 
(4) multi-family residential buildings and the project will be coming to Plan Commission for review 
October 19, 2017.  The core group of Brookside Glen residents have supported this new plan and 
have been very well organized.   

2. Revised plans were received for the Boulevard at Central Station on South Street.  This project will 
be coming before the Plan Commission in November. 

3. Next Meeting – Public Hearings on Aldi and Banging Gavel and a workshop on Studio Q and 
Residences at Brookside Glen. 

4. Upcoming project: McDonald’s on 159th Street and Harlem Avenue submitted plans for a façade 
improvement and double drive-thru. 

5. Fences will be continued to a later date.   
6. Faith United Presbyterian Church will go before the Zoning Board of Appeals for a variance request 

for a pavilion within the front yard setback. 
7. Paula Wallrich is doing well – she has been walking and was in the office for a meeting this week. 

She possibly will be returning to the office on Monday, October 16th depending on how she is feeling. 
8. Ellen Weber has been covering for Paula and is doing well. 
 
 
RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
There were none. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, a Motion was made by COMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK, seconded by 
COMMISSIONER MANI, to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission of October 5, 2017 at 
8:42 p.m. The Motion was unanimously approved by voice call.  PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN 
SHAW declared the meeting adjourned. 

 

 



PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 
October 19, 2017 

Banging Gavel – Site Plan Approval, Final Plat of Subdivision, and 
Variances 
6811 Hickory Street 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Petitioner, James Richert of Banging Gavel, is seeking Site Plan Approval for an 
outdoor seating area and related landscape improvements, a recommendation for 
approval for the Final Plat of Subdivision, and the following variances: 

1. A three foot (3’’) variance from Section XII.4.E. (Table 4.E.1.) of the Zoning
Ordinance where the maximum height for a freestanding frame sign is four feet
(4’). This variance would allow for a seven foot (7’) tall freestanding frame sign.

2. A nine foot (9’) variance from Section XII.4.E. (Table 4.E.1.) of the Zoning
Ordinance where a freestanding frame must be set back ten feet (10’) from the
property line. This variance would allow for the freestanding frame sign to be set
back one foot (1’) from the north property line.

3. A thirteen foot (13’) variance from Section XII.2.A.9. (Table 2.A.6.) of the Zoning
Ordinance where an accessory structure is required to be set back twenty feet
(20’) from a primary street. This variance would allow a pergola at a seven foot
(7’) setback from the east property line.

Updates from the 10/5/2017 Staff Report are in red. 

Petitioner 
James Richert, Banging 
Gavel 

Property Location 
6811 Hickory Street 

PINs 
28-30-314-032-0000 &
28-30-314-036-0000

Zoning 
DC (Downtown Core) 

Approvals Sought 
Site Plan Approval, Final 
Plat of Subdivision, and 
Variances 

Project Planner 
Stephanie Malmborg, AICP 
Planner I 



Banging Gavel – 6811 Hickory Street 
 

Page 2 of 12 

SUMMARY OF OPEN ITEMS 
 
Staff identified the following open items for discussion at the workshop: 
 

1. A variance is required for the proposed pergola. 
• The Plan Commission discussed concerns about sight lines around the pergola. Staff 

identified measurements between the pergola and Oak Park Avenue in a graphic found on 
page 5 of the Staff Report. 

• The Plan Commission requested a rendering of what the pergola will look like from Oak Park 
Avenue. The Petitioner will provide this rendering at the 10/19/2017 meeting. 

2. Variances are required for the proposed freestanding frame sign. 
• The Plan Commission discussed the variance request and had no follow up questions about 

the sign. 
3. Approval of the Landscape Plan. 

• The Village’s Landscape Architect completed review of the Landscape Plan and has one 
outstanding comment regarding landscaping in the public frontage along Oak Park Avenue. 
See page 7 of the Staff Report. 

 
 
EXISTING SITE & HISTORY 
 
The subject property, 6811 Hickory Street, is located in the 
southwest corner of Oak Park Avenue and Hickory Street 
in the downtown area of Tinley Park. This building is 
known as the Vogt Building and is on the National Register 
of Historic Places.  
 
The Petitioner purchased the property recently and is in 
the process of improving the site to open a brewery. The 
Plan Commission may recall that the Petitioner came 
before the Commission in April 2017 to request a Special 
Use Permit for a brewery. The Special Use Permit was 
granted by the Village Board on May 16, 2017 as Ordinance 
Number 2017-O-034. At the time of the Special Use Permit 
request the Petitioner did not have plans prepared for the 
exterior site improvements. All renovations to the exterior 
will maintain the historical integrity of the structure as well 
as its registration on the National Register of Historic 
Places. 
 
Staff notes that Banging Gavel has not yet received 
approval for a liquor license and outdoor seating from the 
Liquor Commissioner. The Petitioner must contact the 
Mayor’s Assistant to begin the process once they are ready 
to begin brewing and serving operations at the site. 
 
The Petitioner noted that they hope to open Banging Gavel 
Brews by Memorial Day 2018. 
 
 



Banging Gavel – 6811 Hickory Street 
 

Page 3 of 12 

ZONING & NEARBY LAND USES 
 

The subject property (see yellow star on graphic to the left) is 
zoned DC (Downtown Core) and is within the Legacy District. 
According to Section XII.2.A.1. of the Village of Tinley Park 
Zoning Ordinance, the DC Zoning District is “intended to 
promote taller, mixed-use development in the vicinity of the 
Oak Park Avenue train station.” 
 
Nearby land uses include commercial properties north of the 
railroad tracks and to the east and to the south (zoned DC in 
purple) and multi-family and single-family residential to the 
west (zoned R-4 in yellow). 
 
Notable nearby businesses include The Attic Door to the 
south, Citibank to the east, and Hollstein’s to the north of the 
railroad tracks. The site is southwest of the Oak Park Avenue 
Metra station. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
PROPOSED SITE PLAN  
 
The Petitioner proposes to add outdoor seating for a beer garden on the east side of the building. The proposed 
beer garden area includes approximately 150 seats and is surrounded by four-foot (4’) tall ornamental fence. 
Landscaping improvements are proposed for the outdoor seating area, including new shrubs, perennials, and trees. 
The plans also call for a fire pit with seating for about approximately fourteen (14) people. The seating plan remains 
conceptual in nature.  In an effort to promote the Village’s brand and provide entertainment for patrons at the beer 
garden, the Petitioner is providing an outdoor stage area where musicians and entertainers can easily hook up their 
equipment and provide musical performances. The stage will also feature a drop-down screen that will show major 
sporting events. The Petitioner hopes to promote a community setting in the beer garden. 
 
 
 

 
 



Banging Gavel – 6811 Hickory Street 
 

Page 4 of 12 

The beer garden will be serviced by an outdoor bar and offer a limited food menu. Service staff will utilize the rear 
entrance of the building to bring food items to customers on the beer garden. Staff notes that the existing ADA 
ramp will be relocated to the west side of the building. 
 

 
 
The Petitioner proposes to build a four-foot (4’) tall ornamental fence. Staff notes that the pergola must be set back 
twenty feet (20’) from a primary street because accessory structures are only allowed within the “parking zone” per 
Section XII.2.A.9. (Table 2.A.6.) of the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Open Item #1: A variance is required for the proposed pergola. 
 
The following variance is requested for the pergola: 
 

1. A thirteen foot (13’) variance from Section XII.2.A.9. (Table 2.A.6.) of the Zoning Ordinance where an 
accessory structure is required to be set back twenty feet (20’) from a primary street. This variance would 
allow a pergola at a seven foot (7’) setback from the east property line. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Banging Gavel – 6811 Hickory Street 
 

Page 5 of 12 

The Plan Commission requested information about the sight lines around the proposed pergola. A detailed 
graphic is included on the next page. Staff notes that the east corner of the pergola (closest to Oak Park 
Avenue) is seven feet (7’) from the Petitioner’s east property line and about nineteen feet (19’) from the west 
curb of Oak Park Avenue. The south corner of the pergola is about forty feet (40’) from the access drive into 
the parking lot. These distances will not impair safe sight lines around the pergola. The Petitioner will 
provide a rendering showing the pergola/beer garden from Oak Park Avenue at the 10/19/2017 Plan 
Commission meeting. 
 

 
Graphic Showing Site Plan Overlay on Aerial Image and Dimensions Between Pergola and Oak Park Avenue 

 



Banging Gavel – 6811 Hickory Street 
 

Page 6 of 12 

 

At the 10/5/2017 Plan Commission Meeting the Commissioners requested a diagram showing the location of 
the fencing around the outdoor area. The image above depicts the fence line. The image below is the detail 
of the proposed fence. 

 

 

 



Banging Gavel – 6811 Hickory Street 
 

Page 7 of 12 

LANDSCAPING 
 
The Petitioner submitted a revised Landscape Plan, which requires another Staff review to ensure that all 
outstanding comments are adequately addressed. At the time of this Staff Report the Landscape Architecture 
consultant has not finalized the latest review; however, Staff may have an update for the Plan Commission at the 
workshop. 
 
The Landscape Architect completed the review of the Landscape Plan and requested that the Petitioner add 
juniper shrubs, grasses, or perennials to the strip east of the east fence line to add some curb appeal and 
screening of traffic from  the patrons in the outdoor seating area  (between the fence and the sidewalk). The 
Plan Commission should consider placing this as a condition of the Site/Landscape Plan Approval. 
 
Open Item #3: Approval of the Landscape Plan. 
 
 
FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION 
 
The Petitioner proposes to subdivide the property into three (3) separate lots. Lot 1 includes the parking lot, which 
will become a public parking lot. Lot 2 includes the building and the proposed beer garden. Lot 3 includes the 
Village’s outdoor plaza. 
 

  



Banging Gavel – 6811 Hickory Street 
 

Page 8 of 12 

SIGNAGE 
 
The Petitioner included a sign plan for a “freestanding frame” style sign. The proposed sign does not meet all 
aspects of the sign regulations within the Legacy Code, including the maximum height and required setback. The 
Petitioner states that they will not be using a wall sign due to the historic nature of the building.  
 

 
Proposed Sign 

 

 
Aerial View of Proposed Sign Location (yellow star) and North Property Line (red line) 

 



Banging Gavel – 6811 Hickory Street 
 

Page 9 of 12 

Open Item #2: Variances are required for the proposed freestanding frame sign. 
 
The following variances are requested for the sign:  
 

1. A three foot (3’’) variance from Section XII.4.E. (Table 4.E.1.) of the Zoning Ordinance where the maximum 
height for a freestanding frame sign is four feet (4’). This variance would allow for a seven foot (7’) tall 
freestanding frame sign. 

2. A nine foot (9’) variance from Section XII.4.E. (Table 4.E.1.) of the Zoning Ordinance where a freestanding 
frame must be set back ten feet (10’) from the property line. This variance would allow for the freestanding 
frame sign to be set back one foot (1’) from the north property line.  

Staff notes that other sign variances have been granted recently, including Bailey’s and The Attic Door. There are 
many nonconforming freestanding signs in the Legacy District that do not meet the required ten foot (10’) setback 
from property lines and access drives.  
 
The Petitioner could move the sign the meet the required setback. If the sign met the required setback, 
then the sign would be located near the entry stairs and would have limited visibility from Hickory Street 
since it would be about thirty feet (30’) from the pavement of the street. The sign would also be obstructed 
by landscaping, but landscaping can be relocated. The proposed sign does not negatively impact line of sight 
along Hickory Street. 

The Petitioner could meet the maximum sign height of four feet (4’). The proposed sign could be lowered 
and modified to move the “Vogt Taproom” copy closer to the logo. If the sign met the height regulations, it 
would potentially impair visibility from Hickory Street. The sign does not face Oak Park Avenue, which is the 
primary street through the downtown area. 
 
Staff notes that if the Petitioner wanted to install a “ground – monument” sign (#14 in the graphic below) 
rather than a “frame – freestanding” sign (#11 in the graphic below) they would be allowed to have an eight 
foot (8’) tall sign rather than a four foot (4’) tall sign. See Section XII.4.D. and XII.4.E. of the Zoning Ordinance. 
A “ground – monument” sign may appear out of character or incompatible with the architecture and 
historical nature of the building, which may be why the Petitioner opted for the “frame – freestanding” sign 
type. 
 

 
Excerpt from the Legacy Code – Sign Types Graphic 

  



Banging Gavel – 6811 Hickory Street 
 

Page 10 of 12 

STANDARDS FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL  
 
Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that Planning Staff must find that the conditions listed below be 
met. Staff prepared draft responses for these conditions below. 
 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 
• The Petitioner obtained a Special Use Permit (2017-O-034) for the brewery business. An 

outdoor dining area is a permitted accessory use. 
 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and 
drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.   

• The existing site is compatible with the proposed outdoor seating area. 
 

c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for 
safe, efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent roadways as 
well. 

• The existing site provides ingress and egress to Hickory Street and Oak Park Avenue. 
 

d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  
• The site allows for pedestrians to walk safely throughout the site. The area where alcohol 

will be served is surrounded by a fence. 
 

e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter (including 
public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony with adjacent land 
uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any part of the Site Plan area not used for 
buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and 
shrubs. 

• The proposed Landscape Plan provides landscaping that meets Village standards. 
 

f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 
• The Petitioner will be providing trash storage per the approved Special Use Permit (2017-

O-034). 
  



Banging Gavel – 6811 Hickory Street 
 

Page 11 of 12 

STANDARDS FOR A VARIATION 
 
Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Variation of the 
regulations of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, based upon the evidence presented 
for each of the Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan Commission must provide findings for the first three 
standards; the remaining standards are provided to help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Staff 
prepared draft responses for the Findings of Fact below.  
 

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 
conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 

• The property would be at a competitive disadvantage for signage if the sign met 
applicable codes for location and height. The restrictions for historic buildings do not 
allow wall signage and the Petitioner has no other viable locations near the entry to the 
building to install a freestanding sign. The sign height is necessary so that the sign can be 
visible from Hickory Street, which is about twenty-five feet (25’) from the proposed sign. 

• The property may be able to yield a reasonable return if the pergola was relocated; 
however, the Village’s branding initiative promotes music and having a pergola with 
musical acts performing near the sidewalk will help activate the streetscape. 

 
2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 

• The situation for the sign is unique since the property owner is not allowed to use wall 
signage on the historic building. 

• The proposed pergola is unique in that it will provide musical acts and entertainment and 
promote the Village’s branding initiative. 

 
3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

• The sign variances will not alter the character of the downtown area since it is 
architecturally compatible with the building. The sign is located adjacent to Hickory Street 
rather than Oak Park Avenue.   

• The pergola will positively impact the streetscape by enlivening the area of the beer 
garden closest to Oak Park Avenue. 

 
4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are practical 

difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts 
favorable to the Applicant have been established by the evidence: 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 
involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out; 

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification; 

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 
the property; 

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a 
previous owner; 

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 
property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and 

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent 
property, or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of 
fire, or endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 
neighborhood. 

  



Banging Gavel – 6811 Hickory Street 
 

Page 12 of 12 

MOTION TO CONSIDER 
 
If the Plan Commission wishes to take action, an appropriate wording of the motions would read:  
 
“…make a motion to grant the Petitioner, James Richert of Banging Gavel, Site Plan Approval for an outdoor seating 
area and related landscape improvements and recommend that the Village Board grant approval for the Final Plat 
of Subdivision and the following variances for the property at 6811 Hickory Street in the DC (Downtown Core) 
Zoning District: 
 

1. A three foot (3’’) variance from Section XII.4.E. (Table 4.E.1.) of the Zoning Ordinance where the maximum 
height for a freestanding frame sign is four feet (4’). This variance will allow for a seven foot (7’) tall 
freestanding frame sign. 
 

2. A nine foot (9’) variance from Section XII.4.E. (Table 4.E.1.) of the Zoning Ordinance where a freestanding 
frame must be set back ten feet (10’) from the property line. This variance will allow for the freestanding 
frame sign to be set back one foot (1’) from the north property line.  
 

3. A thirteen foot (13’) variance from Section XII.2.A.9. (Table 2.A.6.) of the Zoning Ordinance where an 
accessory structure is required to be set back twenty feet (20’) from a primary street. This variance will 
allow a pergola at a seven foot (7’) setback from the east property line.” 

 
 

…with the following conditions: 
 

1. That the Landscape Plan be revised to show additional plant material (per the recommendation of 
the Village’s Landscape Architect) in the public frontage between the east property line and the 
sidewalk. 
 

2. [any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 
 
 
 
 

 

LIST OF SUBMITTED PLANS 
 
 

Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On 
Sheet 

17-051 (1 of 2) EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY/DEMOLITION PLAN JAS 09/27/2017 

17-051 (2 of 2) SITE GEOMETRIC PLAN JAS 09/27/2017 

L-1 LANDSCAPE PLAN M & CO 09/11/2017 

L-2 LANDSCAPE PLAN M & CO 09/11/2017 

 FINAL PLAT JAS 09/2017 

17-220.5C BANGING GAVEL BREWS WOOD ENTRANCE SIGN VBS 08/10/2017 

 
 



69
9.2

869
9.4

669
9.6

6

69
9.7

6

69
9.7

6
69

9.4
6

69
9.5

6

69
9.6

9

69
9.4

5

69
9.2

4

69
9.3

6

69
9.2

6

69
9.2

6

69
9.2

0

69
9.3

4

69
9.3

769
9.3

9
69

9.4
3

69
9.3

9

SIG
N

69
9.4

7

69
9.4

1

69
9.9

5

69
9.7

6

69
9.8

7

70
0.0

6

70
0.1

6

70
0.0

6

69
9.6

7

70
0.6

9

70
1.0

6

70
0.2

9

70
0.3

2

70
0.7

0

70
0.2

4

70
0.1

8

SIG
N

69
9.2

1

69
9.0

9

69
9.4

1

69
9.4

8

69
9.6

0

69
9.6

8

69
9.6

8

69
9.7

2

SIG
N

69
9.7

4

70
0.0

7

69
9.7

569
9.6

869
9.6

970
0.2

4

70
0.3

9

70
0.6

6

70
0.1

6

70
0.0

8

70
0.0

1

70
0.2

0

70
0.3

6
MH70

0.3
4

70
0.4

7

70
0.5

7

70
0.6

0

70
0.4

9
70

0.5
6

70
0.5

170
0.6

0

70
0.5

6

70
0.5

4

70
0.5

4
70

0.3
5

70
0.3

4

70
0.6

2

70
0.5

3 70
0.4

7

70
0.2

8

70
0.2

6

70
0.5

0
70

0.3
7

70
0.3

8

70
0.6

0

70
0.5

9
70

0.2
9

70
0.3

1
70

0.1
1

70
0.4

6

70
0.5

0

70
0.4

8
70

0.4
4 70
0.4

8

70
0.5

4

70
0.5

7

I

70
0.5

270
0.5

6

70
0.6

2

70
0.6

1

70
0.7

8

70
0.3

9
CROSS C

UT

70
0.4

7

70
0.4

9

70
0.3

9

BB
70

0.4
8

W
V

70
0.7

2

70
0.7

5

70
0.6

9

70
0.4

6

70
0.7

2
SMH

70
0.4

5

70
0.4

3

70
0.4

1 69
9.9

2

69
9.3

2

69
9.6

0

69
9.7

2

69
9.5

9

69
9.6

9

69
9.6

4

70
0.4

5

70
0.0

0

70
0.5

4

70
0.4

0

70
0.9

7

70
0.7

1
PP

70
0.9

6

GUY

70
1.0

8
GUY

70
1.1

1
PP

70
0.9

0

70
1.0

2

70
0.9

0

70
0.9

3

70
0.8

8

70
1.3

2
70

1.3
9

70
1.4

2

70
1.3

1

70
1.2

9
70

1.1
0

70
0.9

0

70
0.9

2

70
0.4

3

70
0.7

3

70
0.6

7

70
1.4

2
IR

ON P
IP

E

70
1.3

8

70
1.4

4

70
1.4

7

70
1.5

3
70

1.4
2

70
1.4

8

70
1.6

3

70
2.1

8

70
2.1

8

70
1.5

4

70
1.5

6

70
1.4

8

70
1.4

5

70
1.2

7

70
0.3

4

70
0.4

8

70
0.8

2

70
1.1

9

70
0.4

2

70
0.6

4

70
0.6

6

70
1.2

9

70
0.5

1

70
0.7

4

70
0.8

0

70
0.7

0

70
0.7

2

70
1.2

7

70
1.3

9

70
1.5

7

70
1.5

6

70
1.5

3
70

1.6
7

70
1.6

0
70

1.4
6

70
1.6

7

70
1.3

1

70
7.3

8

70
7.3

2
70

7.4
6

70
7.3

2
70

1.0
3

70
1.0

7

SIG
N

70
1.2

2

70
1.0

2
GAS M

ETER

70
0.7

6
70

1.0
7

70
1.0

8

70
0.6

7

70
0.8

170
0.8

8

70
1.0

5

70
0.9

4

70
1.0

6

70
1.4

8

70
0.7

3

70
0.6

9

70
0.5

1

70
0.4

3

70
0.4

3

70
0.6

9

70
0.5

0

70
1.6

5

70
1.3

7

70
7.8

6

70
7.7

4

70
7.7

7

70
5.0

1

70
5.0

2

70
5.0

6

70
5.1

5
70

5.0
2

70
1.3

3

70
1.2

5
70

1.1
1

70
0.1

2

70
0.2

5

70
0.6

4
70

0.0
9

70
0.7

770
0.8

0

70
0.8

6

70
0.6

9
70

0.1
8

70
0.2

4

70
0.6

870
0.7

8
70

0.5
0

70
1.5

1

70
1.5

1

70
1.3

5
70

0.9
5

70
1.3

6

70
1.4

9

70
1.4

9

69
8.6

1
69

8.5
9

69
8.5

6

69
8.7

0
69

8.6
9

70
0.5

9

70
0.3

3

70
0.1

6
TRAN

70
0.4

7
70

0.5
8

70
0.6

9

70
0.7

070
1.4

8

70
1.5

1
70

1.4
8

70
0.7

6
70

0.9
070

0.8
6

70
0.9

8

69
9.0

6

69
9.9

9

70
0.0

1

69
9.2

0

69
9.1

5

69
9.1

6

69
9.1

5

70
1.5

0
70

1.4
4

70
1.5

0

70
1.4

9

70
0.8

4
70

1.2
4

70
1.9

3

70
1.4

3

70
1.1

9

70
1.2

0

70
1.4

5

70
1.9

7

70
0.6

6

70
2.0

2

70
1.9

5

70
0.2

4

69
9.9

9

70
0.3

3

70
0.4

4
70

0.5
0

70
0.6

3

70
0.8

1

70
0.4

1

70
7.9

9

70
7.9

0

70
7.8

7

70
7.8

9

70
3.5

4

70
3.5

270
3.4

6

70
3.4

970
6.6

2
70

6.6
5

70
6.6

2

70
6.6

2

70
0.7

6

70
0.7

5
70

0.6
3

70
0.1

3 69
9.8

6

EXISTING RAMP TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING
ISLAND

(TO BE REMOVED)

PAINT OUT
EXISTING
STRIPING

(SEE NEW
STRIPING PLAN)

EXISTING 36" TREE & LANDSCAPE ISLAND

(TO BE REMOVED)

EXISTING CONCRETE PAD TO BE REMOVED
EXISTING
STAIRS
TO BE

REMOVED

EXISTING CONCRETE
WALK TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING BRICK WALK
TO BE REPLACED

EXISTING
PERIMETER

LANDSCAPING
TO BE

REMOVED

O U
 T L O

 T    
    

   A

O U
 T L O

 T    
   B

F.D.C.

DWHRSHMF 5!é
DUCTILE IRON
WATER/FIRE

SERVICE

C.O.
C.O. STEPS

DOWN TO
BASEMENT

ACCESS TO
BASEMENT

©

NOTES:

1) ANY EXISTING LEAD WATER SERVICE PIPE
    SHALL BE REPLACED WITH COPPER PIPE.

2) ANY EXISTING CLAY SANITARY SEWER SERVICE
    SHALL BE REPLACED WITH PVC PIPE OR BE
    STRUCTURALLY LINED.

3) FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION (F.D.C.) SHALL
    REMAIN VISIBLE AND ACCESSIBLE FOR FIRE
    DEPARTMENT PERSONNEL.



69
9.2

869
9.4

669
9.6

6

69
9.7

6

69
9.7

6
69

9.4
6

69
9.5

6

69
9.6

9

69
9.4

5

69
9.2

4

69
9.3

6

69
9.2

6

69
9.2

6

69
9.2

0

69
9.3

4

69
9.3

769
9.3

9
69

9.4
3

69
9.3

9

SIG
N

69
9.4

7

69
9.4

1

69
9.9

5

69
9.7

6

69
9.8

7

70
0.0

6

70
0.1

6

70
0.0

6

69
9.6

7

70
0.6

9

70
1.0

6

70
0.2

9

70
0.3

2

70
0.7

0

70
0.2

4

70
0.1

8

SIG
N

69
9.2

1

69
9.0

9

69
9.4

1

69
9.4

8

69
9.6

0

69
9.6

8

69
9.6

8

69
9.7

2

SIG
N

69
9.7

4

70
0.0

7

69
9.7

569
9.6

869
9.6

970
0.2

4

70
0.3

9

70
0.6

6

70
0.1

6

70
0.0

8

70
0.0

1

70
0.2

0

70
0.3

6
MH70

0.3
4

70
0.4

7

70
0.5

7

70
0.6

0

70
0.4

9
70

0.5
6

70
0.5

170
0.6

0

70
0.5

6

70
0.5

4

70
0.5

4
70

0.3
5

70
0.3

4

70
0.6

2

70
0.5

3 70
0.4

7

70
0.2

8

70
0.2

6

70
0.5

0
70

0.3
7

70
0.3

8

70
0.6

0

70
0.5

9
70

0.2
9

70
0.3

1
70

0.1
1

70
0.4

6

70
0.5

0

70
0.4

8
70

0.4
4 70
0.4

8

70
0.5

4

70
0.5

7

I

70
0.5

270
0.5

6

70
0.6

2

70
0.6

1

70
0.7

8

70
0.3

9
CROSS C

UT

70
0.4

7

70
0.4

9

70
0.3

9

BB
70

0.4
8

W
V

70
0.7

2

70
0.7

5

70
0.6

9

70
0.4

6

70
0.7

2
SMH

70
0.4

5

70
0.4

3

70
0.4

1 69
9.9

2

69
9.3

2

69
9.6

0

69
9.7

2

69
9.5

9

69
9.6

9

69
9.6

4

70
0.4

5

70
0.0

0

70
0.5

4

70
0.4

0

70
0.9

7

70
0.7

1
PP

70
0.9

6

GUY

70
1.0

8
GUY

70
1.1

1
PP

70
0.9

0

70
1.0

2

70
0.9

0

70
0.9

3

70
0.8

8

70
1.3

2
70

1.3
9

70
1.4

2

70
1.3

1

70
1.2

9
70

1.1
0

70
0.9

0

70
0.9

2

70
0.4

3

70
0.7

3

70
0.6

7

70
1.4

2
IR

ON P
IP

E

70
1.3

8

70
1.4

4

70
1.4

7

70
1.5

3
70

1.4
2

70
1.4

8

70
1.6

3

70
2.1

8

70
2.1

8

70
1.5

4

70
1.5

6

70
1.4

8

70
1.4

5

70
1.2

7

70
0.3

4

70
0.4

8

70
0.8

2

70
1.1

9

70
0.4

2

70
0.6

4

70
0.6

6

70
1.2

9

70
0.5

1

70
0.7

4

70
0.8

0

70
0.7

0

70
0.7

2

70
1.2

7

70
1.3

9

70
1.5

7

70
1.5

6

70
1.5

3
70

1.6
7

70
1.6

0
70

1.4
6

70
1.6

7

70
1.3

1

70
7.3

8

70
7.3

2
70

7.4
6

70
7.3

2
70

1.0
3

70
1.0

7

SIG
N

70
1.2

2

70
1.0

2
GAS M

ETER

70
0.7

6
70

1.0
7

70
1.0

8

70
0.6

7

70
0.8

170
0.8

8

70
1.0

5

70
0.9

4

70
1.0

6

70
1.4

8

70
0.7

3

70
0.6

9

70
0.5

1

70
0.4

3

70
0.4

3

70
0.6

9

70
0.5

0

70
1.6

5

70
1.3

7

70
7.8

6

70
7.7

4

70
7.7

7

70
5.0

1

70
5.0

2

70
5.0

6

70
5.1

5
70

5.0
2

70
1.3

3

70
1.2

5
70

1.1
1

70
0.1

2

70
0.2

5

70
0.6

4
70

0.0
9

70
0.7

770
0.8

0

70
0.8

6

70
0.6

9
70

0.1
8

70
0.2

4

70
0.6

870
0.7

8
70

0.5
0

70
1.5

1

70
1.5

1

70
1.3

5
70

0.9
5

70
1.3

6

70
1.4

9

70
1.4

9

69
8.6

1
69

8.5
9

69
8.5

6

69
8.7

0
69

8.6
9

70
0.5

9

70
0.3

3

70
0.1

6
TRAN

70
0.4

7
70

0.5
8

70
0.6

9

70
0.7

070
1.4

8

70
1.5

1
70

1.4
8

70
0.7

6
70

0.9
070

0.8
6

70
0.9

8

69
9.0

6

69
9.9

9

70
0.0

1

69
9.2

0

69
9.1

5

69
9.1

6

69
9.1

5

70
1.5

0
70

1.4
4

70
1.5

0

70
1.4

9

70
0.8

4
70

1.2
4

70
1.9

3

70
1.4

3

70
1.1

9

70
1.2

0

70
1.4

5

70
1.9

7

70
0.6

6

70
2.0

2

70
1.9

5

70
0.2

4

69
9.9

9

70
0.3

3

70
0.4

4
70

0.5
0

70
0.6

3

70
0.8

1

70
0.4

1

70
7.9

9

70
7.9

0

70
7.8

7

70
7.8

9

70
3.5

4

70
3.5

270
3.4

6

70
3.4

970
6.6

2
70

6.6
5

70
6.6

2

70
6.6

2

70
0.7

6

70
0.7

5
70

0.6
3

70
0.1

3 69
9.8

6

PROPOSED
RESIDENTIAL

PARKING
SPACE

9'
(T

Y
P

.)

24'18'

8'
(T

Y
P

.)
8'

(T
Y

P
.)

9'
(TYP.)18

'

8'
(TYP.)

2'

C
O

N
C

R
E

TE
 R

A
M

P
TO

 B
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

CONTINUE REAR
DECK AT

UNIFORM GRADE

30
' R

A
M

P
 @

7.
6%

30
' R

A
M

P
 @

7.
6%

18
' R

A
M

P
 @

7.
6%

5' LANDING

PROPOSED BEER GARDEN
(SEE LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR
SITE LAYOUT AND FENCING
PLAN BY METZ & COMPANY

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT)

5' LANDING

5' x 5' LANDING

7

8

4
HC

2

42" ORNAMENTAL
METAL FENCE

TO MATCH BEER
GARDEN FENCING

TRASH
ENCLOSURE

18'

5' (TYP.)
H.C.
SIGN 6"

(TYP.)
6"

(TYP.)

ACCESS FROM RAMP TO

FRONT ENTRY AT MAIN LEVEL

ACCESS TO
RAMP FROM

PARKING LOT
GRADE

F.D.C.

DWHRSHMF 5!é
DUCTILE IRON
WATER/FIRE

SERVICE

CONC.
CAR STOP

(TYP.)

EXISTING GAS METER

TO REMAIN VISIBLE AND

ACCESSIBLE.  GAS METER SHALL

BE RELOCATED IF NECCESSARY.

TRASH ENCLOSURE ADJACENT

TO A MEANS OF EGRESS SHALL

HAVE A FIRE RATING

SEPARATION WITH MASONRY

WALL ENCLOSURE.

700.50 +

   + 700.75

70
0.6

0 +

+ 6
99

.35

700.88 +

70
0.7

2 +

+ 700.45

+ 7
00

.45

+ 7
00

.60

+ 7
00

.40

+ 6
99

.60

+ 6
99

.65

+ 6
99

.70

70
0.4

0 +

70
0.2

0 +

69
9.8

0 +

70
0.0

0 +

+ 6
99

.67

+ 6
99

.47

+ 6
99

.39

70
0.2

5 +

69
9.7

0 +

69
9.4

5 +

70
0.1

2 +

+ 6
98

.67

+ 7
00

.95

+ 7
00

.95

+ 7
01

.67

70
1.3

1 +

+ 7
01

.6770
1.4

5 +

70
0.5

0 +

+ 7
00

.75

+ 7
00

.80

+ 7
00

.40

+ 7
00

.70

+ 7
00

.45
700.00 +

700.00 +

+ 7
00

.20

69
9.7

0 +

70
0.1

0 +

700.72 +

+ 701.00

701.02 +

70
7.3

2 +

+ 7
07

.32

+ 7
05

.04

70
1.4

0 +

69
9.1

5 +
69

9.1
5 +

70
2.0

0 +

70
2.7

6 +

70
0.8

6 +

70
0.5

0 +
70

0.5
0 +

C.O.
C.O. STEPS

DOWN TO
BASEMENT

ACCESS TO
BASEMENT

70
0.7

5 +

700.85 +
++

+ 7
07

.86

+ 7
01

.31701.10 +

70
0.1

0 +

+ 7
00

.10

©

                  BANGING GAVEL SUBDIVISION

LOT AREAS:

KNS 0----------------------------------------------- 03+002 RP-ES- ' /-213 @BQDR ´ (

KNS 1 ----------------------------------------------- 8+823 RP-ES- ' /-117 @BQDR ´ (

KNS 2 ----------------------------------------------- 3+526 RP-ES- ' /-0/5 @BQDR ´ (
SNS@K 17+573 RP-ES- '/-547 @BQDR ´ (

DEVELOPMENT AREA                      4,072 SQ. FT. (14.2 %)

EXISTING IMPERVIOUS AREA       16,205 SQ. FT. ( 56.5%)

BUILDING, PAVEMENT, WALKS
BRICK PAVER AREA                         2,220 SQ. FT.  (  7.7%)

NEW  IMPERVIOUS AREA                4,072 SQ. FT.  (14.2 %)
 (BEER GARDEN AREA)

TOTAL IMPERVIOUS AREA            22,497 SQ. FT.  (78.4%)

TOTAL PERVIOUS AREA                  6,187 SQ. FT.  (21.6%)

+ 7
00

.70

                       GRADING EGEND

 + 699.95                       EXISTING SPOT ELEVATION

                                      PROPOSED SPOT ELEVATION

                                      DRAINAGE FLOW DIRECTION



RAISED PERFORMANCE AREA w/

SEAT WALL &  PERGOLA (by others)

· SEAT WALL TO COMPLIMENT

EXISTING STONE ON BUILDING

· CEDAR PERGOLA - 12' X 14' w/

NATURAL STAINED FINISH

48" ORNAMENTAL

METAL FENCE

SLIDING

ORNAMENTAL

METAL GATE

2 -GTS

RAISED FAUX

GAS LOG

FIRE PIT

48" ORNAMENTAL

METAL FENCE

BAR - MODULAR

CONCRETE UNITS w/

STONE COUNTERTOP

UNDER A PAVILION

(by others)

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

BLUESTONE COLORED

STAMPED CONCRETE -

ASHLAR PATTERN

RED BRICK COLORED

STAMPED CONCRETE -

HARRINGBONE PATTERN

RED BRICK COLORED

STAMPED CONCRETE -

HARRINGBONE PATTERN

3 -DKR

1 -HPL

1 -PCJ

9 -HGP(18"o.c.)

1 -HPL

4 -HAM(24"o.c.)

3 -DKR

3 -HAM(24"o.c.)

1 -PCJ

8 -HGP(18"o.c.)

3 -RDK
22 -TMH(30"o.c.)

5 -DPF(18"o.c.)

9 -DPF(18"o.c.)

1 -TOS

5 -RDK

6 -NJW(24"o.c.)

4 -HFB(30"o.c.)

3' DEGENERATED GRANITE

ACCESS STRIP (3"depth)

3 -PHH(24"o.c.)

3 -HAI

4 -WDH

24 -SK(12"o.c.)

2 -TCC

3 -HAI

3 -DKR

1 -MRJ

24 -ABB(12"o.c.)

24 -SK(12"o.c.)

5 -DPF(18"o.c.)

14 -TMH(30"o.c.)

4 -NJW(24"o.c.)

3 -HAI

6 -RDR

2 -ASK

9 -NJW(24"o.c.)

EXIST ROSE OF SHARON

2 -DSB

3 -JHH

1 -MRJ

2 -HSS(30"o.c.)

6 -CID(18"o.c.)

5 -DSB

1 -AFJ

7 -HP(18"o.c.)

6 -CKF(24"o.c.)

3 -HPL

5 -RDP

3 -NJW(24"o.c.)

9 -HGB(18"o.c.)

T

48" ORNAMENTAL

METAL FENCE

5 -PHH(24"o.c.)

3 -PHH(24"o.c.)

3 -RDP

3 -NJW(24"o.c.)

5 -TOS(36"0.c.)

1

0

'

3 -CCI

7'

SHEET

REVISIONS

c
 

C
o

p
y

r
i
g

h
t
 
2

0
1

7
 
a

l
l
 
r
i
g

h
t
s

 
r
e

s
e

r
v

e
d

.
 
 
T

h
e

 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
a

n
d

 
a

n
y

 
a

n
d

 
a

l
l
 
i
d

e
a

s
 
c

o
n

t
a

i
n

e
d

 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
a

r
e

 
t
h

e
 
s

o
l
e

 
p

r
o

p
e

r
t
y

 
o

f
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

.
 
 
A

n
y

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
o

f
 
t
h

e
 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
o

r
 
t
h

e
 
c

o
n

c
e

p
t
 
e

m
b

o
d

i
e

d
 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
i
n

 
a

n
y

 
f
o

r
m

,
 
i
n

 
w

h
o

l
e

 
o

r
 
i
n

 
p

a
r
t
,
 
w

i
t
h

o
u

t
 
c

o
n

s
e

n
t
 
f
r
o

m
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

 
i
s

 
p

r
o

h
i
b

i
t
e

d
.
 
 

PROJECT NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

L-1

17-052

TITLE

LANDSCAPE

PLAN

SEAL:

N
O

R
T

H

0' 5' 10' 20'

METZ & COMPANYMETZ & COMPANY
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE/SITE PLANNING

826 East Maple Street

Lombard, Illinois 60148

PH: 630.561.3903

Email: metz_landarch@comcast.net

 
 
 
 
I
f
 
t
h

i
s

 
p

l
a

n
 
i
s

 
n

o
t
 
3

0
'
'
 
x

 
4

2
"
 
i
n

 
s

i
z
e

,
 
t
h

e
n

 
i
t
 
i
s

 
a

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
t
h

a
t
 
m

a
y

 
n

o
t
 
b

e
 
t
o

 
s

c
a

l
e

 

PERFORMANCE AREA & PERGOLA                                                         

BANGING
GAVEL

TINLEY PARK, IL

BREW PUB

GENERAL NOTES:

Plant material shall be nursery grown and be either balled and bur-lapped or container grown.  Sizes and spreads on plant list
represent minimum requirements.

The requirements for measurement, branching and ball size shall conform to the latest addition of ANSI Z60.1,  AMERICAN
STANDARD OF NURSERY STOCK by the American Nursery & Landscape Association.

Any materials with damaged or crooked/disfigured leaders, bark abrasion, sunscald, insect damage, etc. are not acceptable and will
be rejected.  Trees with multiple leaders will be rejected unless called for in the plant list as multi-stem or clump (cl.).

If any mistakes, omissions, or discrepancies are found to exist with the work product, the Landscape Architect shall be promptly
notified so that they have the opportunity to take any steps necessary to resolve the issue.  Failure to promptly notify the Landscape
Architect and the Owner of such conditions shall absolve them from any responsibility for the consequences of such failure.

Quantity lists are supplied as a convenience.  However, Bidders and the Installing Contractor should verify all quantities.  The
drawings shall take precedence over the lists.  Any discrepancies shall be reported to the Landscape Architect.

Actions taken without the knowledge and consist of the Owner and the Landscape Architect or in contradiction to the Owner and the
Landscape Architect's work product or recommendations, shall become the responsibility not of the Owner and the Landscape
Architect, but for the parties responsible for the taking of such action.

Civil Engineering or Architectural base information has been provided by others.  The location of various site improvements on this
set of drawings is only illustrative and should not be relied upon for construction purposes.

Refer to Civil Engineering documents for detailed information regarding size, location, depth and type of utilities, as well as locations
of other site improvements, other than landscape improvements,

Plant symbols illustrated on this plan are a graphic representation of proposed plant material types and are intended to provide for
visual clarity.  However, the symbols do not necessarily represent actual plant spread at the time of installation.

All plant species specified are subject to availability. Material shortages in the landscape industry may require substitutions. All
substitutions must be approved by the Village, Landscape Architect and Owner.

Contractor shall verify location of all underground utilities prior to digging. For location outside the City of Chicago call "J.U.L.I.E."
(Joint Utility Location for Excavators) 1-800-892-0123.

All perennial, ornamental grass, groundcover and annual  beds shall be top dressed with a minimum of three inches (3") of mushroom
compost.  The top dressing shall be worked into the soil to a minimum depth of nine inches (9") by the use of a cultivating
mechanism.  Upon completion perennials & ornamental grasses shall be mulched with an additional two inch (2") layer of shredded
wood mulch; Annuals & groundcovers shall be covered with an additional two inch (2") layer of mushroom compost.

All other planting beds and tree saucers shall be mulched with a minimum of three inches (3") of shredded wood mulch.

Planting beds adjacent to building shall be mulched in their entirety to the building foundation.  Plant materials shall not be installed
under building overhangs and other such areas which do not receive natural rainfall.

All bed lines and tree saucers shall require a hand spaded edge between lawn and mulched areas.

Grading shall provide slopes which are smooth and continuous. Positive drainage shall be provided in all areas.

Sod shall be mineral base only.

Turf grass seed mixes shall be applied mechanically so that the seed is incorporated into the top one-half inch (1/2") of the seed bed.
The seed shall then be covered with the specified blanket (installed per manufacturer's. specs) or Hydro-mulch.

All plant material shall be guaranteed for one (1) year from the date of acceptance.

PARKWAY TREES SHALL NOT BE PLANTED WITHIN 15 ' OF ANY TRAFFIC SIGN; 12' FROM A STREET LIGHT; 10' OF A FIRE
HYDRANT; OR 10' OF A DRIVEWAY.  CONTRACTOR SHALL MAKE FIELD ADJUSTMENTS AS NEEDED DURING
INSTALLATION.

1    Village review Comments                 9/26/17

PIER - STONE TO COMPLIMENT

EXISTING STONE USED ON

THE BUILDING

CEDAR PERGOLA

SEAT WALL

42" ORNAMENTAL

METAL FENCE

ARBORVITAE BACKDROP

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
38.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TWO-STORY BRICK BUILDING #6811

AutoCAD SHX Text
9.3'

AutoCAD SHX Text
35.7'

AutoCAD SHX Text
35.7'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
9.2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTL

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTL

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTL

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
HICKORY        STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK             PARK           AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT   1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT    B

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BEER GARDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING RAMP TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  LANDSCAPE ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
09-11-17

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
157-000422

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANDY F. METZ

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S



SHEET

REVISIONS

c
 

C
o

p
y

r
i
g

h
t
 
2

0
1

7
 
a

l
l
 
r
i
g

h
t
s

 
r
e

s
e

r
v

e
d

.
 
 
T

h
e

 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
a

n
d

 
a

n
y

 
a

n
d

 
a

l
l
 
i
d

e
a

s
 
c

o
n

t
a

i
n

e
d

 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
a

r
e

 
t
h

e
 
s

o
l
e

 
p

r
o

p
e

r
t
y

 
o

f
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

.
 
 
A

n
y

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
o

f
 
t
h

e
 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
o

r
 
t
h

e
 
c

o
n

c
e

p
t
 
e

m
b

o
d

i
e

d
 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
i
n

 
a

n
y

 
f
o

r
m

,
 
i
n

 
w

h
o

l
e

 
o

r
 
i
n

 
p

a
r
t
,
 
w

i
t
h

o
u

t
 
c

o
n

s
e

n
t
 
f
r
o

m
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

 
i
s

 
p

r
o

h
i
b

i
t
e

d
.
 
 

PROJECT NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

L-2

17-052

TITLE

LANDSCAPE

PLAN

SEAL:

METZ & COMPANYMETZ & COMPANY
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE/SITE PLANNING

826 East Maple Street

Lombard, Illinois 60148

PH: 630.561.3903

Email: metz_landarch@comcast.net

 
 
 
 
I
f
 
t
h

i
s

 
p

l
a

n
 
i
s

 
n

o
t
 
3

0
'
'
 
x

 
4

2
"
 
i
n

 
s

i
z
e

,
 
t
h

e
n

 
i
t
 
i
s

 
a

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
t
h

a
t
 
m

a
y

 
n

o
t
 
b

e
 
t
o

 
s

c
a

l
e

 

BANGING
GAVEL

TINLEY PARK, IL

BREW PUB

Base Material

Uniform Zinc Coating
(Hot Dip)

Zinc Phosphate Coating
Epoxy Primer

17
16"

11
2"

FLAT MOUNT

Acrylic Topcoat

Bracket Options

51
2"

2" Nom.

4'

36" Min.
Footing Depth

11
8"

11
2" MONTAGE PLUS   Rail

(See Cross- Section Below)

TM

Post 21
2"     x 16ga

1

3
4"      18ga Picket

2

RAKING DIRECTIONAL ARROW
Welded panel can be raked
30" over 8' with arrow pointing down
grade.

MONTAGE PLUS   RAIL
Specially formed high strength
architectural shape.

TM

PROFUSION   WELDING PROCESS
No exposed welds,
Good Neighbor profile - Same
appearance on both sides

TM

MONTAGE PLUS    RAILTM

E-COAT  COATING SYSTEM

2

TYPICAL315
16"

8' O.C. Nom.

3

BX111BX112/117BX114

UNIVERSAL BOULEVARDLINE BOULEVARD
BRACKETBRACKET BRACKET

3

NOTES:
1.) Post size depends on fence height and wind loads.
     See MONTAGE PLUS    specifications for post
     sizing chart.
2.) Third rail required for Double Rings.
3.) Available in 3" air space and/or Flush Bottom on
     most heights.

TM

Values shown are nominal and not to be used for
installation purposes. See product specification
for installation requirements.

1    Village review Comments                 9/26/17

AutoCAD SHX Text
As Noted

AutoCAD SHX Text
09-11-17

AutoCAD SHX Text
157-000422

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANDY F. METZ

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 X BALL WIDTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
45° or Less

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECIDUOUS TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREE WILL NOT REMAIN PLUMB.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRUNK OF TREE SHALL BE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP & REMOVE THE NEXT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECURE WRAP W/ TWINE @

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROTECTED W/ TREE WRAP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREES NOT REQUIRED UNLESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPRING

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: STAKING OF DECIDUOUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE ALL TWINE, ROPE, WIRE & BURLAP FROM TOP HALF OF ROOT  BALL (IF SHIPPED W/ WIRE BASKET, CUT IN 4 PLACES & FOLD DOWN 8" INTO TREE PIT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED BACKFILL OF 75% SOIL & 25% PEAT OR COMPOST

AutoCAD SHX Text
#12 GAUGE STEEL WIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 - 8' STEEL FENCE POSTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FORM A 4" SOIL SAUCER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEYOND EDGE OF ROOT BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3" OF SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEEP MULCH AWAY FROM TRUCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
2-PLY 1/2" REINFORCED HOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE ROOT BALL ON UNEXCAVATED SOIL OR COMPACTED BACKFILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DO NOT STAKE INTO ROOT BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECIDUOUS SHADE TREE - SEE LANDSCAPE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
n.t.s.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VINES, GROUNDCOVER & ANNUALS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(PERENNIALS, ORNAMENTAL GRASSES

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTAINER PLANTS TO PROMOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR ROOTS ON ROOT-BOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLICE, CUT, OR SEPARATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOT GROWTH.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DISTRIBUTOR FOR PRECISE DEPTHS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTHER PLANTING DEPTHS.  CONSULT BULB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CERTAIN BULBS/PERENNIALS MAY REQUIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BED PLANTING DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE SPECIFIC SPACING

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIMENSION ON DRAWINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHALL BE TOPDRESSED WITH 2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERENNIALS & ORN. GRASSES 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHALL BE TOPDRESSED WITH 2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUNDCOVER & ANNUALS

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF MUSHROOM COMPOST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPACING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL BED PLANTINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHALL BE INSTALLED

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH TRIANGULAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTING SOIL: MIN. OF 3" MUSHROOM COMPOST ROTOTILLED INTO SOIL TO A MIN. DEPTH OF 9".  DO NOT COMPACT UNNECESSARILY AFTER PLANTING APPLY 18-6-12 OSMOCOTE (270 DAY) TIME RELEASED FERTILIZER TO GROUNDCOVER & PERENNIAL BEDS & 14-14-14 OSMOCOTE (120 DAY) TIME RELEASED FERTILIZER TO ANNUAL BEDS PER MFRS. RECOMMENDATIONS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINISHED GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
n.t.s.

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE ROOT BALL ON UNEXCAVATED SOIL OR COMPACTED BACKFILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNTREATED BURLAP NEED NOT BE REMOVED, HOWEVER ALL TWINE AROUND THE TRUNK SHALL BE REMOVED.  TREATED BURLAP, PLASTIC WRAP SHALL BE REMOVED OR ROLLED DOWN AROUND THE ROOT BALL.  PLANTS GROWN IN CONTAINER SHALL BE REMOVED OUT OF ITS POT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED BACKFILL OF 75% SOIL & 25% PEAT OR COMPOST

AutoCAD SHX Text
3" MIN. SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHRUBS

AutoCAD SHX Text
n.t.s.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2"=1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4' METAL FENCE DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE PIT DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERCREST  BY UNILOCK ADHESIVE ON ALL COURSES COLOR: COASTAL SLATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEDGESTONE COPING BY: UNILOCK COLOR: GREY

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS LINE (COORDINATED  BY GENERAL CONTRACTOR)

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4 CLEAN STONE (18")

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE PATIO SURFACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4" SCHEDULE 40 PVC PIPE WITH GRATE (SURFACE W/ GRATE AT GRADE BELOW WALL. CONNECT TO STORM SEWER OR DAYLIGHT INTO DETENTION POND. COORDINATE WITH CIVIL ENGINEER )

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED  AGGREGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADHESIVE TO BE USED  BETWEEN COURSES & COPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
2% MIN SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" LAYER OF BLACK LAVA ROCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CUSTOM DESIGNED BURNER & LOG BY A COZY FIREPLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOG LIGHTER GAS VALVE BY A COZY FIREPLACE KEY EXTENDED TO FACE OUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" GAS LINE FROM  BUILDING (W/ 2ND VALVE INSIDE BUILDING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRILL/ NOTCH/  OR SAW CUT  TOP BLOCK FOR  VALVE & PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOG LIGHTER GAS VALVE, FIRE RING & FIRE LOG  BY - A COZY FIREPLACE WWW.ACOZYFIREPLACE.COM   630-836-0606

AutoCAD SHX Text
PITCH TO  DRAIN (TYP.)



M
/0
³3
8&
4/
!
V
51
-4
1&

50
.9

7'

R 77³/8&13! V 80-86&

M 77³/8&13! D 60-/5&

84
.5

1'

80.82'

106.83'

R 77³/8&13! V 40-//& R /0³4/&25! D 7-//&

R
/0
³4
/&
02
!
D
51
-1
4&

22.60'
M 77³/8&40! D

50
.3

6'

47.69'

66.00'

33.00'

33.00' 33.00'

R
/0
³3
8&
40
!
D
07
4-
73
&

R
/0³4/&25!

D
34-00&

R 77³/8&13! V 11-//&

R /0³4/&25! D 8-//&

33.00'

R 4
8³3
1&4
4!
V
124
-23
&

34.30'
M 77³0/&/7! D

'R
50³
22&
00!
V
123
-/5
& QD
B-(

10
4.

06
'  

  (
89

.9
4'

 R
E

C
.)

'M
//
³/
/&
//
!
D
Q
D
B
-(

'M
//
³/
/&
//
!
D
Q
D
B
-(

'M 8/³//&//! V QDB-(
'M 78³1/&05! D 04/-/1& QDB-(

'M
//
³/
1&
14
!
V
06
4-
22
&
Q
D
B
-(

R 77³10&01! V 04/-//&

R
/0
³4
/&
02
!
D
62
-4
/&

R
/0³38&40!

D
35-/1&

'M 78³48&28! V QDB-(

VILLAGE CLERK CERTIFICATE

                                                                                                             
VILLAGE CLERK

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE
STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF WILL )  S.S.

I further certify that I have resubdivided the same into three lots as shown on the  hereon drawn plat.
This plat correctly represents said survey and subdivision in every detail.  Monuments shown in
place and located.

Property contains   28,684  sq. ft., (0.658 acres), more or less.

I do further state that:

1.  I have examined Community Panel Number 17031C0708J  effective date: August 19, 2008,
      as issued by the Federal Emergency Management Agency with reference to the above named
      tract, and find the property to be in Zone X (unshaded), which is an area determined to be
      outside the 0.2% annual chance (500-year floodplain).

2.  This subdivision is within the corporate limits of the Village of Tinley Park, Illinois.

3.  All lot corners and points of curvature will be monumented according to the
      Plat Act as amended.

4.  All distances are shown in feet and decimal parts thereof.

5.  Basis of bearings is assumed.

6.  This Professional Service conforms to the current Illinois
      Minimum Standards for a Boundary Survey.

      Given under my Hand and Seal at Mokena, Illinois,

                                                                              , A.D. 2017.
       JOSEPH A. SCHUDT & ASSOCIATES (184-001172)
       9455 Enterprise Drive   Mokena, IL 60448
       Phone: 708-720-1000

BY: _________________________________________________
        Illinois Professional Land Surveyor No. 3152 (exp 11-30-18)

This is to state that I, D. Warren Opperman, Illinois Professional Land Surveyor No. 3152, have
surveyed and subdivided the property described in the above caption and more particularly
described as follows:

09-15-17

I hereby certify that there are no delinquent Special Assessments or unpaid
current Special Assessments on the above described property.

Dated this                    day of                                           , A.D. 2017.

Mail Future Tax Bills To :

BANGING GAVEL PROPERTIES, LLC
10723 W. 159th STREET
ORLAND PARK, IL 60467



                                                        ENGINEER                                                   

COUNTY OF COOK )  SS
STATE OF ILLINOIS )

SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE CERTIFICATE

To the best of our knowledge and belief the drainage of surface waters will not be changed by
the construction of such subdivision or any part thereof, or, that if such surface water drainage
will be changed, reasonable provisions have been made for the collection and discharge of
surface waters into public or private areas and/or drains which the subdivider has the right to
use, and that such surface waters will be planned for in accordance with generally accepted
engineering practices so as to reduce the likelihood of substantive damage to adjoining
property because of the construction  of the subdivision, and all work shall conform to the
requirements of THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, ILLINOIS.

Dated this         day of                     2017.

VILLAGE OFFICIAL CERTIFICATES

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK )     SS

Approved by the MAYOR AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES at a meeting
held on  ______________________.

__________________________________________________________
                                                      MAYOR

__________________________________________________________
                                               VILLAGE CLERK

COUNTY RECORDER'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK )     S.S.

This Instrument ___________________________________ was filed for record in
The Recorder's Office of Cook County, Illinois, on the _______ day of _______________,
2017, at __________ o'clock ___ M. and recorded in Book ____________ of Plats on
Page ________________.

_______________________________________________________
                                        COUNTY RECORDER

                                  OWNER OR ATTORNEY                                                      

174th                         PLACE

TINLEY PARK, IL

INDICATES SITE LOCATION

VICINITY MAP
(NOT TO SCALE)

O
A

K
   

   
P

A
R

K
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  A
V

E
N

U
E

BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF PART OF OUTLOTS A AND B IN HICKORY SQUARE, BEING A
SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS..

P.I.N. 28-30-314-032
          28-30-314-036

COUNTY OF COOK )  S.S.
STATE OF ILLINOIS )

OWNERS CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that  BANGING GAVEL PROPERTIES, LLC, is the owner of the land
described in the plat, and has caused the same to be surveyed and resubdivided, as indicated
thereon, for the uses and purposes therein and has caused and does hereby acknowledge
and adopt the same under the style and title thereon indicated.

The undersigned further certifies that, to the best of their knowledge, the tracts, parcels, lots
and blocks described in this certificate lie within Community Consolidated School District
No. 146, Bremen High School District No. 228, and South Suburban College District No. 510.

Dated this _______ day of ________________ A.D. 2017.

by ______________________________________________

                            ( Managing Member )

NOTARY CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK )  S.S.

I, ____________________________________________, a Notary Public in and for said County,
in the State aforesaid, do certify that  ___________________________, is personally known to me
to be the same person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument, appeared before me
this day in person and acknowledged that they signed and delivered this instrument as their own
free and voluntary act and as the free and voluntary act of said Corporation, as given under my hand
and Notarial Seal.

This __________ day of _____________________ A.D. 2017.

My Commission Expires: _____________________________

_____________________________________________________

NOTARY PUBLIC

OUTLOTS "A" AND "B" IN HICKORY SQUARE, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST
QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED AUGUST 7,
1987, AS DOCUMENT 87437606, (AND RERECORDED WITH CERTIFICATE AND PLAT OF
CORRECTION DATED AUGUST 24, 1987, AS DOCUMENT 87466293) (EXCEPT THAT PART
OF SAID OUTLOT "A" LYING WEST OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED LINE COMMENCING
AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID OUTLOT "A";  THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 59
MINUTES 39 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A", 34.30 FEET
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING;  THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 00 SECONDS
EAST 73.50 FEET;  THENCE NORTH 90 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 00 SECONDS WEST 22.60
FEET;  THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST 62.25 FEET TO
THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID OUTLOT "A"' AND TERMINATING THERE), IN COOK
COUNTY, ILLINOIS.



( H
ERETOFORE     

     
  D

EDICATED )

  R
AILROAD

HICKORY     
     

     
     

     
  STREET

175th  STREET

174th ST

SOUTH  ST

175th           STREET

68
th

   
   

   
   

   
  C

O
U

R
T

67
th

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 C
O

U
R

T

LOT AREAS:

KNS 0--------------- 03+002 RP-ES- ' /-213 @BQDR ´ (

KNS 1 --------------- 8+823 RP-ES- ' /-117 @BQDR ´ (

KNS 2 --------------- 3+526 RP-ES- ' /-0/5 @BQDR ´ (
SNS@K 17+573 RP-ES- '/-547 @BQDR ´ (

NOTE:
SUBJECT PROPERTY IS ENCUMBERED BY
DECLARATION OF CROSS ACCESS EASEMENT
FOR INGRESS, EGRESS AND PARKING AND UTILITIES
PER DOCUMENT 99349143 RECORDED APRIL 12, 1999.

( H
E

R
E

TO
FO

R
E

   
   

   
   

D
E

D
IC

A
TE

D
 )



42
"

34
"

46"

42"
10

"

8
4"

46"



PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 
October 19, 2017 

Aldi – Special Use Permit for a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center 
Plaza Planned Unit Development for Wall Signage 
16000 Harlem Avenue 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Petitioner, Doyle Signs, Inc. on behalf of Aldi, seeks a Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development to allow for 
an increase in the size and number of signs allowed for Aldi at 16000 Harlem Avenue and 
within the B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial, Park Center Plaza Planned Unit 
Development) Zoning District. The proposed Substantial Deviation would allow a total of 
four (4) wall signs, a total sign face area of 253 square feet, and the main sign would be a 
maximum height of fifteen feet (15’). 

Updates from the 10/5/2017 Staff Report are in red. 

Petitioner 
Doyle Signs, Inc. on 
behalf of Aldi 

Property Location 
16000 Harlem Avenue 

PIN 
27-24-201-014-0000

Zoning 
B-3 PD

Approvals Sought 
Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation 

Project Planner 
Stephanie Kisler, AICP 
Planner I 



Aldi – 16000 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 2 of 12 

SUMMARY OF OPEN ITEMS 
 
The Plan Commission requested a visual comparison of the proposed sign compared to an Aldi sign that 
meets the Village’s regulations for signage. These images are provided on page 6 of the Staff Report. 
 
 
EXISTING SITE & HISTORY 
 
The subject property, 16000 Harlem Avenue, is a 4.34 acre site with a 62,000 square foot building within the Park 
Center Plaza shopping center. The shopping center is generally located in the southwest corner of 159th Street and 
Harlem Avenue between 159th Street and 161st Street.  
 
The tenant space was formerly occupied by Cub Foods (dating back to the late 1980’s) and then Eurofresh until 
recently when Aldi purchased the property.  Aldi is currently subdividing the tenant space and working on interior 
and exterior remodeling in order to open a new 24,952 square foot Aldi store. The remaining tenant space will be 
occupied by an unknown future tenant.   
 

 
Current Aldi Façade (Staff Photo, September 29, 2017) 

 

  



Aldi – 16000 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 3 of 12 

ZONING & NEARBY LAND USES 
 
The subject property (see yellow star on graphic to the left) is zoned B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial, Park 
Center Plaza Planned Unit Development). The Park Center Plaza shopping center includes notable businesses such 
as: Portillo’s, McDonald’s, Charter Fitness, Chuck E. Cheese, and Dairy Queen. Aldi is relocating to this site from 
the existing store at 16150 Harlem Avenue. 
 
Nearby land uses include a church to the west (zoned R-4), a commercial shopping center to the north of 159th 
Street in Orland Park, the Tinley Park Plaza shopping center to the east across Harlem Avenue, and the Park Place 
shopping center to the south of 161st Street. 
 

 
 
 
 
  



Aldi – 16000 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 4 of 12 

PROPOSED SIGNAGE 
 
The Petitioner proposes to mount new wall signage on the façade of the new Aldi store. The proposed signage 
includes a total of four (4) wall signs with a total sign face area of 253 square feet. The main sign would be a 
maximum height of fifteen feet (15’). 
 
Staff notes that this request is a Substantial Deviation from the PUD rather than a variance. Per Section 
VII.B.6.a. of the Zoning Ordinance an increase in the size or number of signs within a PUD are considered a 
Substantial Deviation. The PUD does not have its own Sign Regulations, so the PUD’s signage is regulated by 
the Village’s Sign Regulations in Section IX of the Zoning Ordinance. A Substantial Deviation requires a 
Special Use Permit. While an amendment to the PUD to create specific Sign Regulations for the Park Center 
Plaza shopping center would be ideal, there is not common ownership of all of the parcels and it may be 
cumbersome to involve all property owners in the process. 
 

 
15’ x 12’ 7.5” = 189.375 square feet 

 
 
 

 
5’2” circles = 20.97 square feet per sign 



Aldi – 16000 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 5 of 12 

Per Section IX.F.1. of the Zoning Ordinance the requirements for a property in the B-3 Zoning District with 
10,001-25,000 square feet of gross floor area are:  

• one (1) sign per tenant frontage; 
• sign face area at one (1) square foot per one (1) linear foot of building/tenant frontage not to exceed 

120 square feet per sign; and  
• a maximum sign height of seven feet (7’). 

 
Comparison of allowable signage to proposed signage: 
 

 Allowed by Code Proposed Difference 
Number of Wall Signs 1 4 + 3 
Maximum Sign Face Area 110 square feet 252.285 square feet + 142.285 
Maximum Height 7’ 15’ (main sign), 5’2” (circles) + 8’ 

 
Staff notes that the new Aldi tenant space is the second largest tenant space (the largest being the other portion of 
the former Eurofresh) within the Park Center Plaza shopping center. The Petitioner stated that the storefront is over 
500’ from Harlem Avenue (Staff measured about 540’ using GIS) so larger signage is requested in order to attract 
customers from the major thoroughfares.  
 
The Petitioner’s request for additional quantity of signs includes three subordinate “discs” to be installed on 
the adjacent and slightly shorter façade. These discs will display logos of a leaf, apple, and glass of wine. The 
signs will be halo-lit. Staff notes that the previous tenant, Eurofresh, utilized similar signage that informed 
the passersby what products were sold within the store. Each disc is about 21 square feet in area totaling 63 
square feet for all three discs. The original sign plan submitted to the Village displayed “Food Market” 
instead of the discs. The discs are part of the new prototype for Aldi stores and this store will be one of the 
first to use the discs. The proposed discs are in scale with the façade and will have aesthetically pleasing 
halo lighting. 
 
The Plan Commission additionally asked about the lighting on the discs. The sign company provided the 
following examples to illustrate how the lighting around the discs may appear with the halo-lit lighting. 
 

   
 
The Plan Commission requested a visual comparison of the proposed sign compared to an Aldi sign that 
meets the Village’s regulations for signage. The graphic below depicts the proposed sign and a sign meeting 
the maximum height of seven feet (7’). The 7’ tall sign is just over 41 square feet of sign face area, which is 
considerably less than what is allowed by code. The unique factor with the Aldi sign is that the logo is taller 
than it is wide, which limits the overall area of the sign by the Village’s maximum height.  
 
Staff requested a third option from the Petitioner that shows a sign with a sign face area closer to the 
allowable 110 square feet. This sign is 12’ x 10’-11/16” and totals 120.69 square feet of sign face area. This 
sign does not meet the height requirement, but appears more in-scale with the façade. The Petitioner 
stated that this is a typical Aldi sign size and would be easier to order from the manufacturer rather than 
ordering a custom sign that meets the 110 square foot limitation. 
 



Aldi – 16000 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 6 of 12 

 
 
The Petitioner supplied the photo below that displays a 5’ x 7’ plywood board to represent the size of a sign 
that would meet Village code. 
 

 



Aldi – 16000 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 7 of 12 

Comparatively, the previous tenant, Eurofresh, had a large primary wall sign over the main entrance along with four 
secondary signs to the left of the storefront. The Eurofresh signs measured 15’ x 37’ (555 square feet) and 75’ x 30” 
(187.5 square feet) for a total of 742.5 square feet. This signage exceeds the Village code. The linear frontage for 
Eurofresh was about 290’, so the signage was about 2.5 square feet per each one foot (1’) of linear frontage. 
Staff notes that this façade was taller than most other façades within the shopping center since it was the 
major tenant. The “E” in Eurofresh was eight feet (8’) tall. Staff could not locate a variance or special 
approval allowing the signage. 
 

 
Eurofresh Wall Signage (Google Street View, August 2015) 

 
Prior to Eurofresh, this space was 
occupied by Cub Foods. This store also 
had subordinate signage as well as 17’-
6” tall lettering reading “Cub Foods” (the 
“C” was 10’ tall). The sign face area for 
the “Cub Foods” portion of the signage 
totals 414 square feet. Additional 
subordinate signage was located on either side of the main façade. This signage exceeds the Village code. 
Staff could not locate a variance or special approval allowing the signage. 

 

 
Cub Foods Wall Signage (Village Permit File) 



Aldi – 16000 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 8 of 12 

Additionally, Staff notes the current sign at the Aldi at 16150 Harlem Avenue measures 77.25” x 92.5” totaling 49.6 
square feet; however, the store is about 15,000 square feet. This Aldi storefront is about 90’, so the signage is about 
0.55 square feet per each one foot (1’) of linear frontage. This sign is permitted to be up to 90 square feet. 

 

 
Aldi Wall Signage (Staff Photo, September 29, 2017) 

 
The existing Aldi site has a clear view from Harlem Avenue despite the distance of around 575’ to Harlem 
Avenue (see photo). The new Aldi site will have the Chipotle/Mattress Firm outlot building partially blocking 
the view from Harlem Avenue to the storefront. 
 

 
View from Harlem Avenue to Current Aldi Store (Google Street View, August 2016) 

 
 
 



Aldi – 16000 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 9 of 12 

The Plan Commission also requested information about the Sam’s Club sign. The Sam’s Club sign is 10’ x 10’ 
and is a total of 100 square feet of sign face area. The sign height is 14’-1 ¾“ tall. The length of their store 
front is 357’. Staff notes that this sign is also nonconforming to the maximum allowable height since it is 
taller than 7’ but the sign face area meets code. 
 

 
Sam’s Club Wall Signage (Staff Photo, October 11, 2017) 

 
For additional comparison, Staff notes that the Tinley Park Plaza Planned Unit Development (PUD) on the 
east side of Harlem Avenue allows larger signs as part of their PUD. Tenants within this shopping center are 
allowed 1.5 square feet of signage for every 1 foot of store frontage with no maximum size limitation; 
however, the maximum height limit for a wall sign is also 7’ tall. The Planet Fitness is about 320’ east of 
Harlem Avenue and meets current regulations (see photo). Planet Fitness is about 220’ closer to Harlem 
Avenue than the proposed Aldi sign. 

 

 
The Tile Shop, Planet Fitness, and Dollar Tree Wall Signage Viewed from Harlem Avenue  

(Google Street View, November 2016) 



Aldi – 16000 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 10 of 12 

MOTION TO CONSIDER 
 
If the Plan Commission wishes to take action, an appropriate wording of the motions would read:  

 
 “…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the Petitioner, Doyle Signs, 
Inc. on behalf of Aldi, for a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development to allow for 
an increase in the size and number of signs allowed for Aldi at 16000 Harlem Avenue and within the B-3 PD (General 
Business and Commercial, Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development) Zoning District. The proposed Substantial 
Deviation will allow a total of four (4) wall signs, a total sign face area of 253 square feet, and the main sign would be 
a maximum height of fifteen feet (15’).” 
 

…with the following conditions: 
1. [any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 

 
 
 
  



Aldi – 16000 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 11 of 12 

STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 
Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 
Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 
provided draft Findings below. 

 
X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

• The proposed signage will meet applicable Village Building Codes and Electrical Codes. 
• The proposed signage is visually in scale with the new façade. 
• The proposed signage will create a more readable sign from Harlem Avenue and assist 

customers in locating the shopping center without impeding traffic flow. 
 
b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood; 

• The proposed signage is will not negatively affect other adjacent properties within the 
Park Center Plaza shopping center because it will attract customers to the shopping 
center.  

 
c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
• The proposed signage will not negatively affect improvements within the Park Center 

Plaza shopping center or surrounding properties.  
• This request will not set a precedent for signage in other areas of Tinley Park since Aldi is 

part of the Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development (PUD) and PUDs have flexibility 
with zoning regulations to fit the unique needs of the development.  

• This is not a variance request – it is a deviation from the original PUD to allow for changes 
to the allowable signage for this tenant space. 

 
d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided; 
• The site, Park Center Plaza, has existing utilities, roads, drainage, and necessary facilities. 

 
 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 

• The proposed signage will provide increased visibility toward Harlem Avenue, which is a 
distance of approximately 540’ from the façade. A sign meeting Village regulations would 
not be readable at this distance when driving the speed limit on Harlem Avenue. 

 
f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 
pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such 
conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to 
ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon 
other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  
Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 

• The proposed signage will conform to all other applicable regulations. 



Aldi – 16000 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 12 of 12 

 
g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of 

the community as a whole. 
• The proposed signage contributes to the economic development of the community by 

allowing a new business to competitively advertise to customers on major thoroughfares. 
• Aldi will attract customers to the Park Center Plaza shopping center and to the Tinley 

Park Area. 
 
It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 
Permit is tied to the Applicant. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever apply 
to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to examine the 
conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 
 















11.17.16 REMOVED STOREFRONT PHOTO RENDERING ALDI

KM TD

15660 NOTED 10.27.2016

16000 S. HARLEM AVE.

TINLEY PARK IL

1This design is the original and unpublished work of
DOYLE SIGNS, INC. and may not be reproduced, copied
or exhibited in any fashion without the expressed written

consent from an authorized officer of The Company.
The rights to this design may be purchased.

CUSTOMER APPROVAL                                       DATE

DATE        REVISION
CLIENT

ADDRESS

CITY DESIGNER SALESPERSON

DRWG.  NO. SCALE: DATE: SHEET NO.

STATE

5.4.17 REVISED WALL SIGNS PER NEW ELEVATIONS, ADDED NEW ELEVS.

5.11.17 UPDATED PYLON FACE SIZES & DETS. PER SURVEY
6.12.17 ADDED OPTION FOR LEXAN FACES w/ NEW RETAINERS

9.12.17 REVISED “FOOD MARKET” LTRS. TO NEW ICON SIGNS

9.12.17 UPDATED WALL SIGN (A) w/ NEW ALDI LOGO

9.22.17 UPDATED PYLON SIGN (C) w/ NEW ALDI LOGO

C1

C2

B

A

Z:\Design\A\ALDI\TINLEY PARK IL\ALDI - TINLEY PARK IL 9-12-17.cdr



11.17.16 REMOVED STOREFRONT PHOTO RENDERING ALDI

KM TD

15660 NOTED 10.27.2016

16000 S. HARLEM AVE.

TINLEY PARK IL

2This design is the original and unpublished work of
DOYLE SIGNS, INC. and may not be reproduced, copied
or exhibited in any fashion without the expressed written

consent from an authorized officer of The Company.
The rights to this design may be purchased.

CUSTOMER APPROVAL                                       DATE

DATE        REVISION
CLIENT

ADDRESS

CITY DESIGNER SALESPERSON

DRWG.  NO. SCALE: DATE: SHEET NO.

STATE

5.4.17 REVISED WALL SIGNS PER NEW ELEVATIONS, ADDED NEW ELEVS.

5.11.17 UPDATED PYLON FACE SIZES & DETS. PER SURVEY
6.12.17 ADDED OPTION FOR LEXAN FACES w/ NEW RETAINERS

9.12.17 REVISED “FOOD MARKET” LTRS. TO NEW ICON SIGNS

9.12.17 UPDATED WALL SIGN (A) w/ NEW ALDI LOGO

9.22.17 UPDATED PYLON SIGN (C) w/ NEW ALDI LOGO

SCALE: 3/32” = 1’

Z:\Design\A\ALDI\TINLEY PARK IL\ALDI - TINLEY PARK IL 9-12-17.cdr



11.17.16 REMOVED STOREFRONT PHOTO RENDERING ALDI

KM TD

15660 NOTED 10.27.2016

16000 S. HARLEM AVE.

TINLEY PARK IL

3This design is the original and unpublished work of
DOYLE SIGNS, INC. and may not be reproduced, copied
or exhibited in any fashion without the expressed written

consent from an authorized officer of The Company.
The rights to this design may be purchased.

CUSTOMER APPROVAL                                       DATE

DATE        REVISION
CLIENT

ADDRESS

CITY DESIGNER SALESPERSON

DRWG.  NO. SCALE: DATE: SHEET NO.

STATE

5.4.17 REVISED WALL SIGNS PER NEW ELEVATIONS, ADDED NEW ELEVS.

5.11.17 UPDATED PYLON FACE SIZES & DETS. PER SURVEY
6.12.17 ADDED OPTION FOR LEXAN FACES w/ NEW RETAINERS

9.12.17 REVISED “FOOD MARKET” LTRS. TO NEW ICON SIGNS

9.12.17 UPDATED WALL SIGN (A) w/ NEW ALDI LOGO

9.22.17 UPDATED PYLON SIGN (C) w/ NEW ALDI LOGO

PMS #638 CVC PMS #287 CVC PANTONE WARM RED PMS #021 CVC

COLOR LEGEND

SCALE: 1/4”=1’-0”

Standard ‘Flex-Face’ Illum’d. Wall Sign
ONE(1) req’d.A

EXTERNAL SAFETY
SWITCH

Description:
•FLEX FACE GRAPHICS:
   -copy, white on a pms #287 blue bkgd.
   -logo, pms #2985 lt. blue
   -outer border, pms #1235 yellow
   -center border, pms #151 orange
   -inner border, pms #172 red
•aluminum cabinet & moulding,
   “SLATE GRAY” Enamel Fin.

3/8”ø 
MTG. FASTENERS,

MIN. (2) TOP &
 (2) BOTTOM

ELEC. FEED
COND.

¼” CLR. ALL-AROUND,
CONT’S. SILICON CAULK
(15’-½” x 12’-8” OPENING)

PMS #1235 CVC

15
’-

0”

12’-7 1/2”

ONE(1) SET REQ’D SCALE: 1/4”=1’-0”

L.E.D. HALO-LIT LOGO DISCS
B

Section / Rev-Channels

1     .125” ALUM. w/ POLYURETHANE SILVER &
       CLEAR SATIN FINISH

2    .187 CLR. LEXAN BACKS

3    L.E.D. MODULE

4    REMOTE POWER SUPPLY,
      CLASS I I  12V.

5    MOUNTING ANCHORS

6    120V PRIMARY, No.12 THHN
      STRANDED WIRE

7    FLEXIBLE, SEALTITE CONDUIT

8     SAFETY SWITCH, PER LOCAL CODE

9     1/4" DRAIN HOLE ON CLEAR LEXAN
         BACKS

3

1

2

5

6

SILICONE SEAL
ALL PENETRATIONS

9

8

2”

4

2”

7

LEGEND

5’
-2

”

5’-2” 5’-2” 5’-2”3’-6” 3’-6”

22’-6”

Z:\Design\A\ALDI\TINLEY PARK IL\ALDI - TINLEY PARK IL 9-12-17.cdr



11.17.16 REMOVED STOREFRONT PHOTO RENDERING ALDI

KM TD

15660 NOTED 10.27.2016

16000 S. HARLEM AVE.

TINLEY PARK IL

2This design is the original and unpublished work of
DOYLE SIGNS, INC. and may not be reproduced, copied
or exhibited in any fashion without the expressed written

consent from an authorized officer of The Company.
The rights to this design may be purchased.

CUSTOMER APPROVAL                                       DATE

DATE        REVISION
CLIENT

ADDRESS

CITY DESIGNER SALESPERSON

DRWG.  NO. SCALE: DATE: SHEET NO.

STATE

5.4.17 REVISED WALL SIGNS PER NEW ELEVATIONS, ADDED NEW ELEVS.

5.11.17 UPDATED PYLON FACE SIZES & DETS. PER SURVEY
6.12.17 ADDED OPTION FOR LEXAN FACES w/ NEW RETAINERS

9.12.17 REVISED “FOOD MARKET” LTRS. TO NEW ICON SIGNS

9.12.17

UPDATED WALL SIGN (A) w/ NEW ALDI LOGO

9.22.17 UPDATED PYLON SIGN (C) w/ NEW ALDI LOGO

10.5.17 UPDATED COLOR ELEVATIONS

114’-1½”

SCALE: 3/32” = 1’
15

’-
0”

12’-7 1/2”

5’-2” 5’-2” 5’-2”3’-6” 3’-6”

5’
-2

”

114’-1½”

7’
-0

”

5’-10¾”



11.17.16 REMOVED STOREFRONT PHOTO RENDERING ALDI

KM TD

15660 NOTED 10.27.2016

16000 S. HARLEM AVE.

TINLEY PARK IL

2This design is the original and unpublished work of
DOYLE SIGNS, INC. and may not be reproduced, copied
or exhibited in any fashion without the expressed written

consent from an authorized officer of The Company.
The rights to this design may be purchased.

CUSTOMER APPROVAL                                       DATE

DATE        REVISION
CLIENT

ADDRESS

CITY DESIGNER SALESPERSON

DRWG.  NO. SCALE: DATE: SHEET NO.

STATE

5.4.17 REVISED WALL SIGNS PER NEW ELEVATIONS, ADDED NEW ELEVS.

5.11.17 UPDATED PYLON FACE SIZES & DETS. PER SURVEY
6.12.17 ADDED OPTION FOR LEXAN FACES w/ NEW RETAINERS

9.12.17 REVISED “FOOD MARKET” LTRS. TO NEW ICON SIGNS

9.12.17 UPDATED WALL SIGN (A) w/ NEW ALDI LOGO

9.22.17 UPDATED PYLON SIGN (C) w/ NEW ALDI LOGO

10.5.17 UPDATED COLOR ELEVATIONS

10.11.17 ADDED 3 MORE OPTIONS PER JST

114’-1½”

SCALE: 1/16” = 1’

15
’-

0”

12’-7 1/2”

5’-2” 5’-2” 5’-2”3’-6” 3’-6”

5’
-2

”

114’-1½”

7’
-0

”

5’-10¾”

114’-1½”
7’

-0
”

5’-10¾”

5’-2” 5’-2” 5’-2”3’-6” 3’-6”

5’
-2

”

SCALE: 1/16” = 1’

SCALE: 1/16” = 1’





PR
O

PO
SE

D 
W

AL
L 

SI
G

N
W

AL
L 

SI
G

N
 M

EE
TI

N
G

 C
O

DE
15

’ T
AL

L,
 1

89
.3

75
 S

F
7’

 T
AL

L,
 4

1.
27

 S
F

W
AL

L 
SI

G
N

 N
EA

R 
M

AX
IM

U
M

 
SQ

UA
RE

 F
O

O
TA

G
E

12
’ T

AL
L,

 1
20

.6
9 

SF











PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 
October 19, 2017 

Studio Q – Special Use Permit 
17708 Oak Park Avenue 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Petitioner, Qiana Grant of Studio Q, is requesting a Special Use Permit to allow a 
recreational business use (including group fitness classes) at 17708 Oak Park Avenue in 
the NG (Neighborhood General) Zoning District. 

Quick Facts from the Application: 
• Total Number of Employees: 4
• Business Functionality: Group dance and fitness classes such as Zumba, hip hop,

yoga, and cycling.
• Hours of Operation:

o Monday – Thursday: 9:00am to 11:00am, 6:00pm to 8:00pm
o Friday: 6:00pm to 8:00pm
o Saturday: 9:00am to 11:00am
o Sunday: Closed

• Total Maximum Number of Participants in Fitness Classes at One Time: 30
• Parking Spaces Allotted to Business: 45

Petitioner 
Qiana Grant of Studio Q 

Property Location 
17708 Oak Park Avenue 

PIN 
28-31-103-026-1002

Zoning 
NG (Neighborhood 
General) 

Approval Sought 
Special Use Permit 

Project Planner 
Stephanie Malmborg, AICP 
Planner I 



Studio Q – 17708 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 2 of 6 

SUMMARY OF OPEN ITEMS 
 
Staff identified the following open items for discussion at the workshop: 
 

1. Consider conditions related to sound. 
2. The Petitioner is required to install a bike rack to provide parking for at least two (2) bikes. 

 
 
EXISTING SITE & HISTORY 
 
The subject property, 17708 Oak Park Avenue, consists of a commercial unit within the Tinley Center commercial 
development. The Petitioner’s proposed tenant space is 1,061 square feet and is bordered by Cuzin’s to the east and 
Gateway Learning Center to the west. The previous tenant was a fitness-related use that provided pole dance fitness 
classes.  
 

 
 
The tenant space faces the interior of the parking lot but has access to Oak Park Avenue through the parking lot. 
There is a large quantity of parking (about 170 parking spaces) in the middle of the commercial buildings and the 
tenant was allotted 45 parking spaces. The site has additional parking behind the west building. 
 

 



Studio Q – 17708 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 3 of 6 

ZONING & NEARBY LAND USES 
 
The subject property (see yellow star on graphic below) is zoned NG (Neighborhood General) and is within the 
Legacy District. According to Section XII.2.D.1. of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance, the NG Zoning District 
is “intended to help transition existing single-family houses and commercial uses into multi-family uses.” This 
property is considered a Heritage Site, otherwise known as a legal nonconforming site, since it is not consistent with 
the Legacy Plan and Legacy Code, which calls for residential uses in this Zoning District.  
 
Nearby land uses include single-family residential and commercial properties to the north (zoned R-4 in light orange 
and NG in purple), single-family attached properties to the south (zoned R-6 in brown), single-family residential to 
the west (zoned R-1 in light yellow), and commercial and mixed-uses across Oak Park Avenue to the east (zoned NG 
in purple). 
 
Some tenants in Tinley Center include Cuzin’s, Gateway Learning Center, Farmers Insurance, and Tinley Park Tax 
Center. 
 

 



Studio Q – 17708 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 4 of 6 

PROPOSED USE 
 
The Petitioner proposes to open a business called Studio Q that provides group fitness classes to clients. The 
proposed fitness classes include Zumba, hip hop, yoga, and cycling. There will be one class taught at a time and 
classes will not overlap because there will be fifteen (15) minutes between classes. Classes will be 30 minutes to 1 
hour long. There will be 25-30 clients per class. The Petitioner anticipates a membership program that will assist 
with anticipating class size. There will be up to four (4) employees. 
 
The Petitioner states that she is a certified dance instructor for Zumba, Werq, and choreography and has worked as 
a dance and fitness instructor at various health and fitness facilities. This will be Studio Q’s first location. 
 
The proposed hours of operation are: 

• Monday – Thursday: 9:00am to 11:00am, 6:00pm to 8:00pm 
• Friday: 6:00pm to 8:00pm 
• Saturday: 9:00am to 11:00am 
• Sunday: Closed 

 
Why the Petitioner Needs a Special Use Permit 
Per Table 3.A.2. within Section XII.3.A., “Amusement and recreation establishments including bowling alleys, billiard 
parlors, coin-operated amusement devices, gymnasiums, swimming pools, dance halls, health clubs, skating rinks 
and other similar places of recreation” are a Special Use in the Legacy District. These types of uses are considered as 
Special Uses because of the possible impacts of such things as parking, loud music playing during fitness classes, 
and hours of operation. The Special Use Permit process provides the Plan Commission the opportunity to place 
certain conditions on the Special Use to mitigate these concerns. 
 
 
SOUND 
 
Studio Q will share walls with Cuzin’s and Gateway Learning Center. The Plan Commission may wish to consider 
conditions related to sound to ensure that the adjacent tenants are not subject to loud music projecting into their 
commercial space. Staff notes that Tinley Park embraces music as our Village’s brand; however, we want to make 
sure that music in commercial spaces is not a nuisance to other businesses or to nearby residents.  
 
Staff recommends conditions consistent with what the Plan Commission recommended for Mile 1 Fitness, which is: 
 
“That sound shall not exceed 50 dB when measured from outside the tenant space (exterior of the building or within 
the adjacent tenant space). Sound shall not cause a nuisance to other tenant spaces or surrounding properties. The 
Petitioner will be required to do soundproofing if there are valid complaints regarding noise.” 
 
Open Item #1: Consider conditions related to sound. 
 
 
  



Studio Q – 17708 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 5 of 6 

PARKING 
 
The site has over 160 parking spaces in the main parking lot with additional parking provided behind the west 
building. The Petitioner states that her lease includes forty-five (45) parking spaces. Parking is also shared 
throughout the site. Staff studied the parking lot to see the parking availability at the Petitioner’s proposed times of 
business. Staff notes that the parking lot consistently had many spaces available during these times. Additionally, 
the proposed hours are limited to a few hours in the morning and evenings and do not overlap normal business 
hours. Many tenants within Tinley Center are by appointment only or offer limited hours. 
 
The tenant/property owner is required install a bike rack that allows parking for two (2) bikes per Section 
XII.2.D.10.c. of the Zoning Ordinance. Since this is part of a large commercial center, the association may wish to 
consider a large shared bike parking area to accommodate the requirements for bike parking for all tenants. Staff 
did not see any bike parking at the site. 
 
Open Item #2: The Petitioner is required to install a bike rack to provide parking for at least two (2) bikes. 
 
 
REQUIRED SITE IMPROVEMENTS 
 
Per Section XII.2.D.11.d. of the Zoning Ordinance, a Special Use triggers certain required improvements. See the 
image of Table 2.D.8. below. 

 

 
 

Staff inspected the site and noted areas where the required improvements could be made. This tenant space is part 
of a larger commercial center with multiple property owners. The building and parking lot are in good shape and do 
not require regular maintenance tasks at this time. The landscaping near the tenant space is non-existent and there 
is not room to add potted plants outside the doorway to attempt to meet the spirit of the landscape requirement 
due to ADA requirements for sidewalk widths in front of the tenant space. The site is nonconforming with respect to 
the intent of the Legacy Plan and Legacy Code, so it will be difficult to achieve changes with the access drive or alley 
due to the constraints of the existing site. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Following a successful workshop, proceed to a Public Hearing at the November 2, 2017 Plan Commission meeting. 
 

  



Studio Q – 17708 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 6 of 6 

STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 
Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 
Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 
will provide draft Findings in the Staff Report for the Public Hearing. 

 
X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

 
b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood; 
 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided; 
 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 
 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 
which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 
pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such 
conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to 
ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon 
other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  
Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 
 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of 
the community as a whole. 

 
It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 
Permit is tied to the Applicant. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever apply 
to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to examine the 
conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 
 
 









1

Stephanie Kisler

From: qiana grant <qiana.grant@yahoo.com>
Sent: Thursday, September 28, 2017 12:06 AM
To: Stephanie Kisler
Subject: Re: Studio Q Special Use Permit Request

 
 
 
1) No, I do not have any other locations. 
 
2) My background woth this type of business os I have been a dancer since I was 5 yrs old including performing 
arts, modern, and praise dance. As well as a former dance/cheer team in grammar school and high school. In 
addition, I am a certified dance instructor of formats such as zumba, (salsa, Latin), Werq ( hip hop/pop 
choreography dance for 12 yrs.  I havr worked as a dance/fitness instructor for various health/ fitness facilities 
such as  women' workout world, la fitness and currently xsport fitness. 
 
3) I will have 4 employees  which will include 4 dance instructors. 
 
4)Hours of operation: 
 
Mon-thurs 
9am-11am 
6pm-8pm 
 
Fri 
6pm-8pm 
 
Sat 
9am-11am 
 
Sun 
Closed 
 
5) A) 
The type of classes will be zumba (salsa, latin), WerQ( pop/hip hop choreography)  
and dancehall/afrobeats. 
B) 
Classes will be 1hr and they will not overlap. There will be  three 30min classes.  
C) Classes will nog overlap, there will be 15mins between each class. 
D) The number of people in class will be 25-30 people. This will also be based on memberships where I can 
keep tract of traffic as well. 
 
6) A)Yes parking is shared between businesses which  are not having traffic at the same time. 



2

B) according to my lanlord, I have 45 parking spaces for the rented space. There is plenty of parking space
during day and evening.
C) There are approximately 125 parking spaces.

8) The other tenents are
1) Gateway learning center-( next door)appt. Only
2)Farmers Insurance(2 doors down)
Mon-fri-9am-5pm, Sat-9am-1p, Sun 9am-1pm
3) Tinley park tax center-appt. Only

4)Cuzins pizza/restaurant &bar- 11am-2am.

9) The music that will be played will be the music for class purposes such as latin, salsa, pop, etc. The music
will be background music and will not disturb any of the other businesses. Also, due to the alternate hours of
some of the other businesses,  music will not be played ay the same time as some operation  hours.
The studio that I am requesting also was a pole studio for 10yrs according to landlord in which there was
various music played that did not interfere  with the other tenents. Also, there is cuzins bar/restaurant where
there is a live band that plays music and a place of recreation, this location is two doors down. Due to my
operatuon hours, the neighborhood businesses will not bw operating during that time, however after playing
music in my studio it is not disturbing to the other businesses.

Sent from Yahoo Mail on Android 

Sent from Yahoo Mail on Android 

Sent from Yahoo Mail on Android 

<skisler@tinleypark.org> wrote: 

Hi Qiana, 

We are working on the next steps for your Special Use Permit request for your business, Studio Q, and I need 
some more information for your application. Please answer the following questions and provide information so 
we can get your request on an upcoming Plan Commission agenda. 

1. Do you have any other locations?



3

  

2.      What is your background with this type of business? 

  

3.      How many employees will you have? Include total and the number of employees that will be at the business 
at any given time. 

  

4.      What are your hours of operation? 

  

5.      Provide more information about the classes: 

a.     Types of classes 

b.     Duration of classes 

c.     Number of people in the classes 

d.     Will classes overlap? 

  

6.      Provide information about parking: 

a.     Is parking shared among all of the businesses in that center? 

b.     Do you have any parking spaces that are specifically dedicated to your business? 

c.     How many spaces are in the parking lot? 

  

7.      Provide a conceptual floor plan for the interior of the space. This can be something you draw out and sketch 
in where you will put your equipment, office, restrooms, etc. 

  

8.      Provide a list of the other tenants in the center. Include their hours of operation. 

  

9.      Provide information about the music that will be played. Our concerns are about the sound and how loud 
music could affect the other businesses near you. Will it just be background music? Have you tried playing 
music in your tenant space and then going to the spaces next door to see if they can hear the music? 

  



4

  

  

Stephanie Kisler, AICP 

Planner I 

(708) 444-5161  |  skisler@tinleypark.org  

  

 

  





PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 
October 19, 2017 

The Residence of Brookside Glen 
Southwest corner of 191st Street and Magnuson Lane 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Petitioner, Andrea Crowley of Griffin & Gallagher, LLC on behalf of Karli Mayher and 
KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture, seeks Site Plan Approval and a Special Use 
Permit for a Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) with three (3) Exceptions from the Zoning Ordinance for front yard setback, building 
height, and parking setback. 

The Petitioner previously requested approval to construct two (2) multi-family residential 
structures with seventy-two (72) dwelling units per building for a total of 144 dwelling 
units. This proposal also included a 3,500± square foot club house, landscaping, and 
various amenities throughout the development. The proposal was not approved by the 
Village Board.   

Subsequent to the non-approval of the two building proposal, the Developer met with 
Village Staff, elected officials, and representatives from the Brookside Glen subdivision to 
address the overall site plan and proposed amenities. Additionally, a community meeting 
was held with Brookside Glen residents, the Village Attorney, and Trustees Mike Glotz and 
Mike Mangin, in response to questions from the residents regarding zoning, past 
approvals, and the Developer’s new proposal.  The Petitioner is currently proposing to 
construct four (4) multi-family residential structures with thirty-six (36) dwelling units per 
building for a total of 144 dwelling units. This proposal also includes a 5,320± square foot 
club house, landscaping, and various amenities throughout the development. 

Petitioner 
Andrea Crowley of Griffin 
& Gallagher, LLC on 
behalf of Karli Mayher 
and KJM-Vandenberg 
Brookside Joint Venture 

Property Location 
SW Corner of 191st Street 
and Magnuson Lane 

PINs 
19-09-11-200-015-0000
19-09-11-200-013-0000

Zoning 
R-5 PUD

Approvals Sought 
Site Plan Approval and 
Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation 
from the Brookside Glen 
Planned Unit 
Development 

Project Planners 

Paula J. Wallrich, AICP 
Interim Community 
Development Director 

Stephanie Malmborg, AICP 
Planner I 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 2 of 23 

SUMMARY OF OPEN ITEMS 
 
Staff identified the following open items for discussion at the workshop: 
 

1. Consider an Exception for the front yard setback to allow the structures to be set back about 18’ to 27’ from 
the east property line. 

2. Consider an Exception for the building height to allow the structures at a maximum building height of 65’. 
3. Minor revisions are required on the Landscape Plan. 
4. Information is needed about the plans for security and management of the property.   
5. Lighting is required near all entrances/exits to the structures. The Petitioner must submit plans showing 

adequate lighting provided by fixtures complimentary to the architectural style of the structures.  
6. Revise elevations to include reddish brown brick accents on the club house. 
7. Provide material sample for the foundation of the building. 

 
 
EXISTING SITE & HISTORY 
 
Note: A detailed outline of the chronology for the subject parcel is attached within the Brookside Glen Timeline document. 
 
The subject site is a 7.65 acre parcel within the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development (PUD). The Brookside 
Glen PUD was approved as part of an annexation of 828 acres in 1990.  Since that time there have been 
amendments to the Agreement as well as several PUD modifications and rezonings.  This is not atypical for a 
property of this size that has had to respond to market trends and fluctuating economic conditions over time.  The 
subject property was originally planned for a mixture of commercial, office/restricted industrial, and residential uses 
(single-family detached, townhomes, and condo/apartments). 
 
In 2000, a Substantial Deviation from the PUD was approved and allowed the developer to construct nine (9) 4-story, 
16 unit condo buildings on the subject site, similar to the housing types that currently exist near the southeast 
corner of 80th Avenue and Greenway Boulevard and Fire Station #4 (known as Brookside Place).  This project was 
never constructed and Staff has been unable to locate final plans for the project. Since that time, there have been a 
few other proposals, including a condominium development proposal with nine 8-unit buildings and one 16-unit 
building submitted in 2007. In 2014, a proposal was submitted for 123 units in 17 buildings comprised of between 4 
to 15 attached single-family rowhouse dwelling units per building. Neither project was approved. 
 
In February, 2016, the Village was approached by the Petitioner, Karli Mayher, who proposed to develop the 7.65 
acre parcel. The initial application and plans were submitted in July 2016. However, her proposal was for two (2) 
buildings instead of the nine (9) buildings that were approved per Ordinance 2000-O-006, yet the proposed 
development maintained the same density (18.8 du/ac) and unit count (144 dwelling units).  As part of the 
Petitioner’s study of the residential market they discovered that financing for condo developments is becoming 
increasingly more difficult due to the subprime mortgage crisis and the trend was moving away from home 
ownership (condos).  
 
The Petitioner’s proposed two (2) building plan was presented to the Plan Commission at the May 18, 2017, June 1, 
2017, and June 28, 2017 meetings. The Plan Commission recommended denial for the Special Use Permit and Site 
Plan. The project was reviewed by the Village Board at the July 10, 2017 meeting where the Village Board voted to 
concur with the Plan Commission and deny approval for the project. Multiple meetings were held between July and 
October 2017 which included Staff, elected officials, the Petitioner, and representatives from the Brookside Glen 
subdivision. The participants discussed alternate plans that would address concerns about the scale of the buildings 
while maintaining valuable amenities and high-quality aesthetics. The current proposed plans are the result of these 
meetings. 
 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 3 of 23 

ZONING & NEARBY LAND USES 
 
According to the Official Zoning Map, the property is zoned R-5 PD (Low Density Residential) and the site is part of 
the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development (PUD). Upon further research by Staff it has been determined that 
the original annexation documents approved R-6 zoning for this property; however, the original rezoning ordinance 
is missing an exhibit that clarifies the locations of each zoning district within the PUD. All references in the 
annexation ordinance point to this site and the location of the existing Brookside Place multi-family structures being 
zoned R-6. Staff notes there is no documentation of rezoning this site to R-5, although the Zoning Map labels the 
site R-5.  
 
The site is bordered by the ComEd transmission lines to the west, B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial 
District) to the east, R-5 PD to the south and southeast and R-2 PD (Single-Family Residential) to the far south.   The 
site is located within the Urban Design Overlay District (UD-1) that is intended to regulate non-residential buildings 
to “accommodate the automobile, but are primarily designed to promote non-motorized and public transportation 
movements to, within, and among properties”. UD-1 attempts to create a streetscape that is defined by buildings 
rather than parking lots.  Although this is a residential building, it has some commercial ”character” due to its scale, 
surface parking, and recreational component (club house); therefore, Staff supports aspects of the Site Plan that are 
consistent with the UD-1 Overlay District. Additionally, there will eventually be commercial development to the east 
which will need to comply with the regulations for the UD-1 Overlay District. 
 

 
Graphic Showing Zoning in the Vicinity of the Site According to the Zoning Map 

 
  



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 4 of 23 

Surrounding land uses include vacant property to the 
east that is planned and zoned for commercial uses.  
A municipal pumping station is located immediately 
to the south and a townhome development exists to 
the southeast with 2-story structures housing 4-6 
units per structure.   
 
East of 80th Avenue there are other planned 
commercial uses that are vacant in addition to 
townhomes and 4-story multi-family condominium 
buildings of 16 units each. These multi-family 
structures are designed similarly to the proposed 
project in that they are effectively 5-story buildings 
due to the semi-underground parking garage. A 
detention pond is located to the north of the subject site and functions as a buffer to 191st Street. The Wolverine 
Pipeline traverses the site (east to west) just north of the pumping station. 
 
The underlying zoning district of R-5 provides for certain bulk regulations, as does the UD-1.  As a Planned Unit 
Development, deviations from these requirements are considered ‘exceptions’ and are not reviewed as a ‘true’ 
variation from the Zoning Ordinance; instead, they are reviewed in context of the approved PUD.  The Commission 
may wish to evaluate these deviations using the PUD Standards and Criteria for a PUD (Sections VII.C.1. and VII.C.3). 
As a Special Use, Staff will provide Findings of Fact at the Public Hearing consistent with the Special Use standards in 
Section X.J.5 of the Zoning Ordinance.  Any exceptions that Staff has noted during the review are identified 
throughout this report. 
 
The Village’s Comprehensive Plan indicates the subject site as residential. 
 

 
Excerpt from the Village’s Comprehensive Plan (2000); Subject Site Noted with Blue Rectangle  

  



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 5 of 23 

SPECIAL USE PERMIT REQUEST 
 
The issue before the Plan Commission is approval of a Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) approved in 1990 and the subsequent Substantial Deviation in 2000.  For the past 27 years this 
PUD has evolved; reacting to market demands and economics.  See the attached timeline for specific references to 
approvals and ordinances related to this property. The original PUD of 828 acres provided for a mix of uses as 
illustrated below.  The Annexation Agreement (90-R-002) references this exhibit (Exhibit C) and the proposed 
location of uses.  The subject property (Part of Parcel C) is highlighted in yellow.   
 

 
Excerpt of Exhibit C within Resolution 90-R-002 with “Parcel C” Areas Highlighted 

 
The Petitioner’s request is to deviate from Ordinance 2000-O-006 (Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen 
PUD), which approved nine (9) structures of sixteen (16) dwelling units each for this property (total of 144 units) to 
construct four (4) structures of thirty-six (36) dwelling units each (total of 144 units) and a club house with a pool 
and other various residential amenities. 

 
The Petitioner is not requesting a rezoning of the property.  The zoning on the subject property was established as 
part of the original PUD upon annexation in 1990.  The Annexation Agreement references zoning for this area (see 
90-R-002). There was no specific development proposal for Parcel C until 1999-2000 when the a developer 
requested a Substantial Deviation that would reduce the townhome area planned within the PUD in exchange for an 
increase in the number of single-family homes and an increase in the building height for the condominiums 
proposed for Parcel C.  The only reference to rezoning in the Substantial Deviation in 2000 was for a portion of the 
townhome area (R-5) to be rezoned to (R-2) Single-Family Residential. 

 
 

  



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 6 of 23 

UNDERSTANDING PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS (PUDs) 
 
In 1990, the annexation of 828 acres was a significant endeavor for the Village of Tinley Park.  To plan for a 
development of this magnitude, the Village utilized a common master planning technique by annexing the parcel as 
a PUD.  It is important to understand that a PUD inherently provides flexibility in its planning and zoning.  The PUD 
approved in 1990 provided a master plan for the 828 acre property as a guide to its future potential.  As stated in 
Section VII of the Zoning Ordinance, the purpose of a Planned Unit Development is “to facilitate and encourage the 
construction of imaginative and coordinated developments and to provide relief from the subdivision and zoning 
requirements which are designed for conventional developments, but which may inhibit innovation of design and 
cause undue hardship with regard to developing a parcel of land to its best possible use.”  When analyzing a 
development proposal in a PUD the underlying zoning is ‘suspended’ and the review is guided by the overall intent 
of the PUD and the standards established for Special Uses (Section X.5.) and Planned Unit Developments (Section 
VII.C.)  Staff has prepared findings utilizing these standards in the section below. 
 

EXCEPTIONS 
 
The Petitioner requests the following Exceptions from the Zoning Ordinance: 
 

1. Building Setback 
The proposed Site Plan shows the residential structures at front yard setbacks that vary from about 18’ to 
27’ from the east property line. As seen in the table below, the proposed building setbacks straddle the two 
front yard setback regulations. As a point of reference, the Brookside Place development has similar scale 
with respect to height and has front yard setbacks ranging from 24’ to 30’. The intent of both the R-6 and 
UD-1 regulations is met by the proposed setbacks since the buildings front the street while also maintaining 
a distance similar to Brookside Place. 
 

R-6 Front Yard Setback 
Requirement for  

Multi-Family Structures 

UD-1 Front Yard Setback 
Requirement Proposed Setbacks 

25’ minimum 20’ maximum About 18’ – 27’ 

 
It is important to consider the scale of the building when thinking about the most suitable setbacks. Due to 
the height and scale of the buildings, increased setbacks provide opportunity for additional landscaping and 
berming against the foundation wall. Additionally, the curvature of the street and the resulting sight lines 
along with the curvature of the building façade serve to minimize the scale of the building. This all 
contributes to the mitigation of the scale of the building and provide for a more pedestrian scale to the 
streetscape.  
 
Open Item #1: Consider an Exception for the front yard setback to allow the structures to be set back 
about 18’ to 27’ from the east property line. 
 
 

2. Building Height 
The Petitioner requests an Exception from the Zoning Ordinance and the previous Substantial Deviation 
(Ordinance 2000-O-006) to allow for the residential structures to be taller than what is allowed. The 
proposed increase in height provides an amenity for those dwelling units by offering floor-to-ceiling 
windows on the fourth floor and the end units on the third floor. Additionally, the height provides for 
varying roof heights thus breaking up a large expanse of roof area; this creates an aesthetically pleasing roof 
line that adds variety to the look of the top of the structure. 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 7 of 23 

The table below compares the proposed structures to the existing multi-family residential structures known 
as Brookside Place (located east of 80th Avenue along Greenway Boulevard) and provides the regulations 
from the Zoning Ordinance and the previous Substantial Deviation (Ordinance 2000-O-006). As the table 
indicates, although the proposed buildings are approximately ten feet (10’) taller at the highest point (the 
middle roof), the actual elevation will be consistent with Brookside Place since the elevation at the subject 
site is approximately ten feet (10’) lower than the elevation at Brookside Place.  
 
 

Residence of 
Brookside Glen 

Brookside Place 

Difference 
Between 

Residence & 
Brookside 

Place  

Zoning 
Ordinance 
Regulation 

(R-6) 

Ordinance 
2000-O-006 
Regulation 

Number of Stories 
4 + semi-

underground 
parking garage 

4 + semi-
underground 

parking garage 
none - 4 

Mean Roof Height* 64’-11.75” 55’-5.25” 9’-6.5” 40’ 56’ 

Maximum Overall 
Height of Building 

72’-2.375” 62’-3.25” 9’-11.125” - - 

Garage Floor 
Elevation 700.5’ – 702’ 710’ – 713’ 10.5’ – 12.5’ - - 

Elevation at Top of 
Roof 

772’-8.375” –  
774’-2.375” 

772’-3.25” –  
775’-3.25” 

5” – 1’-1” - - 

* This is the “Building Height” as defined in Section II in the Zoning Ordinance. 
 

 
Renderings of Building from The Residence of Brookside Glen and Building at Brookside Place 

 
Staff also notes that the units in the proposed Residence of Brookside Glen will have taller ceilings than the 
units within the existing Brookside Place buildings. The taller ceiling height is an additional amenity for the 
dwelling units and will make the space feel larger while providing more natural light through larger windows. 
The table below illustrates the difference in the heights. 
 

 Residence of 
Brookside Glen Brookside Place Difference  

First Floor 14’ 10’-10” +3’-2” 

Typical Floor 10’ 9’-4” +8” 

Top Floor 14’ 8’-6” +5’-6” 

 
Open Item #2: Consider an Exception for the building height to allow the structures at a maximum 
building height of 65’. 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 8 of 23 

SITE PLAN & DETAILS 
 
The Petitioner submitted revised plans on October 2, 2017. These plans include four (4) multi-family residential 
structures with thirty-six (36) dwelling units per building for a total of 144 dwelling units. The floor plan shows a 
mixture of one and two bedroom units. The plans indicate a semi-underground parking garage connecting the 
residential structures and club house along the curvature of Magnuson Lane/Greenway Boulevard. The first floors 
of the residential structures are connected by outdoor terraces with partial green roofs. The Petitioner has 
increased the size of the original proposal and included a second floor per Staff request. It is located in the center of 
the development and includes various indoor and outdoor amenities, such as a fitness center, pool, and cabanas. 
The leasing office is located on the first floor. The new elevations show balconies for each unit and floor-to-ceiling 
windows for the fourth floor units and some third floor units. 
 

 
 

Proposed Site Plan 
 
Landscape Plan 
The proposed Landscape Plan provides plant material throughout the site. The Village’s Landscape Architect 
identified minor revisions for the Landscape Plan, including:  

• creating more groupings of plants rather than linear patterns;  
• relocating some plant material to provide shade in the parking lot and drive aisles; and 
• removing the mulch only areas in the parking lot.  

 
The Petitioner stated that they are willing to comply with all Village requirements for landscaping. The Plan 
Commission may consider approving the plans conditioned upon final review by the Village’s Landscape Architect 
and Staff. 
 
Open Item #3: Minor revisions are required on the Landscape Plan. 
 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 9 of 23 

 
Proposed Landscape Plan 

 
Parking & Circulation 
The Petitioner’s proposed Site Plan includes parking behind the buildings as well as within a semi-underground 
garage. The plans include 144 dwelling units, so 360 parking spaces are required per Section VIII.A.10. of the Zoning 
Ordinance (144 x 2.5 spaces per dwelling unit = 360). The Petitioner is providing 296 spaces upon initial 
construction, which yields 2.05 parking spaces per unit. The additional 64 parking spaces will be land banked and 
will be completed if Staff identifies a need for additional parking in the future.  
 

Parking Breakdown 
• Garage Spaces: 171 
• Exterior Spaces: 125 
• Exterior Spaces (Land Banked): 64 
• Total Parking Spaces: 360 

 
The Petitioner does not anticipate the need for 2.5 parking spaces per unit, especially since there are 60 one 
bedroom units. The Petitioner anticipates that 2 spaces per dwelling will be sufficient since the unit mix is only 
composed of one and two bedroom units. In addition, the development will be marketed to young professionals 
that are seeking access to public transportation and therefore often require only one (1) vehicle per household. The 
Petitioner has agreed to land bank parking spaces and construct them if needed in the future. This requires 
providing space for parking but not improving it until a need is established. As a result this will create additional 
green space for the development until such time as the parking is needed (or not needed). The parking areas that 
will be land banked will be spaces located nearest Magnuson Lane, thereby parking will primarily be located behind 
the structures to meet the intent of the Urban Design Overlay District This would not necessarily constitute an 
exception since the total number of required parking spaces will be provided. This is an acceptable practice within 
the context of a PUD. Staff recommends notation of the land banking as part of the Special Use conditions. 
 
The site will be accessed by 80th Avenue or 191st Street via Greenway Boulevard/Magnuson Lane. The site has a total 
of four (4) curb cuts along Magnuson Lane – one at the north end, one at the south end (which will also allow access 
to the existing pumping station), and two for a circle drive at the club house that is centered along the curve of the 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 10 of 23 

street. The Petitioner provided a turning radius analysis per the Fire Department requirements and the analysis 
indicates that the proposed Site Plan provides satisfactory widths for the life safety purposes. 
 
Residents voiced concern about how the addition of 144 dwelling units at this site may impact traffic on nearby 
streets. One of the Village’s Engineering Consultants, Robinson Engineering, provided a memo discussing traffic near 
Brookside Glen at 191st Street and 80th Avenue (attached).  Chris King, PE, noted that the western portion of 
Greenway Boulevard/Magnuson Lane must be reconstructed and connected north to 191st Street. According to the 
memo, most trips will occur at the new connection at Greenway Boulevard/Magnuson Lane and 191st Street rather 
than at Greenway Boulevard and 80th Avenue. Additionally, intersection improvements are planned for the 
intersection of 191st Street and 80th Avenue and Will County plans to design the improvements in 2019 and 
construct the improvements in 2020. 
 
Additionally, in an attempt to meet the intent of the Urban Design Overlay District’s regulations, the Petitioner has 
located the majority of the surface parking behind the buildings. The regulations call for parking to be set back a 
minimum of twenty-five feet (25’) in front yards. All parking areas meet this requirement with the exception of the 
guest parking spaces nearest the club house. 
 
Trash Enclosures 
There are two (2) exterior dumpster enclosures proposed. One is located in the northwest corner of the site (north 
of Building 4) and one is located at the south end of the site (just south of Building 1). The enclosures will be 
constructed with face brick to match the exterior building materials on the residential structures. Additionally, the 
Petitioner notes that the buildings will have interior trash rooms for where residents will dispose of their trash. The 
management will be responsible for bringing the trash from the interior collection room to the exterior enclosure. 
 
Distance from Adjacent Townhomes 
The residents in the nearby townhomes were concerned with the distance between the proposed buildings and the 
existing townhomes. Building 1 (south building) of the proposed multi-family structure will be close to  200 feet from 
the existing townhome structure near the south end of the site. 
 

 
Graphic Showing Distance Between Existing Townhome and Proposed Building #1 

 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 11 of 23 

Security & Management 
During the previous plan review, residents expressed some concerns about security and property management. Per 
Staff’s request the Petitioner researched other comparable multi-family residential developments in order to 
compare best practices. A table with the Petitioner’s research is provided below. The Petitioner will provide 
additional information about the proposed security and management of the development at the Plan Commission 
meeting. 
 

Residential 
Development 

# of 
Units 

Security 
Cameras 

Cameras 
Monitored 

Door
man 

On-Site 24/7 
Maintenance 

Management 
Hours  

(Monday-Friday) 

Management 
Hours 

(Saturday) 

Management 
Hours  

(Sunday) 
Ninety7Fifty 295 Yes As needed No On Call 

Emergency 
8am-5pm On Call 

Emergency 
On Call 

Emergency 
Orland 
Crossing 

231 Yes As needed No On Call 
Emergency 

9am-6pm 10am -5pm 12pm - 5pm 

Avant Lisle 310 Yes As needed No On Call 
Emergency 

9am-6pm 12pm -6 pm 12pm - 5pm 

Amli Deerfield 240 Yes As needed No On Call 
Emergency 

10 am -6 pm 10 am -6 pm 12pm - 5pm 

Amli 7 Bridges 520 No N/A No Yes 10 am -6 pm 12pm -6 pm 12pm - 5pm 

Amli St. 
Charles 

400 No N/A No On Call 
Emergency 

10 am -6 pm 12pm -6 pm 12pm - 5pm 

The Residences 
at the Grove 

296 Yes As needed No On Call 
Emergency 

9am-6pm 9am-5pm 12pm -5pm 

 
Open Item #4: Information is needed about the plans for security and management of the property. 
 
Lighting 
The Petitioner’s plans show lighting throughout the private parking lot and drive aisles. The Photometric Plan does 
not indicate the use of wall sconces. Lighting should be added near the entrance/exit doors on each building. 
 

 
Photometric Plan with Lighting Areas Highlighted 

 
Open Item #5: Lighting is required near all entrances/exits to the structures. The Petitioner must submit plans 
showing adequate lighting provided by fixtures complimentary to the architectural style of the structures. 
 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 12 of 23 

Amenities 
The Petitioner is providing numerous amenities for the future tenants at the site, including: 

1. Semi-underground garage parking 
2. A 5,320± square foot club house 

a. Fitness center 
b. Locker rooms 
c. Billiard room 
d. Lounge 
e. Office 
f. Party room 
g. Free Wi-Fi 

3. Outdoor pool 
a. Cabanas 
b. Fire pit 
c. Seating areas 

4. Outdoor terraces 
a. Grilling stations with sink 
b. Seating areas 
c. Fireplace/fire pits 
d. Pergola 
e. Green roofs 

5. Outdoor gaming areas 
6. Bike storage 
7. Electric car charging stations 
8. Disk golf baskets 
9. Outdoor exercise circuits 
10. Fireplace/fire pits with pergolas 
11. Open space 
12. Dog park 

 
Dog Park 
Based on discussions at the previous Plan Commission meetings and small group meetings over the last few 
months the Petitioner relocated the dog park to the north end of the site. The south end will remain green for 
passive open space. Staff also notes that some of this south green space includes land banked parking. 
 
 
  



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 13 of 23 

ARCHITECTURE 
 
The four (4) proposed residential structures will all be architecturally identical. The structures include a semi-
underground parking garage and four (4) stories of residential dwellings. The building height is about 65’ (see the 
discussion within the Exceptions – Building Height section of this report for more information). The architecture 
includes some aspects of a prairie style with the slope of the roof and transom windows.  The floor to ceiling 
windows add distinction reflective of loft type architecture.  
 
The fully masonry structure includes a roof line is varied to provide enhanced architectural interest helping to break 
up the expanse of the roof. Articulation is provided along all building facades to create visual interest and shadow 
lines. The entrance provides a focal point with the center of the structure being the tallest. The Petitioner is also 
berming the base of the structure with landscaping at varied heights to minimize exposure of the parking level. 
Terraces above the parking level connect the residential structures to a centrally-located club house. The roof 
terraces are screened from Magnuson Lane with the heavily landscaped foundation and green roof. 
 
Although the primary access is from the west side of the structure, access has also been provided on the east 
façade to activate the street face. This is consistent with the intent of the Overlay District.  This will be important as 
future commercial areas develop across the street. 
 

 
Elevation of One Residential Building (Parking Lot/West Side of Building) 

 

 
Elevation of One Residential Building (Magnuson Lane/East Side of Building) 

 
  



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 14 of 23 

Club House 
The club house is centrally located with access from a circle drive off of Magnuson Lane. The structure has ground 
level access on the east and west side of the building and the parking garage traverses through the lower level. The 
upper level provides a 5,320± square foot space with various amenities, including a fitness center and event space.  
Then architecture also encompasses some aspects of Prairie architecture consistent with the residential buildings.  
A final color rendering will be provided at the meeting. 
 

 
Rendering of the East Side of the Club House 

Dwelling Units 
The buildings will have a mixture of one and two bedroom dwelling units totaling thirty-six (36) units per building. 
The one bedroom units are 801 square feet, which meets the Village’s minimum requirement of 800 square feet per 
Section V.C.2. of the Zoning Ordinance. The two bedroom units range in size from 1,140 to 1,155 square feet, which 
meets the Village’s minimum requirement of 1,000 square feet. The proposed development will have a total of 60 
one bedroom units and 84 two bedroom units. 
 

Dwelling Unit Breakdown (Per Building) 
• First Floor: 10 (4 one bedroom, 6 two bedroom) 
• Second Floor: 10 (4 one bedroom, 6 two bedroom) 
• Third Floor: 10 (4 one bedroom, 6 two bedroom) 
• Fourth Floor: 6 (3 one bedroom, 3 two bedroom) 

 
Building Materials 
The Petitioner proposes to use a thin brick that is precast into a panel. These panels have horizontal seams rather 
than vertical seams like some commercial precast panels, so the transition from one panel to the next would be 
unnoticeable. The Petitioner provided an attachment that outlines other locations where this type of panel has been 
used on residential buildings. This material is more expensive than traditional brick but saves cost in labor. Due to 
the construction method and use of concrete, this type of construction is considered to be more sound proof and 
stronger in structural durability. 
 

 
Photo of Material Sample – Side View of Panel 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 15 of 23 

The proposed color for the residential structures is a reddish brown while the club house is a beige color. Staff notes 
that the club house should be differentiated from the residential buildings; however, the club house should 
incorporate some of the same reddish brown brick color for consistency. 
 
Open Item #6: Revise elevations to include reddish brown brick accents on the club house. 
 

  
Photo of Red/Brown Brick Material Sample Photo of Beige Brick Material Sample 

 
The Petitioner has not yet provided a material sample for the precast panels along the parking level. The elevations 
indicate that these precast panels will be stained and stamped with a stone pattern (see image below) 
 
Open Item #7: Provide material sample for the foundation of the building. 
 

 
Elevation Showing Precast Stained and Stamped Foundation Material 

 

  



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 16 of 23 

SIGNAGE 
 
The Petitioner’s current plans propose two (2) freestanding signs – one positioned near the north end of the 
property and one near the south end of the property. The proposed sign matches the proposed building materials 
located along the foundation of the building. Staff provides an analysis of the proposed sign versus the Sign 
Regulations within Section IX of the Zoning Ordinance below. The proposed sign meets the applicable codes. 
 

 
 
 

 Proposed Allowed by Code Difference 
Number of Signs 2 1 per entrance; 

3 (north, club house, and south entrances) 
-1 

Maximum Sign Face Area 5.33 SF each 5 SF per acre; max of 30 SF; 
7.65 x 5 = 38.25 SF, except 30 SF max 

-24.67 

Maximum Height 2’8” 5’ -2’4” 
 
  



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 

Page 17 of 23 

RECOMMENDATION 

Following a successful workshop, proceed to a Public Hearing at the November 2, 2017 Plan Commission meeting. 

ATTACHMENTS 

The following attachments correspond to the proposed project and are included in the Plan Commission Meeting 
Packet for October 19, 2017:  

1. Revised Applications
2. Revised Plans
3. Market Study Summary by Tracy Cross & Associates, Inc.
4. Summary Planning Analysis by Tracy Cross & Associates, Inc.
5. Public Comments Response by Tracy Cross & Associates, Inc.
6. Plan Commission Minutes from 4/15/1999, 8/5/1999, 9/16/1999, 5/18/2017, 6/1/2017, and 6/28/2017
7. Plan Commission Staff Reports from 5/18/2017, 6/1/2017, and 6/28/2017
8. Village Board Minutes from 9/7/1999, 9/21/1999, 2/15/2000, and 7/11/2017
9. Revised Brookside Glen PUD Timeline
10. Density Memo by Paula Wallrich
11. Traffic Memo by Chris King  



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 18 of 23 

STANDARDS AND CRITERIA FOR PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS 
 
Section VII.C. of the Zoning Ordinance provides standards and criteria for Planned Unit Developments. Staff will 
provide draft responses for each of these standards in the next Staff Report for the Plan Commission’s 
consideration. The Plan Commission may add or delete from these findings based on testimony and discussion 
resulting from Public Hearing testimony. 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR ALL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS: 
 

a. The site of the proposed Planned Unit Development is not less than five (5) acres in area, is under single 
ownership and/or unified control, and is suitable to be planned and developed, or redeveloped, as a unit 
and in a manner consistent with the purpose and intent of this Ordinance and with the Comprehensive Plan 
of the Village; 
 

b. The Planned Unit Development will not substantially injure, or damage the use, value, and enjoyment of the 
surrounding property, nor hinder or prevent the development of surrounding property in accordance with 
the Land Use Plan of the Village; 
 

c. The uses permitted in the development are necessary or desirable and that the need for such uses has been 
clearly demonstrated; 

 
d. The proposed development will not impose an undue burden on public facilities and services, such as sewer 

and water systems, police, and fire protection; 
 

e. The proposed development can be substantially completed within the period of time specified in the 
schedule of development submitted by the developer; 

 
f. The street system serving the Planned Unit Development is adequate to carry the traffic that will be imposed 

upon the streets by the proposed development, and that the streets and driveways on the site of the 
Planned Unit Development will be adequate to serve the residents or occupants of the proposed 
development; 

 
g. When a Planned Unit Development proposes the use of private streets, common driveways, private 

recreation facilities, or common open space, the developer shall provide and submit, as part of the 
application, the method and arrangement whereby these private facilities shall be operated and maintained; 

 
h. The general development plan shall contain such proposed covenants, easements, and other provisions 

relating to the bulk, location, and density of residential buildings, non-residential uses and structures, and 
public facilities as are necessary for the welfare of the Planned Unit Development and the Village.  All such 
covenants shall specifically provide for enforcement by the Village of Tinley Park in addition to the 
landowners within the development; 

 
i. The developer shall provide and record easements and covenants, and shall make such other arrangements 

as furnishing a performance bond, escrow deposit, or other financial guarantees as may be reasonably be 
required to assure performance in accordance with the development plan and to protect the public interest 
in the event of abandonment of said plan before completion; and 

 
j. Any exceptions or modifications of the zoning, subdivision, or other regulations that would otherwise be 

applicable to the site are warranted by the design of the proposed development plan, and the amenities 
incorporated in it, are consistent with the general interest of the public. 

 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 19 of 23 

RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS:   
(It is important to note that these standards are customarily applied for the adoption of a new PUD, not a Substantial 
Deviation, and therefore some have limited applicability) 
 

a. The density of any Residential Planned Unit Development shall not exceed the density allowed in the district 
in which the Planned Unit Development is located, except the Plan Commission may recommend, and the 
Village Board may grant, an increase in the density up to but not more than twenty (20) percent, provided 
the proposed development provides additional open space and amenities to compensate for the increased 
density.  The Plan Commission, in determining the reasonableness of a proposed increase in the number of 
dwelling units per acre, shall take into consideration: 
(1) The physical characteristics of the site that may make increased densities appropriate in the particular 

location; 
(2) The amount, location, and proposed use of common open space;  
(3) The location, design, and type of dwelling units proposed; and  
(4) The provision of unique design features such as golf courses, lakes, swimming pools, underground 

parking, and other similar features within the Planned Unit Development, which require unusually high 
development costs and which achieve an especially attractive and stable development.  Land within the 
Planned Unit Development, which is used for open space, may be included as gross area for calculations 
of density. 

 
b. When a Planned Unit Development is proposed in a single-family residential zone, seventy (70) percent of all 

dwelling units proposed within the zone shall be intended for single-family occupancy.  For the purpose of 
this Section, a townhouse shall be considered as a single-family dwelling; 

 
c. No minimum lot area is required for individual buildings, except that individual lots for single-family 

detached dwellings, which may be provided within the overall Planned Unit Development, shall not be less 
than six thousand five hundred (6,500) square feet in area and single-family attached and semi-detached 
dwelling units not less than three thousand (3,000) square feet of lot area; 

 
d. Not more than six (6) dwelling units shall be permitted in a single-family attached building.  “Single-Family 

Attached Building” is defined as a building containing two or more single-family attached dwelling units 
joined at one or more points by one or more party walls or common facilities not including the walls of an 
enclosed courtyard or similar area; 

 
e. When single-family attached dwellings are proposed within a Residential Planned Unit Development, the 

front or rear facade of a dwelling unit shall not be less than sixty (60) feet from the front or rear facade of 
another dwelling unit.  The unattached side face of a single-family attached building shall not be less than 
twenty (20) feet from the side face of another such building and not less than forty (40) feet from the front 
or rear face of another such building or unit; 

 
f. No dwelling unit shall be situated so as to face the rear of another dwelling unit unless adequate 

landscaping is provided to effectively create a visual separation; 
 

g. Non-residential or local business-type uses (limited to those permitted in the B-1 Neighborhood Shopping 
District) may be included as part of a Residential Planned Unit Development when the Plan Commission 
finds that: 
(1) Such business uses are beneficial to the overall Residential Planned Unit Development and will not be 

injurious to adjacent or neighboring properties;  
(2) Such uses are not available within reasonable proximity of the subject area;  
(3) Are gauged primarily for the service and convenience of the residents of the subject area; and 
(4) Are designed as a unit of limited size and made an integral part of the proposed    Residential Planned 

Unit Development. 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 20 of 23 

 
h. Combination of business and multiple-family residential uses in one structure may be permitted in a 

structure provided that: 
(1) The business uses are limited to personal services and convenience type uses  intended solely for the 

purpose of serving those residing in the multiple-family complex; and 
(2) No businesses are permitted on the same floor or above a floor used for residential purposes. 

 
i. Ten (10) percent of the gross land area of a Planned Unit Development, or a minimum of seven hundred 

fifty (750) square feet per dwelling unit, whichever is greater, shall be developed for recreational open 
space; except that in multiple-family areas, the minimum square feet per dwelling unit shall be computed 
on the basis of two hundred (200) square feet for each efficiency and one (1) bedroom unit, three hundred 
fifty (350) square feet for each two (2) bedroom units, and five hundred fifty (550) square feet for each three 
(3) or more bedroom units.  When private common open space is provided within a Planned Unit 
Development, such open space shall not be computed as part of the required minimum lot area, or any 
required yard, or any other structure.  Open spaces proposed for either dedication to the public or common 
ownership by the residents of the Residential Planned Unit Development shall be retained as open space for 
park and recreational use for the life of the Planned Unit Development.  A variety of open space and 
recreational areas is encouraged, including children’s informal play in close proximity to individual dwelling 
units according to the concentration of dwellings, formal parks, picnic areas, playgrounds, areas of formal 
recreational activities such as tennis, swimming, golf, etc.; 

 
j. Each Residential Planned Unit Development shall provide for the visual and acoustical privacy of each 

dwelling unit.  Fences, walks, and landscaping shall be provided for the protection and aesthetic 
enhancement of property and the privacy of its occupants, screening of objectionable views, or uses and 
reduction of noise;  
 

k. The pedestrian circulation system and its related walkways shall be insulated as completely as possible from 
the street system in order to provide separation of pedestrian and vehicular movements.  This shall include, 
when deemed to be necessary by the Plan Commission, pedestrian underpasses or overpasses in the 
vicinity of schools, playgrounds, local shopping areas, and other neighborhood uses which generate a 
considerable amount of pedestrian traffic; 

 
l. At least two (2) off-street parking spaces shall be provided for each dwelling unit, except as may be 

otherwise required.  Such parking shall be provided convenient to all dwelling units (not more than three 
hundred (300) feet from the dwelling unit as measured along the shortest paved route).  Driveways, parking 
areas, walks, and steps shall be well paved, maintained, and lighted for night use.  Screening of parking and 
service areas shall be encouraged through ample use of trees, shrubs, hedges, and screening walls; 

 
m. Access and circulation shall adequately provide for firefighting equipment, delivery trucks, furniture moving 

vans, refuse collection, and snow removal; 
 

n. All Residential Planned Unit Developments shall provide for underground installation of utilities, including 
telephone and power, in both public and private rights-of-way.  Provision shall be made for acceptable 
design and construction of storm sewer facilities, including water retention areas, grading, gutters, piping, 
and treatment of turf to handle stormwater, prevent erosion, and formation of dust; 

 
o. All buildings within a Residential Planned Unit Development shall be set back not less than twenty-five (25) 

feet from a public dedicated street, and along the exterior boundaries not adjoining a street, there shall be a 
minimum setback of forty (40) feet plus one (1) foot for each additional foot that the building increases in 
height over thirty-five (35) feet; 

 



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 21 of 23 

p. A twenty (20) foot buffer including, but not limited to, solid fences, masonry walls, or plant materials, shall 
be provided so as to constitute the visual screening of all parking areas and outdoor activity areas from 
adjacent property or rights-of-way at ground level.  Where a buffer already exists on the adjacent property 
line, or where parking areas or similar activity areas adjoin each other on adjacent properties, the buffer 
requirements may be waived by the Plan Commission; and 

 
q. When the development is to be constructed in stages or units, a sequence of development schedules shall 

be provided showing the order of construction of each principal functional element of such stages or units, 
the approximate completion date for each stage or unit, and a cost estimate for all improvements within 
each stage or unit. 

 
 
STANDARDS FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL 
 
Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that Planning Staff must find that the conditions listed below must 
be met. Staff will prepare draft responses for these conditions within the next Staff Report. 
 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 
 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and 
drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.   

 
c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for 

safe, efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent roadways as 
well. 

 
d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  

 
e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter (including 

public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony with adjacent land 
uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any part of the Site Plan area not used for 
buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and 
shrubs. 

 
f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 

 
  



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 22 of 23 

STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 
Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 
Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 
will provide draft Findings in the Staff Report for the Public Hearing. 

 
X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

 
b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood; 
 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided; 
 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 
 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 
which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 
pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such 
conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to 
ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon 
other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  
Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 
 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of 
the community as a whole. 

 
 
  



The Residence of Brookside Glen – SWC of 191st Street & Magnuson Lane 
 

Page 23 of 23 

LIST OF REVIEWED PLANS 
 
 

Submitted Sheet Name 
Prepared 

By 
Date On 

Sheet 
A100 Coversheet ASL 09/26/2017 
A101 Schematic Site Plan ASL 09/26/2017 
A102 Land Banked Parking Plan ASL 09/26/2017 
A103 Schematic Site Plan – Distance Study ASL 09/26/2017 
A104 Ground Signage ASL 09/26/2017 
A105 Refuse Enclosure Details ASL 09/26/2017 
A106 Turn Radius ASL 09/26/2017 
A107 Building Elevation ASL 09/26/2017 
A108 Building Elevations ASL 09/26/2017 
A109 Building Elevation        ASL 09/26/2017 
A110 Typical Garage Level ASL 09/26/2017 
A111 Typical Residential Floor ASL 09/26/2017 
A112 Top Floor Plan ASL 09/26/2017 
A113 Club House Rendering ASL 09/26/2017 
A114 Club House Elevations ASL 09/26/2017 
A115 Club House Elevations ASL 09/26/2017 
A116 Club House Lower Level ASL 09/26/2017 
A117 2nd Floor Club House ASL 09/26/2017 
A118 Photometrics ASL 09/26/2017 
A119 Lighting Cut Sheets ASL 09/26/2017 
A120 Images of Amenities ASL 09/26/2017 
A121 Railing Detail Precast Detail ASL 09/26/2017 
A122 Rendering ASL 09/26/2017 
A123 Comparison ASL 09/26/2017 
A124 Overall Garage Plan ASL 09/26/2017 
A125 Prelim Grading ASL 09/26/2017 

A101 A Site Plan (Revised Club House Parking and Setbacks Labeled) ASL 10/13/2017 
 









   

   

                

            

     

  
              

             

             

              

              

                 

             

               

               

            

             

             

                

              

               

                  

              

                 

            

               

                  

              

                

       

               

                

               

              

               

              

                 

             







    

               

            

              

                 

         

               

               

                  

               

          



     

               

              

                 

               

               

              

                   

            

     

                

              

              

              

                   

 

               

           

              

               

                

                

                 

           

               

   

                

              

        

                 

         



               

             

                  

             

                 

                 

           

              

               

               

       

                

                  

                

               

               

      



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
1
:4

1
 P

M

A100

Coversheet

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

SAS

Checker

The Proposed 

Residence of Brookside Glen

Developer:

KJM Development

Architect:

Architectural Studio, Ltd

Developer:

14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854
Email: 
scott.s@archstudioltd.net
www.archstudioltd.net

Landscape Architect:

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street, 
Suite 135
Tel: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
Email: sgregory@eea-ltd.com 
www.eea-ltd.com

Civil Engineer:

KDC 
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Tel: 708-645-0545
Fax: 
Email: chaff@aol.com

Location Map

No. Description Date

Sheet List

Sheet
Number Sheet Name

Sheet Issue
Date

A100 Coversheet 10/01/17

A101 Schemtic Site Plan 10/01/17

A102 Land Banked Parking Plan 10/01/17

A103 Schematic Site Plan
Distance Study

10/02/17

A104 Ground Sigange 10/02/17

A105 Refuse Enclosure Details 10/02/17

A106 Turn Radius 10/02/17

A107 Building Elevation 10/01/17

A108 Building Elevations 10/01/17

A109 Buiding Elevaiton 10/01/17

A110 Typical Garage Level 10/01/17

A111 Typical Residential Floor 10/01/17

A112 Top Floor  Plan 10/01/17

A113 Rendering Club House 10/05/17

A114 Club House Elevations 10/05/17

A115 Club House Elevations 10/05/17

A116 First Floor Club House 10/02/17

A117 Second Floor Club House 10/02/17

A118 Photometrics 10/02/17

A119 Lighting Cut Sheets 10/02/17

A120 Images of Amenties 10/02/17

A121 Railing Detail Precast
Detail

10/02/17

A122 Rendering 10/03/17

A123 Comparison 10/03/17

A124 Overall Garage Plan 10/05/17

A125 Prelim Grading 10/03/17

2
3D View 11

Subject Site

1
3D View 5



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
1
:4

5
 P

M

A101

Schemtic Site Plan

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

Dog  Park



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
1
:4

9
 P

M

A102

Land Banked Parking
Plan

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

Dog Park



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
1
:5

3
 P

M

A103

Schematic Site Plan
Distance Study

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

A104

Ground Sigange

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
1
:5

8
 P

M

A105

Refuse Enclosure
Details

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
2
:0

0
 P

M

A106

Turn Radius

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date



Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

T/ Footing
-1' - 0"

1 2 3 4 4.8 51.8

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

Finish Grade -Refer to civil 
engineering drawings for further 
information

Typical architectural 
composite roof shingles

Oversize prefinished alum. 
gutter and downspouts

Precast panels stained and stamped

Thin brick embedded 
in precast panels

Precast accent strip (stained)

42" high steel railing w/ 
wire mesh infill panels.

PTEC metal louver -
Finished to match brick 
color.

Typical architectural 
composite roof shingles

Oversize prefinished alum. 
gutter and downspouts

7
2
' -

 2
 3

/8
"

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1/8" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
2
:1

9
 P

M

A107

Building Elevation

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

Front Elevation



Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

Typical architectural 
composite roof shingles

Oversize prefinished aluminum 
gutter and downpsouts

Thin brick embedded 
in precast panels.

42" high steel railing 
w/ wire mesh iinfill 
panels

Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

1
4

' -
 5

 1
3

/1
6

"

7
' 
- 

2
 2

9
/3

2
"

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

7
2
' -

 2
 5

/8
"

6
4
' -

 1
1
 3

/4
"

Mean Height

Roof Peak Typical architectural  
composite roof shingles

Oversize prefinished aluminum 
gutter and downspouts.

Thin brick 
embedded into 
precast panel

Finish grade -refer to civil engineering 
drawings for further information

Precast panel stained 
and stamped

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1/8" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
2
:5

1
 P

M

A108

Building Elevations

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

Right Side Elevation

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

Left Side Elevation



Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

12344.85 1.8

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

7
2
' -

 2
 5

/8
"

Typical architectural composite roof shingles

Oversized prefinished  alum. 
gutter and downspouts.

Finished grade -refer to civil engineering 
drawings for further information

Precast accent strip (stained)

42" high steel railing w/ 
wire mesh infill panels

Thin brick embedded 
in precast panels

Precast panel stained and stamped

PTEC metal louver-
Finished to match 
brick color.

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1/8" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
3
:1

7
 P

M

A109

Buiding Elevaiton

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

Street Elevation



UP

A1082

A107

A108

A109

1

1

2

1 2 3 4 4.8 51.8

31 30 29 28 27 26 25 24 23 22 21 19 18 17 16 15

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

5' - 5"

6' - 0" 7' - 5" 7' - 5" 6' - 0"

26' - 10"

Vest

638

Lobby

639

Bike Storage

640

Parking Garage

641

Stairway No. 1

642

Stairway No. 2

643

Electric Room

644

Package Room

645

Trash Room

646

Mail Area

Sprinkler Room

647

Parking Garage connection 
to adjacent building

A123

1

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1/8" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
3
:1

8
 P

M

A110

Typical Garage Level

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

Parking  Level Copy 1



DW

DW

W
/D

W
/D

W
/D

W
/D

W
/D

DW

DW

UP

DW

W
/D

DW

DW

W
/D

DW

W
/D

W
/D

DW

DW

W
/D

DN

A108 1

Department Legend

Corridor

One Bedroom
One Bath 2

One Bedroom
One Bath 3

One Bedroom
One Bath 4

One Bedroom
One Bath 6

Stairway

Storage
Lockers

Trash Room

Two Bedroom
Two Bath 1

Two Bedroom
Two Bath 2

Two Bedroom
Two Bath 3

Two Bedroom
Two Bath 4

Two Bedroom
Two Bath 5

Two Bedroom
Two Bath 6

WIC

46

Stairway No. 2

7

Stairway No.1

36

1 2 3 4 4.8 51.8

174' - 9"

25' - 9 7/8" 11' - 0" 37' - 0" 26' - 0" 26' - 0" 11' - 0" 37' - 5"

37' - 5" 37' - 0" 26' - 0" 37' - 0" 37' - 5"

8
9
' -

 4
 1

/8
"

One Bedroom
One Bath

Two Bedroom
Two Bath

One Bedroom
One Bath

One Bedroom
One Bath

Two Bedroom
Two Bath

Two Bedroom
Two Bath

Two Bedroom
Two Bath

Two Bedroom
Two Bath

Two Bedroom
Two Bath

One Bedroom
One Bath

Hallway

193

Tenant Storage
Lockers

194

Tenant Storage
Lockers

195

Tenant Locker
Storage

196

Room

197

Trash Room

238

Balcony Balcony Balcony Balcony Balcony

Balcony

Balcony

Balcony

Balcony

Balcony

Area of Green Roof 

Terrace (Pavers)

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1/8" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
3
:2

2
 P

M

A111

Typical Residential
Floor

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

1st Presentation



DW

W
/D

W
/D

W
/D

DW

DW DW

W
/D

DW

W
/D

DW

W
/D

A1082

A107

A108

A109

1

1

2

1 2 3 4 4.8 51.8

Stairway No 1

629

Corridor

630

Stairway No. 2

509

Elevator Equip Rm

637

Tenant Storage
Lockers

587
Tenant Storage

Lockers

585

Two Bedroom/ 
Two Bath

Two Bedroom/ 
Two Bath

Two Bedroom/ 
Two Bath

One Bedroom/ 
One Bath

One Bedroom/ 
One Bath

One Bedroom/ 
One Bath

Roof

Roof

Seating Area

Balcony

Balcony

Balcony

Balcony Balcony Balcony

11' - 5" 37' - 0" 26' - 0" 26' - 0" 11' - 5"

111' - 10"

8
9
' -

 4
 1

/8
"

26' - 0" 11' - 0" 37' - 5" 26' - 0" 37' - 0" 37' - 5"

5
' -

 1
 1

/8
"2
' -

 0
"

4
3
' -

 6
"

6
' -

 1
0
 1

/8
"

3
1
' -

 1
1
"

A123

1

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1/8" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
3
:2

5
 P

M

A112

Top Floor  Plan

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

4th Floor Presentation



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

12" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 2

:5
9
:5

8
 P

M

A113

Club House Rendering

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

12" = 1'-0"
1

Clkub House Rendering 1

12" = 1'-0"
2

Club House Rendeirng 2_1



Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

T/ Footing
-1' - 0"

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

T/ Footing
-1' - 0"

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1/8" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:0
0
:2

2
 P

M

A114

Club House Elevations

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

Street Elevation Club House

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

Left Side Elevation Club House



Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

T/ Footing
-1' - 0"

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

T/ Footing
-1' - 0"

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

T/ Footing
-1' - 0"

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

T/ Footing
-1' - 0"

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1/8" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:0
0
:4

1
 P

M

A115

Club House Elevations

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

Right Side Elevation Club House

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

Rear Elevation  Club House



UP

2' - 8 1/8"
18' - 6"

26' - 0"

18' - 6"
1' - 1"

Lobby

434

Office

435

Stairway

436

Stairway 2

437

Cabana

438

Cabana

439

Restroom

442

Restroom

441

Room

445

Room

446

Lounge

447

Parking Garage

448

Pool Equipment
Room

449

Corridor

443

Corridor

440

A1141

A114

2

A115

1

A115 2

10"

12' - 4 7/8"
3 5/8"

5' - 2 7/8"

10"

26' - 0"
10"

19' - 5 5/8"
10"

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1/8" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:0
0
:4

1
 P

M

A116

Club House Lower
Level Plan

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

Parking  Level



DN

Great Room

444

Jan Clos

450
Vest

451

Vest

452

Men's Locker
Room

453

Women's Locker
Room

454Stairway

455

Fitness Center

456

Stairway

457
Computer Center

464

Terrace

Terrace

A1141

Board Room

458

7
9

' 
- 

8
 3

/4
"

6
' -

 0
"

1
1
' -

 1
0
"

4
' -

 0
"

1
1
' -

 1
0
"

4
' -

 0
"

8
' -

 1
0
 1

/2
"

4
' -

 0
"

8
' -

 1
0
 1

/2
"

4
' -

 5
 3

/4
"

1
1
' -

 1
0
"

4
' -

 0
"

10"

17' - 7 1/4"
10"

12' - 6 3/4"

3 5/8"

7' - 5 3/4"

3 5/8"

26' - 0"
10"

4' - 0" 8' - 10 1/2" 4' - 0" 8' - 10 1/2"

2' - 0"

5' - 11 1/4"
33' - 0 3/4"

66' - 9"

66' - 9"

1
0
"

3
4
' -

 9
"

3
 5

/8
"

2
5
' -

 7
 5

/8
"

1
0
"

1
7
' -

 4
 1

/2
"

A114

2

A115

1

A115 2

--

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1/8" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:0
0
:4

1
 P

M

A117

2nd floor Club House

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

SAS

Checker

No. Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

1st Floor



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
3
:2

5
 P

M

A118

Photometrics

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
3
:2

5
 P

M

A119

Lighting Cut Sheets

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
3
:2

5
 P

M

A120

Images of Amenties

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

Image of Fire Pits

Image of Electric Charging Station

Image of Pergola Image of Bike Storage

Images of Concepts  (i.e examples) only, Final Designs may vary



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
3
:2

6
 P

M

A121

Railing Detail Precast
Detail

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

Proposed Precast Wall Construction w/ Embededd Brick

Standard Brick and Block Construction 



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

12" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:0
0
:4

1
 P

M

A122

Rendering

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

12" = 1'-0"
1

3D View 16_1



Parking  Level
0' - 0"

1st Floor
13' - 0"

2nd Floor
23' - 0"

3rd Floor
33' - 0"

4th Floor
43' - 0"

Bearing (Roof
Lower)
52' - 0"

Roof Bearing (High)
57' - 0"

T/ Footing
-1' - 0"

1 2 3 4 4.8 51.8

Bearing (Roof ends)
46' - 0"

7
2
' -

 2
 3

/8
"

6
4
' -

 1
1
 3

/4
"

0
"

Mean Roof Height

6
2
' -

 3
 1

/4
"

1
3
' -

 8
"

5
5
' -

 5
 1

/4
"

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1/16" = 1'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
3
:3

5
 P

M

A123

Comparison

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

1/16" = 1'-0"
1

Front Elevation Copy 1

1/16" = 1'-0"
2

Drafting 1



2
008 Reed C

onstruction  D
ata Inc.

A
ll ri

ghts reserve d.

c

2
008 Reed C

onstruction
 D

ata In
c.

A
ll ri

ghts 
reserved.

c

2008 Reed C
o

nstruction Data Inc.

All ri
ghts reserve

d.

c

2008 Reed C
o

nstruction Data Inc.

All ri
ghts reserve

d.

c

UP

A103

1

1

2

3

4

4.8
5

1.8

1

2

3

4

4.8
5

1.8

1

2

3

4

4.8
5

1.8

1

2

3

4

4.8
5

1.8

A1141

A114

2

A115

1

A115 2

www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1" = 40'-0"

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:0
0
:4

2
 P

M

A124

Overall Garage Plan

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

1" = 40'-0"
1

Overall Parking Level



www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

1
0

/5
/2

0
1

7
 3

:1
3
:3

9
 P

M

A125

Prelim Grading

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

No. Description Date

T/ Garage Floor Elevation
El= 700.5

T/ Garage Floor Elevation
El= 701.0

T/ Garage Floor Elevation
El= 701.0

T/ Garage Floor Elevation
El= 702.0

T/ Garage Floor Elevation
El= 700.5

T/ Pool deck 702.0

T/ Curb
El= 699.47

T/ grade
El= 699.1

CB Rim
EL=698.54

CB Rim
EL=699.15















www.archstudioltd.net

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd.
135 S. Jefferson Street
Suite 135
Chicago, IL 60661
Phone: 312-463-0551
Fax: 312-463-0552
e-mail: sgregory@eea-ltd.com

KDC Consultants, Inc.
16144 S. Bell Road
Lockport, IL 60491
Phone: 708-645-0545
Fax:
e-mail:chaff@aol.com

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Consultant
Address
Address
Phone
Fax
e-mail

Architectural Studio, 
Ltd.
14421 Oakley Ave
Orland Park, IL 60462
Tel: 708-933-4200
Fax: 708-966-0854

Permit 6/12/2016

Professional Design Firm License No. 
184.006770 Exp. Date. 04/30/2019

Revised layout with indoor garages 09/13/2016

Revisions- Review comments 08/30/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 11/18/2016

Revised layout for typical floor plan 10/24/2016

Sidewalks/ hardscape revisions 12/1/2016

Resubmittal 12/06/2016

Revised site plan 1/25/2017

Resubmittal-revised elevations and floor plans and site plan 4/4/2017

Resubmittal revise elevations, floor plans and site plan 4/20/2017

Revised based on meeting 5/18/2017

Revised site plan based on Village meeting comments 6/8/2017

Flipped dog park 7/3/2017

Redesign for 4 Bldg design 8/29/2017

Site Plan Revisions 9/8/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 9/26/2017

Revisions for resubmittal 10/13/2017

1
0

/1
3
/2

0
1
7

 1
0

:4
5
:2

4
 A

M

A101 A

Site Plan

2016-005

Residence of Brookside Glen

KJM Development/

9-26-2017

Author

Checker

Dog Park

No. Description Date



Tinley Park Apartments 

ATMI Precast Systems 

Buildings



Avant at the Arboretum

Lisle, Illinois                                         2014





Residence at the Grove 

Downers Grove, Illinois                      2010







Melrose Commons

Melrose Park, Illinois                       2006



Concordia University

River Forest, Illinois                             2017





Darul Aman 

Chicago, Illinois                                2014





Michael J. Fitzgerald 

Chicago, Illinois                               2017









Woodlawn Park Residences

Chicago, Illinois                                  2016







Wisdom Village Senior Housing 

Northlake, Illinois 2016







Oakwood Shores 

Chicago, Illinois                               2012



Oakwood Shores Mixed Use

Chicago, Illinois                               2013



Northern Illinois University

Dekalb, Illinois                                    2011































































































































































































































 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 18, 2017           

Page 7 of 16 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE MAY 18, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
 
ITEM #3: WORKSHOP: THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN – SOUTHWEST 

CORNER OF MAGNUSON LANE AND 191ST STREET – SITE PLAN 
APPROVAL AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT 

  
 Consider granting Site Plan Approval and consider recommending that the Village Board 

grant the Petitioner, Andrea Crowley of Griffen & Gallagher, LLC on behalf of Karli 
Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture, a Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development and any 
related Exceptions to develop a one hundred forty-four (144) unit multi-family residential 
project (a.k.a. The Residence at Brookside Glen) at the properties generally located west 
of Magnuson Lane and John Michael Drive in the R-5 PD (Low Density Residential) 
Zoning District.   

  
 
Present were the following  

Plan Commissioners:   Mark Moylan 
Kevin Bergthold 
Peter Kroner 

    Tim Stanton    
    Lori Kappel 

Ken Shaw 
Anthony Janowski (arrived at 7:34 p.m.) 
Ed Matushek III, Chairman 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s): None  
 
Village Officials and Staff: Michael Glotz, Trustee 

Tom Condon, Village Attorney 
Paula Wallrich, Interim Community Development Director 

    Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
    Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 
 
Guest (s):   Andrea Crowley, Griffin & Gallagher, LLC 

     Karli Mayher, KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture 
     Scott Shalvis, The Shalvis Group 
 
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK stated he had a letter to read to the Commission from MAYOR 
VANDENBERG: 
 

May 18, 2017 
 
To:  Plan Commission of The Village of Tinley Park      
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 18, 2017           

Page 8 of 16 

It has come to my attention that certain social media sites have alleged that I have some sort of 
interest in the “Residences” at Brookside Glen which is before you tonight.  I want to be clear 
that this information is patently false. 
 
First, I have no interest in this property to project whatsoever.  That includes financial or 
otherwise as defined by the Tinley Park Village Code or any other ethics statute I’m aware of.  
My uncle, my father’s brother, is the owner of the property in question.  I want to reiterated that I 
personally am not involved nor do I have any interest in this endeavor or any other company or 
endeavors that my uncle, Scot Vandenberg, is involved in. 
 
Moreover, I have never and will never use my position, either as Trustee or Mayor, to advocate 
for or against this project or any other project that a family member may be involved in.  I hope 
this information helps you in analyzing this project like all others before you in accordance with 
the Zoning Code of Tinley Park and all other State and Federal laws. 
 
Respectfully, 
 
Jacob C. Vandenberg 
Mayor 
 
cc:  Village Board 
       David Niemeyer, Village Manager 
       Patrick Connelly, Village Attorney 

 
 
COMMISSIONER STANTON stated, pursuant to the Village of Tinley Park’s Code of Ethics, “I hereby 

disclose that I have an indirect family relationship with the owner of the subject property.  
I have spoken to the Village Attorney and he has advised me that in the interest of 
caution I should avoid any occurrence of impropriety, that I should refrain from 
participating in any conversation or deliberation regarding this Petition and abstain from 
any vote taken.” 

 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK noted that this is Workshop, not a Public Hearing.  He noted there will be 
time for Public Comment at the end of the meeting.   
 
PAULA WALLRICH, Interim Community Development Director, stated the approved Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) for this area allows for nine (9) 16-unit structures for a total of 144 units.  The 
developer has a right to develop according to the approved plan.  As a consequence of the Petitioner’s 
Market Study which outlined current market trends, the market is different than it was back in 2000 when 
the Substantial Deviation was approved.  She noted that the Village is trying to attract young 
professionals to the area.  The Petitioner has proposed a plan that complies with the approved density and 
unit count; however, instead of nine (9) structures, they are proposing two (2) multi-family structures. The 
reduction in the number of structures will provide for more green space with luxury amenities.   
 
MS. WALLRICH stated when the PUD was approved in 1990 there were plans for community shopping 
(commercial uses) adjacent to 191st Street and 80th Avenue, south of the commercial was planned to be 
office and restricted industrial, and south and west of that was planned for condo and apartments.  A 
Substantial Deviation was approved in 2000 which identified nine (9) structures with sixteen (16) units in 
each structure. In 2007, a developer proposed nine (9) buildings with eight (8) units each and one (1) 
building with sixteen (16) units.  This proposal did not obtain Plan Commission approval and did not 
make it to the Village Board for approval.   In 2014, a proposal was submitted for 123 units in seventeen 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 18, 2017           

Page 9 of 16 

(17) buildings comprised of between four (4) to fifteen (15) attached single-family attached rowhouse-
style dwelling units per building.  The developer did not consider the pipeline that traversed the property 
and therefore the project did not move forward with revised plans.  Thus, the PUD plan that was approved 
in 2000 still stands which included 144 units in nine (9) buildings.   
 
MS. WALLRICH noted the subject property is surrounded by the R-5 Zoning District.  Across Magnuson 
Lane is commercial zoning and then to the south is R-2 single-family residential zoning.  There is a pump 
station on the south end of the proposed site and detention on the north. The PUD notes commercial sites 
located both at the southwest and southeast corners of 191st Street and 80th Avenue.  There are condos 
over to the east of 80th Avenue along Greenway Boulevard which are similar in height and architectural 
design in that they are 4-story buildings with semi-underground garages.  In addition to straight R-5 
zoning there is an Overlay District in this area, which is an Urban Design Overlay (UDO)  District.  The 
whole point of this district is to prioritize the architecture and the streetscape and not the vehicle.  There 
are specific guidelines that are required, such as making sure that the property is not fronted with parking 
along the public right-of-way  In negotiating with this Developer, Staff made sure that the building was 
moved up to the front and the parking was pushed back behind and to the side the structures. 
 
MS. WALLRICH stated the Brookside Glen PUD was originally 828 acres in 1990 when the original 
builder came in and Master Planned the area.  They did their best to plan how the area  might develop; 
however, with market and economic changes since that time, developers have had to adapt to what the 
market is dictating.  A PUD it is flexible regarding zoning regulations and anything can be negotiated at 
the time of the approval of the PUD.  If it was straight zoning they would have to abide by the regulations 
within the Zoning Ordinance.  With a PUD, the developer and the Village negotiate to comprehensively 
master plan an area and exceptions from the Zoning Ordinance can be considered.  When the Plan 
Commission looks at a Variation they must consider the burden of proof on the developer to prove that 
there is a hardship for that Variation.  They also must look at the precedence that it is setting.  The beauty 
of a PUD is that it is  not a straight Variation; it is looked at as an exception.  The burdens of proof and 
the Finding of Facts are not the same.  When the Plan Commission looks at these types of exceptions, 
they will look and judge and make the decisions based on the original intent of the PUD. 
 
STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner I, discussed the Site Plan. She noted that the buildings wrap around 
Magnuson Lane. She noted that Magnuson Lane will connect north to 191st Street. There are two (2) 
residential buildings with a one-story clubhouse structure in the middle with many amenities on the site.  
 
MS. KISLER said originally when this developer came to the Village the plans showed two (2) residential 
buildings but behind the buildings there were long rows of garages.  There was no first floor subterranean 
level parking under the building – it  was all surface parking and garages.  This presented an issue with 
fire code and with the overall aesthetics of the project.  Staff worked with the developer to improve the 
Site Plan and reconfigure parking.  Staff also suggested changes to the access points near the proposed 
dog park.  Staff worked with the developer to increase the greenspace and amenities at the site.  The 
developer removed the garages and now there are 144 indoor parking spaces and 144 surface parking 
spaces which allow for two (2) parking spaces per dwelling unit. The developer proposes to land bank 
additional parking.  There are outdoor grilling stations with a sink, Frisbee golf and many other amenities.   
 
MS. KISLER showed the current Site Plan with improvements.  She said the developer has reconfigured 
the access points to the garage so there are two (2) entrances to the main parking garages.  They have also 
land banked some of the parking spaces.  In the latest proposal, there is no parking in front of the 
buildings.  They are proposing 72 land banked parking spaces if additional parking becomes necessary.  
Currently there are two (2) parking spaces per unit (one interior and one exterior) and if more parking is 
needed the land banked spaces with make it 2 ½ spaces per dwelling unit. There are 48 two bedroom units 
and 24 one bedroom units per building.  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 18, 2017           

Page 10 of 16 

 
MS. KISLER stated the Urban Design Overlay District requires a maximum building setback of 20 feet.  
Proposed building setbacks range from 14 to 36 feet from the property line along Magnuson Lane.  In this 
case, the intent of the overlay district is to push the buildings forward, but we want to make sure the 
building is respectful of the scale of the building and the character of the street.  There will be green space 
between the street and the building. Additionally, the curvature of the street and the resulting sight lines 
along with the curvature of the building provides for a more pedestrian scale to the streetscape.   
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked what the setback is on the existing condo buildings.  MS. KISLER 
replied the setback for the condos is about 24-30’. 
 
COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI asked about the locations for snow removal.  MS. WALLRICH replied 
that the land banking will provide areas for the snow removal and more green space.   
 
MS. KISLER showed a view of the Landscape Plan with a plentiful number of plantings and green space. 
There will be berming around the base of the structures to mitigate appearance of the blank walls of the 
parking structure.  The developer has incorporated a lot of amenities, including a clubhouse with an 
outdoor pool.  Inside the clubhouse there will be a fitness center, locker rooms, meeting rooms, lounge, 
computer room with free Wi-Fi and a great room with kitchen.  Outside by the pool there will be cabanas.    
There will be outdoor grilling areas for each building which include a grill station, fire pits, outdoor 
seating, a pergola and a service sink.  There will be Frisbee golf baskets around the site, interior and 
exterior bike storage, electric car charging stations, exterior exercise circuit equipment, an arboretum area 
with seating, a dog park with seating and a water fountain, a bike trail connection to a major bike trail 
system which will meet up with the Old Plank Road Trail.  There will be a landscape buffer around the 
dog park.  Each unit has at least one private balcony. 
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked about underground parking shown in yellow on her diagram.  MS. 
KISLER replied this is additional garage space to make sure there is one indoor parking space per unit.  
This also gives the residents a rooftop terrace area which is an additional amenity.  COMMISSIONER 
KRONER also asked about the size of the parking spaces.  MS. KISLER replied that the parking spaces 
meet the Village’s size requirements.   
 
COMMISSIONER MOYLAN asked about moving the dog park from the area close to the townhouses to 
the other side.  SCOTT SHALVIS, The Shalvis Group, architect on behalf of the developer, replied that is 
not possible as there is a retention area on the other side. 
 
MS. KISLER stated there will be adequate lighting for the parking lot with no light spilling on the 
neighboring properties.  There will be decorative light fixtures.  Staff has asked them to add wall sconces 
near the entry doors and garage doors to add to the aesthetics and the residential character of the building. 
 
MS. KISLER stated the Applicant has provided an interior trash room for the tenants.  They will have a 
management company handle the trash collection from interior to the exterior trash enclosures.  The 
outdoor trash enclosures will be constructed with materials matching the façade of the buildings with 
sturdy gates and landscaping around them.   
 
MS. WALLRICH stated condo financing has become very difficult.  The developer must have at least 80-
90% of the units sold before starting construction.  This is what is steering the market right now to start to 
look at rental properties rather than ownership.  The market studies state Tinley Park has low vacancy rate 
in terms of apartments.  This is what is pushing the market towards a rental project on this site.  A 
concern could be the long term upkeep and maintenance of these facilities.  She stated that staff reviewed 
the quality of the materials and the development and the amenities on the property.  Staff reviewed this 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 18, 2017           

Page 11 of 16 

project and worked with the developer to increase the number of luxury amenities and improve the 
architecture, and thereby the cost of the buildings.  This somewhat insures a certain rate of return the 
owner is going to want.   
 
MS. WALLRICH said Staff worked with the developer on the architecture.   Staff requested some 
modulation of the roof line, a better demarcation of the entryway, and to make sure the parking floor was 
screened and somewhat mitigated in terms of the height.  The street façade had a central architectural 
feature to identify the street access.  Staff appreciated the floor to ceiling windows adding to the overall 
luxury feeling of the building.  The top floor has 13’ ceilings.  The amount of balcony space was 
increased with one to two balconies per unit.  There is a roof deck with no HVAC units on the roof.  Each 
unit has its own HVAC unit. 
 
COMMMISSIONER KRONER asked about the HVAC units.  He said it reminds him of a hotel HVAC 
system. He stated he doesn’t remember any luxury apartments in Chicago having this type of unit; usually 
it is a water based unit or their own furnace with one thermostat per room.   MR. SHALVIS replied that 
this is not his experience. He stated these are vertical units that are self-contained.  He said this is like a 
furnace that has duct work to it.  With this system, it is possible to have extra compressors on site for 
maintenance.  If something goes out they can replace the one unit.  It is a maintenance and efficiency 
issue.  He said there will be one thermostat per unit. It also makes conversion to condominiums easier.  
 
MS. WALLRICH stated the following unit types are proposed:  

• 44 two bedroom, two bath units with square footages of 1,286 – 1,356 
• 4 two bedroom, two bath units with a study with square footages of 1,616 
• 4 one bedroom, one and a half bath units with square footages of 1,073  
• 20 one bedroom, one bath units with square footages of 924 – 987 

She noted all units exceed the minimum size requirements. 
 
MS. WALLRICH stated on the first floor, there will be landscaping trained against the wall on the 
parking garage.  Staff wanted to see something that broke up the expanse of each façade through the 
articulation and the insets and the outsets of the building and the undulating roof line and the modulating 
berm across the front.  There is a pergola structure over both entrances on the east and west side. The 
terrace over the garage is 47 x 93 feet.  This is a common terrace for everyone to enjoy.  The outside 
corner units have wrap-around balconies.   The standard balconies are 13 x 6 feet.   
 
MS. WALLRICH added that one of the considerations when you look at the R-5 district is that the 
maximum building height is 35’.  The existing condos on Greenway Boulevard are 62’ tall.  When this 
was originally approved in 2000, there was an allowance in building height from 3 stories to 4 stories 
along with underground parking.  Later, in the agreement it mentions 56’ in height; subsequent to that the 
buildings were built at 62’.  It is important to look at the scale of these buildings in relationship to those 
buildings.  In the proposed structure at the tallest peak over the entrances it is 71’ but building height is 
defined as the mean height.  In that case, the tallest roof would be 65’ and the most predominant thing you 
would see is the ridge at 64’ which is 2’ taller than the existing condos.   When you judge height, it is the 
perception from the street from the pedestrian scale that is important.  .   
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked about building setbacks.  These existing buildings average 24-30’, an 
average of 27’ plus or minus 3 feet with a variance of 11% rounded to 10%.  He said the developer is 
asking us to go to a 14’ setback in some instances.  To keep consistent with the units around there, the 
developer is proposing plans with 14-36’ building setbacks.  This is 25’ plus or minus 11’ or a variance of 
over 40%.  MS. WALLRICH replied it is not so much the average because the way the Urban Design 
Overlay District is written it encourages the buildings to be closer to the street.  The intent of the District 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 18, 2017           

Page 12 of 16 

is to make sure the automobile and parking is not dominating the streetscape.  In terms of setbacks, the 
ordinance states a maximum of 20’.  The existing buildings have a maximum of 34’ which is 14’ further 
back from the ROW.  The buildings being proposed here are 16’ beyond the maximum of 20’, so there is 
only 2’ difference between the setback of the proposed structures and the existing condos. She noted that 
a 14’ setback meets code and anything under 20’ meets code.  She added that this is not a straight zoning 
issue, because the property is part of a PUD and you have to consider the context of  what is already 
constructed in the area.  The existing structures are 2’ less in height and 2’ less in setback.  The 
predominant horizontal line of the proposed building is 64’ and the predominant horizontal line of the 
existing building is 62’.  The setback of these buildings is 14’ out of maximum conformance which is in 
code.  She also noted how buildings curve along Magnuson Lane will mitigate the scale and setback of 
those buildings.    
 
MS. WALLRICH noted the exceptions that the Plan Commission needs to consider would be building 
height and building setbacks.  The other structure on site is the clubhouse.  Staff felt the original proposed 
elevation of the clubhouse was not consistent with the architecture proposed on the residential buildings.  
The architect was asked to modify the east facade to reflect more of a street presence.  The building 
materials are consistent with the residential structures and the clubhouse measures 19’ in height.   
 
MR. SHALVIS gave a presentation on the building materials. The proposed plans call for using precast 
panels with embedded thin brick on the façades.   
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked what type of construction materials were used on the existing 
buildings on Greenway Boulevard. He inquired about using pre-cast on the proposed buildings.   
 
MR. SHALVIS stated the existing buildings are brick and block.  The proposed buildings are using 
precast because of the quality of material and speed and time of construction.  This will be a true brick on 
the exterior.  You could not build the proposed buildings the way the existing buildings were built.  The 
clubhouse will be a brick and block construction.  He stated he has built other luxury buildings with this 
type of construction and they are beautiful.  The precast is more expensive but will take less time. He 
added the precast shell is $7.5 million. 
 
ANDREA CROWLEY, Griffin & Gallagher, LLC, attorney on behalf of the developer, gave a 
presentation regarding the proposed development.  She stated this Project is on a piece of property that 
currently supports the zoning.  She stated they are not asking for any deviations from the density that was 
approved.  She stated constructing the two (2) buildings looks better than what was originally proposed.  
She noted a Market Study was done and was made available to Staff just prior to the meeting.   
 
KARLI MAYHER, KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture, developer, gave a presentation regarding 
the proposed development.  She stated the rents will be from $1,500 to $2,500 based on the other rents in 
the area.   
 
COMMISSIONER MOYLAN asked about the 3% vacancy rate in Orland Park at the 9750 apartment 
building.   
 
COMMISSIONER SHAW asked about the current plan and whether it is a single-phase development. He 
also asked if the proposed amenities will be what is truly offered and if they will be available to the first 
occupants versus being added later on.   He noted the hallways seem very long and straight.  He asked if 
this be 100% rental and are there any plans to convert to condo at a later date if the market changes?  
Lastly, he asked about the height of the parking. 
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 18, 2017           

Page 13 of 16 

MS. MAYHER responded that these are the amenities and they will be there right from the start.  There 
are no plans to convert to condos in the future but is would be possible.  The units are all self-contained.   
 
MR. SHALVIS responded that the hallways will have areas that will break up the hallways with seating 
areas and elevators.  The parking height was raised to 13’. 
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked about public transportation and proximity to the train stations.  He 
also noted he would really like to see the Market Study.   
 
MS. MAYHER replied that people could use bikes to get to the train station.   
 
MS. WALLRICH stated that the Village is looking at plans to extend the bike trails in the area and there 
will be future bike improvements along 80th Avenue.    
 
COMMISSIONER KAPPEL asked about the anticipated construction schedule.  She noted that she 
would like to see details on the pool fencing prior to the Public Hearing.   
 
MS. MAYHER stated they would like to break ground this fall and the construction would take 10 to 12 
months.  She noted the pool will be fenced in. 
 
COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI asked why the 2014 proposal was not approved.  He said he looked at 
the Plan Commission minutes from that time and there was nothing in the minutes.   
 
MS. WALLRICH replied that the issue was related to the pipeline on the property and it never went 
further.   
 
COMMISSIONER SHAW asked about security cameras. 
 
MS. MAYHER stated there will not be security cameras; all the residents will have key fobs.  There will 
be a system at the main entrance where you can be buzzed in with your cell phone.   
 
  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 18, 2017           

Page 14 of 16 

RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 
Resident #1- Had comments regarding the Pumping Station in his back yard. He stated a request to go 
from 3 stories to 4 stories never got to a vote.  If it didn’t get to 4 stories it didn’t require anelevator.  
They were concerned about set back from the people.  He felt it was odd that this was all approved in 
1990 but  never voted on.  On Pumping station itself – there are major swale issues.  That building was 
put up 10 ft. higher than what it was approved for.  Foundation poured 10 ft. too high and it was 
determined at that point that it’s too to change.  100 year flood plane in our back yard adding 10 ft. where 
this apartment building is, what will that do? It is already a cyclone there, what will that do to rain.  No 
one here on this board can say a rental community in Tinley Park is good. He is concerned about residents 
on the 4th floor looking in his window.  He questioned what is going to happen with schools?  He felt it 
would be difficult to try to get tax dollars out of people who don’t live here.   
 
Resident #2 – Treasurer of Homeowners  Association.  He asked if the negotiations on PUD, includes the 
issue of ownership vs. rental. Is that something that has to be a variance?  He stated that the reason he 
moved to Brookside Glen was because of all the amenities it had to offer and rental was not one of them.  
He feels that bicycling to the train is not going to happen.  He felt that at $1500 To 2500 rents anyone can 
get a home in Brookside Glen, so how can they command those rents.   
Resident #3 – Stated they reside in a townhouse adjacent to the property right across from the proposed 
parking lot.   An influx of 144 to 300 transient residents in our community does not support the mission or 
core values of what we built and tried to maintain for so many years.  They stated they oppose the 
construction of 144 units that will bring people to our community who are not invested.   
 
Resident #4 – Questioned if this project is on the White Board? 
 
Resident #5 – Stated that this project  has not been mentioned before. He mentioned that on March 9th  - he 
attended a meeting on 80th Ave. improvementsand asked someone from the building department if there 
were any plans for this property.  Person said no one has shown interest in this land.   
 
Resident #6 – stated that the 2014 US Census indicates a population of 57280 in Tinley Park , and 58,656 
in Orland Park; the number of rental units in Orland Park is 1621, the number of rental units in Tinley 
Park is 2654.  He noted that with 1000 more rental units the Village is saturated with rental units.  He 
feels that rental units have an impact on property values.  Too many renters stagnate or decrease home 
values.  This is unfair to the Brookside Glen Community to have more renters.   I ask that you side with 
the homeowners rather than one builder. 
 
Resident #7 – Echoed comments by other residents – and expressed concerns on the part of the 
Commission to look at the Market Study.  He stated that when the density was approved in 1990 – none 
of the Commissioners were around then.  What was approved in 1990 has no bearing on what is 
happening now.   What is the purpose of the Plan Commission?             
Can this support $1500 – 2500 per month rent?   
 
ATTORNEY CONDON noted this Commission has Limitations of Section 7 relating to PUD 
 
Resident #3 (AGAIN) – Section 7, sub section 2J, dictates it has to be within public interest.  The fact that 
this is above the current Ordinance in height, means we can say we do not prefer it.   I would like to 
change it and have it set back 24 ft.   
 
Resident #8 – There is a substantial deviation from the plan.  The primary justification seems to be if you 
do not deviate from the plan you will not be able to build this?  The resident stated the project has a direct 
impact on them; they areas close to it as you can be.  There may be a lighting nuisance.  A large platform 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 18, 2017           

Page 15 of 16 

parking garage will be about 50 yards from where I live and probably about as tall as my townhouse.  I 
will lose any sense of privacy.  This will reduce my property values.  My back deck is right there.  There 
are really strict guidelines in our HOA.  Will the guidelines apply to this complex?   
 
Resident #9 – The addition of 144 cars in our neighborhood will be a hazard to the children in the 
neighborhood.   
 
Resident #10 – Why is the dog park right behind our property?   
 
Resident #11 – I live on the east side of OP Avenue.  The amount of homes for sale in Tinley Park now is 
499.   There are 2000 rental units.  Homes and condos are being rented out.  There are abandoned and 
foreclosed homes.  Why will someone come back and rent a luxury apartment in Tinley Park?  When you 
do the Market Analysis, please note all the rentals in TP.  Please listen to the citizens.  Delay the next 
meeting because of the June 1st graduation.   
 
Resident #12 – VP of Condo Assn.  On the special use Permit five of the issues fail to meet the criteria for 
this Site Plan.  Ingress and egress traffic out of this subdivision is impossible. Once the bridge is 
completed this will make it worse. There are only 2 entrances.   
 
Resident #3 (Again) - There will be a 232% increase in residential living units for one single entrance and 
exit.    
 
Resident #13 – 2 huge buildings are not good to look at.   
 
Resident #14 – Will there be a signal needed on 191st and Magnuson?   
Another traffic study needs to be done – times have changed from the last study.  Will the Village be 
responsible for snow removal? Does the developer own the section to the East?    Have you considered 
Village costs for the future?  Police, fire, Public Works…we will be covering that cost value.   
 
Resident #15 – Are there any other complexes in TP that have an in-ground pool?  I ask for safety sake? 
Will the developer have liability insurance? 
 
Resident #16    - Graduation is on June 1, you are missing out on 200 families.  The next meeting needs to 
be rescheduled for 4 weeks.     
 
  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 1,  2017           

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE JUNE 1, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
 
Item #2: PUBLIC HEARING: THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN – SOUTHWEST 

CORNER OF MAGNUSON LANE AND 191ST STREET – SITE PLAN PPROVAL  
AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
Consider granting Site Plan Approval and consider recommending that the Village Board 
grant the Petitioner, Andrea Crowley of Griffin & Gallagher, LLC on behalf of Karli 
Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture, a Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development and any related 
Exceptions to develop a one hundred forty-four (144) unit multi-family residential project 
(a.k.a. The Residences at Brookside Glen) fort the properties generally located west of 
Magnuson Lane and John Michael Drive.   

 
Present were the following  
Plan Commissioners:    Mark Moylan 

Kevin Bergthold 
Peter Kroner 

    Tim Stanton    
    Ken Shaw 

Ed Matushek III, Chairman 
 
Absent Plan Commissioner(s):  Anthony Janowski  

    Lori Kappel 
 
Village Officials and Staff:  Paula Wallrich, Interim Community Development Director 

    Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 
    Patrick Connelly, Village Attorney 
 

Guest(s):    Andrea Crowley, Griffin & Gallagher, LLC 
     Karli Mayher, KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture 
     Scott Shalvis, The Shalvis Group 
     Carole Ruzich 
     Steve Gregory 
     
      
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER SHAW, seconded by COMMISSIONER KRONER to open 
the Public Hearing on THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN – SOUTHWEST CORNER OF 
MAGNUSON LANE AND 191ST STREET – SITE PLAN PPROVAL AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
FOR A SUBSTANTIAL DEVIATION. The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK declared the Motion approved. 
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK noted that Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice 
regarding the Public Hearing was published in the local newspaper in accordance with State law and 
Village requirements.   
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK requested anyone present in the audience, who wished to give testimony, 
comment, engage in cross-examination or ask questions during the Hearing stand and be sworn in. 

Page 6 of 14 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 1,  2017           

 
COMMISSIONER STANTON stated due to his earlier notification at the Workshop held on May 18, 
2017, he abstains. 
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK stated he had a notification to read on COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI’S 
behalf: 
 

Dear Planning Commissioners: 
 
I sincerely apologize, but unfortunately I will not be in attendance for tonight’s meeting.  I would 
like to express as previously mentioned at the last meeting, that many children are graduating on 
June 1st in the Tinley Park community, my son, as well is one of these individuals graduating.  
The residents are an impactful component of any public hearing and this solidifies a positive 
force in building our community in its entirety.  With many residents not available to attend due 
to the school graduation conflict, consideration should conveyed in making transparent decisions 
on agenda items that are being proposed at the June 1st Plan Commission meeting that can impact 
our community. 
 
Sincerely,  
COMMISSIONER TONY JANOWSKI 

 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK noted this meeting is a Public Hearing.  The Plan Commission does not have 
the power to approve this; all we can do is make recommendations to the Village Board to do the 
approval.  If we conclude this Public Hearing tonight, it will be up for approval at the Village Board 
meeting on June 20.  If the Public Hearing is continued it will be up for approval at the Village Board 
meeting on July 11 for First Reading and July 18 for approval.   
 
ATTORNEY PATRICK CONNELLY noted the procedure.   

• Staff will present their report.   
• Petitioner will then give their presentation. 
• The Commission will have a chance to discuss among themselves. 
• Public Comments.   

 
This Commission is here to make zoning decisions based on the Village Code and State law.   
 
PAULA WALLRICH, Interim Community Development Director, stated the original PUD was approved 
in 1990 with a Substantial Deviation approved in 2000 which provided for 22 buildings with 16 units in 
each structure for a total of 352 dwelling units. To-date thirteen (13) of these buildings have been 
constructed ((208 dwelling units) thereby leaving nine structures of 16 units (144 units total) approved for 
construction in the subject area.  .  The Applicant is requesting the same density as approved (144) but 
instead of 9 buildings, they are asking for 2 buildings.  The Applicant will provide information on the 
amenities they plan on providing.  When there is a Planned Unit Development (PUD) regular zoning 
district regulations are suspended and a variance of Code is looked at as an Exception rather than a 
Variation which involves certain findings and also establishes precedence.  She noted that when you 
review exception requests you do it in the context of the original PUD rather than the strict rules of 
variations of underlying zoning districts. 
 
The History of this property is: 

• In 1989 the PUD was part of a Pre-Annexation agreement, Ordinance 89-0-052.  There was a 
variety of land uses considered.   

Page 7 of 14 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 1,  2017           

• In 1990 the annexation agreement was approved as Resolution 90-R-002.   
• In 2000, a Substantial Deviation from the PUD was approved for twenty-two 16 unit condo 

buildings.   
• In 2001, Final Plat for buildings 1-7 was approved 
• In 2002, Final Plat for buildings 8 & 9 was approved. 
• In 2004, Final Plat for building 10-13 was approved 

(MS. WALLRICH noted that with the original approval which provided for 22 buildings of 16 
units each, the remaining 9 buildings are located on the subject property and noted as buildings 
14-22 on the PowerPoint) 

• Between 2004 and 2007 there were various proposals that came before the Village on the subject 
parcel.. 

• In 2007 there was a proposal for 9 two story (8 unit) townhome buildings with one 4-story, 16 
unit structure for a total of 88 dwelling units.  It did not receive a positive recommendation from 
the Plan Commission due to architecture and orientation of buildings.  

• In 2014 there was a proposal for 123 3-story row house buildings - 17 buildings in all.  This went 
through several meetings of the Plan Commission and at that time they were unaware of the 
pipeline, so the project stopped and never went to Village Board for approval.   

• In July 2016 the current proposal submitted an application.  The first submittal did not include 
underground parking; instead separate rows of garages bordered the property. Since that time 
Staff has been working with the Applicant to improve the site plan and the architecture of the 
project.  

 
The Zoning on the property dates back to 1990 when the Annexation Agreement for the property noted it 
as R-6.  She reminded the Commission of her earlier comment that zoning regulations of the district are 
suspended with a Planned Unit Development.    

 
The property is bordered by the ComEd transmission lines to the west, B-3 PD to the east, R-5 PD to the 
south and southeast and R-2 PD to the far south.  This site is located within the Urban Design Overlay 
District. 

 
MS. WALLRICH presented an exhibit which indicated distances to the nearest existing townhome to the 
garages is 195’ and 198’to the front of the building.   

 
A Market Study was delivered today from Tracy Cross & Associates.  It will be posted on the Village 
web site.   

 
The Site Plan Review shows 2 multi-family residential structures and a club house.  The buildings follow 
the curve of the Magnuson Lane which helps to mitigate the impact and scale of the buildings.  The 
Applicant has provided an updated Site Plan based on comments from the 5/18/2017 Plan Commission 
meeting.  The revised Site Plan is different from the previous one because it shows the southern access 
point being combined.  Additionally, parking has been land banked nearest the proposed private dog park 
to reduce the number of vehicles near the adjacent townhomes and the area closest to Magnuson Lane to 
effectively place all parking behind the building setback.  Constructed parking has been provided will be 
2 parking spaces per unit with land banking totaling a ratio of 2.5 spaces per unit.   

 
The setback in the Urban Design Overlay District (UD-1) is set at 20’ as a maximum.  Building 1 is 20 to 
24’ and building 2 is 22 to 36’.  The point of the Urban Design Overlay District, which establishes a 
maximum front yard setback of 20’, is to make sure we are not lining the front of these buildings on the 
street with parking.  These setbacks are consistent with the existing buildings.  She also noted that the 
UD-1 is intended to provide specific design standards for non-residential buildings; however, Staff 

Page 8 of 14 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 1,  2017           

elected to apply the intent of these standards to this project due to the scale of the project and the desire to 
protect the streetscape and eliminate its possible dominance by parking.  
 
The Applicant has submitted some changes to the landscape plan based on our Landscape Architect’s 
consultant.  They have agreed to meet the intent of all Code Requirements.  She noted that special 
attention will be paid for the area between the dog park and the back of the townhouses and will request 
the use of evergreens.   

 
There will be 2 parking spaces per unit and additional land banking spaces.  There are 144 spaces under 
the building and 144 surface spaces with an additional 72 that are land banked.  The public sidewalks will 
be extended and connected along Magnuson.  The detention pond will be improved to Village standards. 
There will be a bike trail installed to connect to the Brookside Glen trail. 

 
Lighting Photometric Plan meet the Village Code.  Staff recommends decorative lighting on the building.   

 
The Applicant has agreed to provide security cameras on site per the Commission’s request at the May 
18th Plan Commission meeting.  
 
MS. WALLRICH noted that there are several amenities proposed by the Applicant that will be discussed 
further in their presentation.  Amenities include:   

• Indoor ground-level parking garages with at least one space per dwelling unit;  
• A club house including an outdoor pool with cabanas, a fitness center, locker rooms, free Wi-Fi, a 

lounge, a meeting room, a computer room, and a great room with a kitchenette. 
• Outdoor grilling areas for each building, including grill stations, fire pits, outdoor seating, 

pergolas, and a service sink; 
• Disc golf baskets; 
• Bike storage (interior and exterior); 
• Electric car charging stations; 
• Exterior exercise circuit equipment; 
• A dog park (for private use by the residents) including a large and small dog area, complete with 

seating area, a drinking fountain, and training fixtures such as a jump bar and weave poles; 
• An arboretum area at the north end of the site featuring outdoor seating; 
• A bike trail connection to a major bike trail system; 
• Over 4 acres of open space; and 
• Outdoor terraces available to the residents in addition to their own private balconies.  

 
MS. WALLRICH then discussed the Architecture noting that a lot of time was spent on the roof line 
which resulted in an increase of the overall height of the building. She noted that originally there was not 
enough articulation on the roof line.  She also highlighted the middle entrances noted the different brick 
pattern and taller roof.  There are floor to ceiling windows, larger terraces and roof gardens.  There is a 
raised elevation for the parking level similar to the existing buildings on Greenway. The building material 
has texture and there is the addition of landscaping vines growing on the side of the parking structure.  
Each unit will have a wall HVAC unit.  The louvers are painted to match the brick color.  There will be no 
roof or ground units.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9 of 14 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 1,  2017           

There are 72 units per structure with the following breakdown of unit type: 
 

Unit Type Area (SF) # of Units 
2 bedroom/2 bath 1,286-1,356 44 
2 bedroom/2 bath/study 1,616 4 
1 bedroom/1.5 bath 1,073 4 
1 bedroom/1 bath 924-987 20 

 
Building height is addressed in the Substantial Deviation of 2000.  In one section of the Ordinance it talks 
about increasing the original PUD approvals by increasing it to 4-stories with 1 story parking underneath 
it.  Later it provides for increase in the building height to allow for 4 story buildings not to exceed 56’ in 
height.   This leaves some interpretation in that it is not clear if this is just referring to the height of the 4 
stories and not the parking level.  The buildings that are constructed are 62’. MS. WALLRICH discussed 
how building height is defined in the Zoning Ordinance as the mean height of the highest roof.    
 
The proposed multi-family structures are constructed predominately of masonry materials. The façade of 
the residential units is constructed of a thin brick embedded in precast panels that will be installed as 
horizontal panels.  The ground floor includes a stamped precast stained panel that matches the accent 
areas of the club house. 
 
There was much conversation regarding R-5 vs R-6 Zoning and the current zoning of the property.   
 
MS. WALLRICH stated the Zoning Map shows the property being R-5.  The Annexation Agreement 
indicates the property as R-6.  The Substantial Deviation of 2000 notes a R-5 zoning; however, Staff is 
unable to find any documents showing it was rezoned from R-6 to R-5.  She noted the exhibits that 
indicate R-6 zoning and “Condos/Apts” in the subject area and the condo area by Greenway Boulevard.   
She noted that PUD is what is significant.  PATRICK CONNELLY, Village Attorney, stated the idea of 
the PUD is to take a larger parcel that will require a unique plan that will not fit into R-5 or R-6 and you 
create the development standards within the PUD.   
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER questioned where in the Ordinance is there zoning for apartments.   
 
MS. WALLRICH referred to Exhibit C which identifies condo/apartments. 
 
MR. CONNELLY explained there is case law that makes it problematic to make a sole zoning decision 
on a multi-family setting based on whether it is a condominium or an apartment.  This would say you are 
now turning into the ownership of the unit rather than the density.  For example, if it was all 
condominiums, everyone could rent them out and they are still having the same amount of renters.  They 
are asking for a change in what was approved.  He noted it is problematic to make this a issue of 
apartment vs condominium.   
 
MS. WALLRICH noted that a more useful mechanisms to control ownership is Covenants and 
Restrictions, not zoning.  She stated that C & R’s are a strong regulatory power. 
 
ANDREA CROWLEY, Griffin & Gallagher, gave a presentation about the proposed project.  She 
explained there is no market for condominiums anymore and that the trend is now luxury rentals.  She 
stated they are a “for profit” developer and would not be doing this project without a Market Study 
showing this would be successful.  As future tax payers of Tinley Park, we want what is best for Tinley 
Park.   
 

Page 10 of 14 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 1,  2017           

COMMISSIONER MOYLAN asked if there were a certain number of pre-rentals in order to get 
financing on this project.  There were no comparable on the study from Will County. 
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER noted we just received the summary on the Tracy Cross Study today and 
we are unable to make a decision without seeing the full study and complete information.  MR. KRONER 
also stated that he can find nowhere in the Ordinance that says anything about apartments.  On page 10 of 
the Ordinance it talks about the impact on the school and park districts.  When this Ordinance was written 
it is clear that they were talking about condos, townhouses and homes that had impact on the school and 
park districts and services.  Will you be paying impact fees that are stated in this Ordinance?   
 
MS. CROWLEY replied that they will be paying all the fees required by ordinance..   
 
STEVEN GREGORY, Landscape Architect, gave a presentation about how they arrived at the Site Plan 
and why they are excited about the project.  He explained how the transition of housing types provides a 
buffer from the ComEd lines, 191st Street and future commercial. He stated he agreed with the original 
PUD by putting the lowest density away from 191st Street and the higher density closer to 191st Street. He 
stated that engineering has not been commissioned yet because they are waiting for the site plan approval. 
He noted that the nine buildings would be closer to the existing townhomes than the proposed two 
buildings. He stated that he feels the tradeoff provides more green space and opportunity for amenities. 
 
COMMISSIONER MOYLAN noted he was out at the site and saw that the Pump Station is about 15’ 
higher in grade compared the townhomes.   Taking into consideration the patios and the elevation, this 
causes a privacy issue for the existing townhouses.   
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK asked about the privacy issues and the distance between the buildings and the 
townhouses.   
 
MR. GREGORY stated that the proposed distance between the townhomes and the building is 195’.  He 
stated that he understood they were not residents but they want to be by creating a viable quality project 
and that the trend is not for ownership at this time. He stated they are reacting from the market pressure to 
build rental units.  
 
MS. WALLRICH stated the base elevation will be considered when the engineers evaluate it.  Regarding 
the privacy issue staff has suggested that an enclosed green screen is a possibility for the roof terrace.  
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked if there will be on-site management.   
 
MR. GREGORY stated there will be management and there will be rules that the tenants will have to 
abide by.   
 
SCOTT SHALVIS, Architect, gave a presentation and presented examples of the building materials to 
include pre cast brick samples.   
 
There was significant discussion from the Commissioners regarding the proposed building materials.  The 
Commissioners requested examples of residential buildings in the local area that have used the pre-cast 
brick.  It was also requested that Tracy Cross explain in their study the impact on the property values 
when using this type of building material.    
 
MS. WALLRICH asked MR. SHALVIS to explain the installation process and the difference between 
brick and block vs pre cast brick. 
 

Page 11 of 14 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 1,  2017           

MR. SHALVIS stated  
• Brick and block walls are done in several phases.  A block wall has to be built with concrete block 

(CMU) which is 50% hollow, then grout it, reinforce it and water barrier it. It requires redundant 
scaffolding.  The concrete block is only 8 inches.  

• The proposed pre-cast is a thin brick with 10” of solid concrete behind it.  It is better for sound, 
better for thermos performance and better for water protection.  He noted this is a modern 
technology and provides a much great PSI (Pounds per Square Inch) strength then the typical 
brick and block construction. He also noted that block and brick is dependent upon the weather 
and consistency of labor talent. 

 
COMMISSIONER SHAW asked about the occupancy rate mentioned at the Workshop being 3% in the 
9750 in Orland Park building.  In the Tracy Cross study it states 4.7%.  He asked if the Orland Park 
buildings have altered their rental rates?   
 
MR. GREGORY stated the rates have increased. 
  
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked if it is in the Tracy Cross scope to be able to submit an opinion as to 
whether putting up these buildings with precast materials would hurt the value of properties that were put 
up in the immediate area with brick and block.  Please ask them to add this to their final study and submit 
it to the Commission.  It was committed to the Commission by  Mr. Gregory and Ms. Crowley that the 
Plan Commission and Staff would have the Tracy Cross Market Study presented  no later than June 12, 
2017.  Those statements were made on behalf of the Petitioner.   
 
COMMISSIONER MOYLAN asked about the location of the walking and bike path. MR. MOYLAN 
also noted before a decision could be made a complete report from Tracy Cross would be necessary.   
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK noted the primary issues are the height exceptions and the Site Plan.  MR. 
MATUSHEK asked for additional questions from the Commissioners regarding those issues. 
 
MS. WALLRICH stated the request before you is the Site Plan and the Special Use.  The Urban Design 
Overlay District does establish a setback; however, the UD-1 only references non-residential buildings. 
 
COMMISSIONER SHAW asked about entitlement.    What is entitled without any Special Use?  This is 9 
buildings with and 16 units.  The Ordinance as approved talks about 16 buildings at 22 units.  There was 
an error in the Ordinance.  Clarifying was is entitled without exception is 9 buildings with 16 units.  The 
staff report emphasizes additional open space and the advantage of doing 2 buildings rather than 9 
buildings.  Regarding the Standards to what extent other configurations were considered not to be 
detrimental to the property values of the neighborhood.  He noted that the change from 9 buildings to 2 
buildings is what the public is concerned with.  There are other alternatives.  Have you done an analysis 
to these alternatives? 
 
MR. SHALVIS stated they did look at other alternatives but wanted to maximize the amount of green 
space. 
 
MR. SHAW stated that the report emphasizes the open space and deemphasizes the 2 large buildings that 
are not in keeping with the character of the rest of the neighborhood.   
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK stated we are trying to come up with the best plan visually that is not going to 
be a detriment to anyone’s property values.  Is there something better than this?   
 

Page 12 of 14 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 1,  2017           

COMMISSIONER SHAW stated regarding the findings what the roadway improvements are expected.  
Special Use should contribute to the economic development.  This does not support Special Use.   
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK stated with no further comment he asked for testimony from the public. 
 
Resident #1 – Resident of Brookside Glen.  Everyone is talking about the original concept.  The 
Ordinance is a clear as you can get regarding R-5 to R-6.   R-5 is low density.  R-6 has a whole paragraph.  
The two are different in regards to ownership.  The Orland Property is a totally different area.  There are 
other locations that are probably better for this.   
 
Resident #2 – Resident of Brookside Glen.  The impact of 300 cars, guest, fire department, police and 
schools.  Where are we R-5 or R-6.  This does not fit into this community.   
 
Resident #3 – VP of Townhouse Association.  Request to continue this PH so other residents can attend 
due to the graduation.    Market Research – highest rent in area is $1300.00.  These are not 2 like 
properties.  PUD – look over I-80 you will see condos and townhouse and now 2 massive hotels – doesn’t 
fit into neighborhood.  Has anyone done a traffic study?  Where are the samples of the HVAC as 
promised at the Workshop?  Is there a Bond or Escrow to guarantee finishing the project?  The amenities 
you are talking about don’t make sense.  Can the parking decks be put on the inside of the building rather 
than the outside of the building to eliminate noise?  Can you move the dog park? 
 
Resident #4 – Lives across street from the nearest townhouse.  This is a glowing report – but it leaves out 
– doesn’t fit in neighborhood.  
 
Resident #5 – Zoning – condos, townhomes, single family.  This should cease.  Pre-fab stuff – where are 
you coming from?  Fair Market Study – what is this based on?  People who rent don’t care about walking 
path.   
 
Resident #6 – Who commissioned the report?  I would rather not have a dormitory in my neighborhood. 
 
Resident #7 – Live behind the dog park.  PUD – a community, this is an oasis, no one else has access to 
these features they are proposing.  Will there be another hearing if they want to put in the banked parking 
spaces?  Will these parking spaces fit there?  Cars will shine lights in our windows?  Are there any other 
PUD’s in Tinley Park? 
 
Resident #8 – Brookside Glen – 20 years.  This project does not belong in the community.  Petition 
submitted.  2 Ginormous “Hotels” doesn’t belong in this area.  Don’t welcome this.  The renters have no 
stake in the game.  Horrible looking. The submitted Petition mentions the opposition of the Residences of 
Brookside Glen development on both height and site plan.  There are more than 500 signatures opposing 
the development on this Petition. 
 
Resident #9 – House behind Pumping Station.  What will residents see in back yard?  Power Lines, 
Viability of the project consider the Gun Range and the dogs are loud.   
 
Resident #10 – Resident near the proposed units.  I am dismayed with the Market Study being an 
Executive Summary.  Will there be someone available to answer questions from those that did the Market 
study? 
 
Resident #11 – Live in Brookside Glen on the  Lancaster side – Who will monitor the security cameras? 

Page 13 of 14 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 1,  2017           

288 parking spaces for 144 apartments.  Where will visitors park?  Least expensive cost of building unit is 
$104,000.  3 ½ years to recoup money.  Can they guarantee rental for 10 years.  Like Commission to 
consider all the people who came out tonight.  Need to delay this until the complete study comes out. 

Resident #12 – Site Plan Approval and Special Use – Nothing on vehicular ingress and egress.  
Congestion will occur.  Many things need to take into consideration.   

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER SHAW, seconded by COMMISSIONER KRONER to 
continue the Public Hearing on THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN – SOUTHWEST CORNER 
OF MAGNUSON LANE AND 191ST STREET – SITE PLAN APPROVAL AND SPECIAL USE 
PERMIT to the next regular Plan Commission Meeting on June 15, 2017.   The Motion was approved 
unanimously by voice call.  CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK declared the Motion approved. 
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK asked for further comments from the Commission. 
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked Staff to check on the turning lane on intersection of 171st and 
LaGrange Road. 
 
COMMISSIONER BERTHOLD asked about the position of the entrance to the Dog Park and parking 
areas.  He noted that the developer would have to address these issues.  There is a noise impact related to 
the position of the patios.  This is related to the Site Plan.  If you don’t address this I will not approve it.   
 
MS. CROWLEY asked for specifics that need to be addressed. 
 
MR. BERGTHOLD replied the position of the banked parking spaces, the dog park issues and the patio 
positions.   
  
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business, a Motion was made by COMISSIONER BERGTHOLD, seconded by 
COMMISSIONER SHAW, to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission of June 1, 2017 at 
10:54 p.m. The Motion was unanimously approved by voice call.  PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN 
MATUSHEK declared the meeting adjourned.   
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14 of 14 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 28,  2017           

CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK noted that Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice 
regarding the Public Hearing was published in the local newspaper in accordance with State law and 
Village requirements.   
  
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK requested anyone present in the audience, who wished to give testimony, 
comment, engage in cross-examination or ask questions during the Hearing stand and be sworn in. 
 
PATRICK CONNELLY, Village Attorney, stated at the last meeting there was an issue regarding zoning.  
Some of the documents are missing from Village files for the years 1990 to 2000.  It is recommended that 
the petition before you be reviewed as Substantial Deviation regardless of the zoning designation and the 
Commissioners review the application using the Standards as outlined in the Zoning Ordinance.   
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK noted letters have been received from residents and will be made part of the 
Public Record.   
 
PAULA WALLRICH, Interim Community Development Director, presented a PowerPoint and stated 
Applicant will respond to concerns from the Commission and the Public following her presentation. 
 
MS. WALLRICH stated the Petitioner’s request is for approval of a Substantial Deviation from the 
Brookside Glen PUD which was annexed and adopted in 1990.  There was a Substantial Deviation in 
2000 which provided for a total of 22 structures with 16 dwelling units in each of them.  There were a 
total of 13 condominiums built, leaving 9 structures still to be developed on the subject property.  The 
Applicant’s request is to deviate from the approved nine (9) structures with 144 units to two (2) structures 
of 72 units each for a total of 144 units as approved in the 2000 Substantial Deviation.  A third building is 
proposed for a clubhouse with a pool and other residential amenities.  
 
MS. WALLRICH then explained Planned Unit Developments, noting the following: 

• Master Planning Zoning Technique – applicants can ask for a Substantial Deviation 
• Provides flexibility for Planning and Zoning 
• Suspends underlying Zoning District regulations 
• Guided by the overall intent of the PUD 

 
She noted the Site Plan has changed due to questions and concerns raised by the public and the Plan 
Commission at previous meetings.  The roof terrace was moved from the south end to the north end of 
Building #2. There were also questions regarding the location of the dog park and the hours of operation, 
and the location of the banked parking with concerns of headlights shining into the existing townhouses.  
She noted that the developer will discuss these changes later in the meeting. 
 
Staff reviewed identified two (2) exceptions to Zoning Ordinance with the proposed Site Plan;  one is 
regarding setback and the other is building height. MS. WALLRICH noted that the Urban Design Overlay 
District requires a maximum front yard setback no greater than 20’. The existing condos on Greenway 
Boulevard are setback 30’.  Building #1 has a front yard setback ranging from 14’ to 24’ and Building #2 
ranges from 22’ to  36’. They vary due to the curvature of the street. Regarding building height, MS. 
WALLRICH stated that Staff requested the developer to raise the roof for improved articulation of the 
roof line. The main ridge is 62’, the maximum height is 69’, but because of the way roofs are measured, 
by building height definition, the mid-point of the slope is at 62’.  The property slopes approximately 10’ 
from the existing condos on Greenway Boulevard.  Final engineering is not complete so the exact 
measurement is unknown at this time.  The existing condominium roof ridge is at 62’and the lower ridge 
is at 55’. 
Staff noted the following Open Items: 

• Security Cameras  

Page 3 of 9 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 28,  2017           

• Property maintenance and on-site management residency 
• Number of buildings 
• Viability – will this product be successful in the marketplace? 
• Timing, staff recommends assurances that the amenities are completed at the same time as the 

buildings are completed – there will be no occupancy until all amenities are completed.  
 
MS. WALLRICH noted that after Plan Commission discussion and public testimony the Plan 
Commission will review the Standards by which they will judge this project.   
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK asked for a presentation from the Petitioner. 
 
ANDREA CROWLEY, Griffin & Gallagher, LLC, introduced the Development Team.  She thanked 
Staff, the Commission and residents for all their helpful comments and suggestions and noted that the 
team will address previous questions and concerns.   MS. CROWLEY stated that the rental issue is not an 
issue due to case law. The Developer is seeking Site Plan Approval and a Special Use for Substantial 
Deviation.  She noted that the question is about how the 144 units sit on the site and how much green 
space can fit on the property.  She stated that the Developer feels this is a better product and looks better 
and has much more value than the original approval.   
 
STEPHEN GREGORY, Landscape Architect and Land Planner, presented a PowerPoint and stated the 
team has worked diligently with staff regarding changes to the original plan.  The Petitioner is requesting 
a Substantial Deviation regarding the changes from nine (9) buildings to two (2) buildings, and changing 
the footprint to allow for more green space.  The Petitioner is asking for a Variation on the height of the 
buildings.  They have incorporated the change on roof height per Staff’s request, which added interest to 
the overall plan.  Regarding the setback, the Urban Design Overlay District allows a zero lot line, but the 
building will be pushed back to reflect the character of the street.   
 
There were concerns regarding the patio area being close to the townhouses.  The Petitioner was able to 
flip the orientation so it is located closer to the clubhouse rather than the townhouses.  Additionally, we 
were asked to look at the land banked parking which we were able to put in an interior site and if the 
parking is needed, the headlights will not shine on the townhouses.  This will also increase the amount of 
landscaping.  The distance between the townhomes and the buildings is 200’ with no parking.  The dog 
park area hours are dusk to dawn and the residents will have to have a security fob to enter. 
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked why they did not move the dog park area to a different location so it 
is not close to the townhouses.  MR. GREGORY replied they felt spatially it did not work out and that the 
size and location did not fit.  He stated that they felt the dog park needs a larger area.  COMMISSIONER 
KRONER asked how often the dog park would be cleaned and by who.  MR. GREGORY replied that it 
would be cleaned by maintenance, but have not worked out the details yet.  COMMISSIONER KRONER 
stated he did not understand why they could not flip the dog park with the arboretum, questioned the 
difference in the square footage of both areas, and stated he felt it would be an easy fix so the dog park 
would not be close to the existing townhouses. He also noted that a decision has not been made as to 
whether there will be on-site maintenance.  He wanted to make sure this was addressed.  MS. 
WALLRICH noted the location of the dog park could be a condition of the approval.   
 
After much discussion MR. GREGORY agreed that they would revisit this and the dog park could be 
moved to the other side of the site where the arboretum is currently located on the Site Plan.  MR. 
GREGORY offered to delete the dog park and replace the dog park with a kid’s park. 
 

Page 4 of 9 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 28,  2017           

MR. GREGORY then explained that the Rules and Regulations take the place of Declarations and 
Covenants.  The leases will be one year leases.  The owner of the property will make sure there is 
maintenance on the property.  There will be 288 parking spaces for the 144 units.  There will be 72 spaces 
land banked for 2.5 spaces per unit, noting that they have doubled the required open space to comply with 
the required screening.   
 
MR. GREGORY noted that they will have security cameras which will be monitored by the management 
company.  Management will be there from 9am-5pm daily and arrangements will be made to monitor the 
cameras after hours. 
 
MR. GREGORY presented a picture of the existing streetscape and the proposed view of the two 
buildings and the clubhouse.  
 
TRACY CROSS, Tracy Cross Associates, Inc., gave a presentation explaining the Market Study that was 
presented to the Commission and posted on the Village Website.  MR. CROSS noted the Market Potential 
revealed a 1.8% vacancy rate for rental property.  The units are upward of 1,200 sq. ft. with a rate of 
$1.60 per sq. ft.  The potential residents would require an income of approximately $65,000 to afford the 
rental rate.  The profile of the renter would be 45% singles and couples under 35 years old.  
 
There was much discussion from the Commissioners regarding the Tracy Cross Market Study.   
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK asked what would make a person rent in Tinley Park as opposed to 
Downtown Chicago?  MR. CROSS replied the Downtown Chicago rentals are approximately $3.25 per 
sq. ft. and the rents are higher and would require an income of approximately $100,000.  He noted there is 
strong growth in Will County and employment is up in that area.   
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER questioned MR. CROSS about the study, specifically comparable 
properties, target market, population projections, vacancy rates, proximity to transportation, and price 
point. COMMISSIONER KRONER asked about the property values of homes in the area decreasing 
when this project uses precast building materials and why didn’t the study include the Orland Park 
apartments. COMMISSIONER JANOWKSI questioned MR. CROSS on the locations of the properties 
used as comparables. 
 
MR. CROSS replied to COMMISSIONER KRONER by stating the statistics noted in his Study explained 
how he arrived at the data in the Study.  He noted the amounts of projects in the local area are limited.  He 
used comparables that included newer construction even if they were not in the immediate area.  He noted 
that property values will not be affected by the precast construction and there are no homes within two 
blocks of the Orland Park apartments. 
 
COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI asked what would drive a person to live in Tinley Park. MR. CROSS 
replied 42% of the existing renters in Tinley Park are 35 years of age or younger.   
 
COMMISSIONER MOYLAN questioned MR. CROSS if regarding true market is what someone is 
willing to pay.  He asked why someone would rent an apartment for $2,500.00 per month when they can 
rent a townhouse in the same area for less.  MR. CROSS replied the apartment will have amenities and 
the townhouses would not.   
 
MIKE WALSH and JUSTIN FROSH, ATMI Precast, presented pictures of buildings in the area that have 
used the precast material in their construction.   
 

Page 5 of 9 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 28,  2017           

COMMISSIONER KRONER noted that of the 13 properties previously presented to the Commission, 
only 1 was a residential property. COMMISSIONER KRONER also asked about the HVAC units.   
 
COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI asked where the precast product is manufactured. 
 
MR. WALSH and MR. FROSH presented pictures of two additional residential properties using the 
precast material. They stated the precast is concrete and the advantages are: 

• Increased fire protection  
• Less noise  
• Life-cycle is longer  

 
MR. FROSH replied that that precast product is manufactured in Aurora, IL. MR. WALSH replied the 
HVAC units are called Magic Packs and they are self-contained ducted units. 
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK asked for testimony from the public.   
 
LINDA JEFFREY stated she is a 20+ year resident of Brookside Glen and she is concerned about safety.   
 
MARGE CAHILL is a representative of the community group “United Against Brookside Glen 
Apartments”.  The group consists of residents of Brookside Glen and there are over 900 members on 
Facebook.  The group will present Objections to the Development.   
 
JOHN WEGNER presented Objection #1 – Character of the Neighborhood.  Per section II, Planned Unit 
Developments, B.6.a.: 
 
Substantial Deviation:  Any changes which include increases in density, increases in the height and/or  
bulk of building, or other changes which change the concept or intent of the development, shall be 
deemed a substantial deviation.   
 
He stated these buildings are extremely oversized and not compatible with the surrounding low-density 
neighborhood.   
 
MICHELLE PALUMBO presented Objection #2 – Traffic Concerns.  She stated this development will 
create significant traffic congestion.  We believe the increased traffic is not in compliance with Zoning 
Ordinance SECTION VII-Planned Unit Developments, Section C.  STANDARDS AND CRITERIA FOR 
PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS, Sub-Section I.  General Provisions For All Planned Unit 
Developments, item (f) which states: 
 
The street system serving the Planned Unit Development is adequate to carry the traffic that will be 
imposed upon the streets by the proposed development, and that the streets and driveways on the site of 
the Planned Unit Development will be adequate to serve the residents or occupants of the proposed 
development. 
 
Objection #3 – Trust with the Developer – She stated the developer, on several occasions, has acted in a 
manner that has soured the trust of this commission and the community as a whole.   
 
MIKE FITZGERALD – presented Objection #4 – Supply of light and air on adjacent properties. 
Zoning Ordinance SECTION X. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT, Section G 
VARIATIONS: 4. Standards for Variations, Item D-6 states:  
The proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent property. 
 

Page 6 of 9 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 28,  2017           

Objection #5 – Variations are not allowed solely to increase profit.   
Tinley Park does not allow a developer to ask for a variance to increase their profit.   
Zoning Ordinance SECTION X. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT, Section G 
VARIATIONS: 4. Standards for Variations, Item D-3 states: 
The purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of the 
property. 
 
BRIAN GOOLESTE – presented Objection #6 – Impact on Property Values – Zoning Ordinance 
SECTION X. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT, Section G VARIATIONS: 4, Standards for 
Variations, Item D-6 states: 
The proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent property, or 
substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of fire, or endanger the 
public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.   
 
RESIDENT – presented Conclusion of 6 Objections – They stated this project is too large for the existing 
low density community, it will change the character of the neighborhood, create traffic problems, there 
are trust issues with the developer, it will have a negative impact on the air and light of adjacent 
properties, these variations are not allowed to based solely on increased profit and it will negatively 
impact surrounding property values.  This project is better suited for a higher density mixed use area near 
a commuter train station, not a low-density residential neighborhood across from a dog shelter and 
shooting range.  Request a hard copy be made part of the official minutes.   
 
MIKE STUCKLEY – There is a security issue.  Have you considered a Courtesy Officer with a 
discounted rental rate?  How many people will occupy the green space?  Precast could need painting. 
 
CAROL BATES – The turnover of rental units is unacceptable.   
 
DEBRA HUNTER – Regarding the Market Study, I am concerned with the comparables used.  The 
Orland Park development is very nice and I would consider living there.  They do not compare to this 
development.   
 
GERALD STASZAK – I am a realtor and no one has ever asked me for a property that is behind a 144 
unit apartment building. 
 
RESIDENT – The train station is not 1.3 miles from the propose development as mentioned in the Tracy 
Cross Study.  I drove it and it is 2.1 miles away. 
 
RESIDENT – A few weeks ago the Commissioners were sent letters saying their services were no longer 
needed.  The Mayor can now hand pick his Commissioners.  I want to thank the current Commissioners 
for their service and hard work.   
 
JOHN MILOSOVIC – Tinley has changed dramatically.  Why hasn’t the closing of Lincoln-Way North 
been mentioned in the Study?   
 
MS. CROWLEY gave a rebuttal to the resident’s comments. She stated this will be a better project than 
the previous proposed project and rental is not an issue. A traffic study was done as part of the initial 
approval.  The sun will not be blocked by the building.  On the Orland Park development the commercial 
came after the apartments were built.   
 
RESIDENT – I have investment property in Tinley Park and I have a hard time getting $1,300.00 per 
month.  How do they expect to get $2,500.00? 

Page 7 of 9 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 28,  2017           

 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK asked for a motion to close the Public Hearing.   
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER KRONER, seconded by COMMISSIONER MOYLAN, to 
close the Public Hearing on THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN – SOUTHWEST CORNER OF 
MAGNUSON LANE AND 191ST STREET – SITE PLAN APPROVAL AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT. 
The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK declared the Motion 
approved. 
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK stated there are Finding of the Facts in the Commissioner’s packets. 
 
MR. CONNELLY stated if the Commission feels it is appropriate, this is the time for a Motion.   
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER KRONER, seconded by COMMISSIONER MOYLAN to 
recommend that the Village Board DENY a Special Use Permit to the Applicant, Andrea T. Crowley, on 
behalf of Karli Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture, for a Substantial Deviation from 
the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development to allow for the construction of two (2) four-story multi-
family structures with semi-underground parking containing seventy-two (72) units in each building for a 
total of 144 dwelling units on the subject site and a 3,495 square foot clubhouse, generally located in the 
southwest corner of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street in the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development, in 
accordance with plans as noted on the List of Reviewed Plans within the Staff Report.   
 

AYE:   COMMISSIONERS BERGTHOLD, JANOWSKI, KAPPEL, KRONER 
MOYLAN, AND CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK 

 
ABSTAIN:   COMMISSIONER STANTON 

 
ABSENT:   COMMISSIONER SHAW 

 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK declared the Motion approved. 
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER stated to the Petitioner if they return to the Plan Commission with another 
plan, we do ask that you are better prepared and more accurate.  He also noted he has been involved with 
the Plan Commission for 1 ½ yrs. and the amount of time that each Commissioner has put into this project 
is impressive and it has been an absolute enjoyment to be on the Commission.  COMMISSIONER 
KRONER announced the 5 of the 6 current Planning Commissioners would be replaced after this 
meeting.  Staff has also put in a lot of time and I would like to thank the Commissioners leaving, for their 
service to the town and residents of Tinley Park.   
 
GOOD OF THE ORDER CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK stated the Commissioners are the finest people 
and I would like to thank Staff for their hard work. 
 
COMMISSIONER MOYLAN stated he would like to thank the Staff and the Commission.   
 
COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI stated it has been an honor and privilege.  We have had a lot of obstacles 
of the last year.  This Commission and Staff have worked diligently to try and make this a better 
community in good faith.  Each of these individuals has brought a lot of diversity and we have taken this 
Commission to a whole different level.  Stay involved and if you have an issue, talk to your Trustees.  I 
am proud to be a resident of Tinley Park.  I will stay involved.   
 
RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 

Page 8 of 9 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 28,  2017           

 
RESIDENT #1 – I am a resident of the School District 210.  They are on the watch list at the lowest level 
of the State.  They get 2 out of 4, and are at the bottom 10%.  This is a big deal for tax payers in the State.   
 
RESIDENT #2 – This Commission is all the people we should keep. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, a Motion was made by COMISSIONER JANOWSKI, seconded by 
COMMISSIONER MOYLAN, to adjourn the Special Meeting of the Plan Commission of June 28, 2017 
at 9:59 p.m. The Motion was unanimously approved by voice call.  PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN 
MATUSHEK declared the meeting adjourned.   
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9 of 9 



 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 

 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Applicant, Andrea T. Crowley, on behalf of Karli Mayher and DJM-Vandenberg 
Brookside Joint Venture, seeks Site Plan Approval and a Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from the approved Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development 
(PUD). The Applicant proposes to construct two (2) multi-family structures with 
seventy-two (72) two and three bedroom rental units in each building for a total of 
144 units.   
 
The approved PUD (2000) provided for nine (9) 16-unit structures for a total of 144 
units. The density and unit count remain the same as originally approved; however, 
reducing the number of structures allows for additional green space and amenities 
such as  a club house, pool, cabanas, dog park, outdoor recreation and fitness areas, 
walking path, grilling areas, arboretum, Frisbee golf,  and fire pits. Each unit is 
provided with an indoor parking space.  
 
The property is zoned R-5 PD (Low Density Residential, Planned Unit Development) 
and is located in the Urban Design Overlay District.  As a PUD, deviations from the 
Zoning Ordinance are considered exceptions rather than variations; therefore, these 
exceptions are reviewed in context of the original intent of the PUD rather than strict 
adherence to the Village’s Zoning Ordinance. The following table outlines the 
exceptions according to the proposed plans: 
 

Exception Requirement Proposed 
Building Setback 20’ maximum 14’ – 36’ 
Parking Setback 25’ minimum TBD 
Building Height 56’ maximum 62’ 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Applicant 
Andrea Crowley, on 
behalf of Karli Mayher 
and DJM-Vandenberg 
Brookside Joint Venture  
 
Property Location 
SWC of Magnuson Lane and 
191st Street 
 
Parcel Size 
7.65 ac 
 
Zoning 
R-5  PD 
Brookside Glen PUD 
 
PINs 
19-09-11-200-015-0000 
19-09-11-200-013-0000 
 
Approvals Sought 
Site Plan Approval, Special 
Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from 
a PUD (which includes 
exceptions from Zoning 
Ordinance) 
 
 
Project Planners 
Paula J. Wallrich, AICP 
Interim Community 
Development Director 
 
Stephanie Kisler, AICP  
Planner I 
 

PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
May 18, 2017   
 
THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN 
SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 2 of 14 
 

BACKGROUND 
 

 

 
Excerpt from the Original Brookside Glen PUD 

 
The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development (PUD) was approved as part of an annexation of 828 acres in 1990.  
Since that time there have been amendments to the Agreement as well as several PUD modifications and rezonings.  
This is not atypical for a property of this size that has had to respond to market trends and fluctuating economic 
conditions over time.  The subject property was originally planned for a mixture of commercial, office, restricted 
industrial, and residential uses (condo/ apartments).   
 
 In 2000, a Substantial Deviation from the PUD was 
approved for nine (9) 4-story, 16 unit condo buildings 
similar to the housing types that currently exist on 
Brookside Glen Drive and Greenway Boulevard.  This project 
was never built and Staff has been unable to locate plans for 
the project. Since that time, there have been a few other 
proposals including a condominium development scheme 
with nine 8-unit buildings and one 16-unit building 
(submitted in 2007; see image below). In 2014, a proposal 
was submitted for 123 units in 17 buildings comprised of 
between 4 to 15 attached single-family rowhouse dwelling 
units per building (see image on next page). Neither project  
was approved.   
 

 
Proposed Plans from 2007 (by others) 

Existing Condominiums 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 3 of 14 
 

 
Proposed Plans from 2014 (by others) 

 
 
In July of 2016, the Village was approached by the Applicant, Karli Mayher, to develop the same 7.65 acre parcel. 
However, her proposal was for two (2) buildings instead of nine (9), yet maintained the same density (18.8 du/ac) 
and unit count (144 dwelling units).  As part of the Applicant’s study of the residential market they discovered that 
financing for condo developments is becoming increasingly more difficult due to the subprime mortgage crisis and 
the trend was moving away from home ownership (condos).  Tinley Park is becoming more attractive to the young 
professional wanting luxury housing without the maintenance responsibilities. These renters are looking to live 
close to public transportation and shopping opportunities.  The Applicant is seeking to capitalize on this housing 
trend and develop upscale rental units that provide modern amenities not commonly found in rental housing. 
 
Rental developments have historically struggled with maintaining value over time. There are many examples in the 
south suburbs that experience a decline in building condition as maintenance costs increase.  One way to insulate 
against such decline is to ensure there is an inherent cost or value to the development that necessitates a certain 
Rate of Return (ROI) over time.  The subject parcel has proposed significant amenities beyond what is expected or 
required of multi-family developments. Such things as a clubhouse, pool, exercise areas and fitness center, dog park, 
walking paths, outdoor grilling area, roof decks, and cabanas not only contribute to the overall character of the 
development but contribute to a higher operating cost that in turn commands a certain lease rate to guarantee an 
expected rate of return. The Applicant has also referenced market research that indicates that the amenities of a 
development that distinguish one development from another, thus, increasing its leasing market.  
 
 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 4 of 14 
 

ZONING, ADJACENT LAND USE, & COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
 
The property is zoned R-5 PD (Low Density Residential) and is part of the Brookside Glen Planned Unit 
Development (PUD).  It is bordered by the ComEd transmission lines to the west, B-3 PD (General Business and 
Commercial District) to the east, R-5 PD to the south and southeast and R-2 PD (Single-Family Residential) to the 
far south.   The site is located within the Urban Design Overlay District (UD-1) that is intended to “accommodate the 
automobile, but are primarily designed to promote non-motorized and public transportation movements to, within, 
and among properties”. UD-1 attempts to create a streetscape that is defined by buildings rather than parking lots.   
 

 
Graphic Showing Zoning in the Vicinity of the Site 

 
Surrounding land uses include vacant 
property to the east that is planned and 
zoned for commercial uses.  A municipal 
pump station is located immediately to the 
south and a townhome development exists to 
the southeast with 2-story structures 
housing 4-6 units.  East of 80th Avenue, multi-
family uses continue with similar 
townhomes and 4-story condominium 
buildings of 16 units each. These structures 
are designed similarly to the proposed 
project in that they are effectively 5-story 
buildings due to the ground floor parking 
garage. A detention pond is located to the 
north and functions as a buffer to 191st 
Street. The Wolverine Pipeline traverses the 
site (east to west), just north of the proposed 
dog park. 
 
The underlying zoning district of R-5 provides for certain bulk regulations, as does the UD-1.  As a Planned Unit 
Development, deviations from these requirements are considered ‘exceptions’ and are not reviewed as a ‘true’ 
variation from the Zoning Ordinance; instead, they are reviewed in context of the approved PUD.  The Commission 
may wish to evaluate these deviations using the PUD Standards and Criteria for a PUD (Sections VII.C.1. and 
VII.C.3). As a Special Use, Staff will provide Findings of Fact at the Public Hearing consistent with the Special Use 
standards in Section X.J.5 of the Zoning Ordinance.  Any exceptions that Staff has noted during the review are 
identified throughout this report. 
 
The Village’s Comprehensive Plan indicates the subject area as residential.  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 5 of 14 
 

SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 
The proposed Site Plan shows two (2) multi-family residential structures (each with seventy-two (72) dwelling 
units) and a club house in between the residential structures. The buildings follow the curve of Magnuson Lane. 
The Applicant has worked cooperatively with Staff to create an optimal Site Plan, resulting in several revisions to 
the original submittal. There will be a few additional revisions presented at the workshop meeting on May 18th. 
 

 
Excerpt of the Applicant’s Color Site Plan 

 

 
Staff ’s Graphic Showing the Site Plan Over an Aerial Image 

 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 6 of 14 
 

Setbacks 
The buildings are located closer to the street in order to meet the intent of the Urban Design Overlay District, which 
establishes a maximum front yard setback of twenty feet (20’). Staff notes that Building 1 has a front yard setback 
that ranges from 14’ to 24’ and Building 2 has front yard setbacks ranging from 22’ to 36’. It is important to 
consider the scale of the building when thinking about the most suitable setbacks. Due to the height and scale of the 
buildings, increased setbacks provide opportunity for additional landscaping and berming against the foundation 
wall. Additionally, the curvature of the street and the resulting sight lines along with the curvature of the building 
façade serve to minimize the scale of the building. This all contributes to the mitigation of the scale of the building 
and provide for a more pedestrian scale to the streetscape. As a point of reference, there are condominiums of 
similar scale with respect to height located along Brookside Glen Drive and Greenway Boulevard which have 
setbacks ranging from 24-30’.  

 
Exception #1: Front yard setback. The Urban Design Overlay District requires a twenty foot (20’) 
maximum setback for the front yard. The proposed structures do not meet this requirement in all 
instances. 

 
Additionally, in an attempt to meet the intent of the Urban Design Overlay District’s regulations, the Applicant has 
located the majority of the surface parking behind the buildings. The regulations call for parking to be set back a 
minimum of twenty-five feet (25’) in front yards. Staff has recommended that all parking areas meet this 
requirement. A revised Site Plan will be presented at the workshop meeting. Parking is discussed further in the 
Parking section of the Staff Report. 
 

Exception #2: Parking setback. The Urban Design Overlay District requires a twenty-five foot (25’) 
minimum setback for parking. The Applicant is encouraged to design all parking areas to meet this 
requirement. 

 
Landscape 
The Applicant has provided a Landscape Plan that meets the spirit of the Landscape Ordinance, according to the 
Village’s Landscape Architect. Staff recommends some minor revisions to the Landscape Plan, which will be 
resubmitted for final review prior to the Public Hearing. The minor revisions include re-arranging the plantings to 
be grouped rather than planted in a linear pattern and correcting specifications for plant material sizes. Staff will 
continue to work with the Applicant to achieve a satisfactory Landscape Plan. 
 

 
Excerpt from the Proposed Landscape Plan 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 7 of 14 
 

Parking & Access 
Some of Staff ’s suggested revisions to the Site Plan include land banking some parking spaces and reconfiguring 
the access drive at the south end of the property. The Site Plan currently contains 360 parking spaces (144 of which 
are in the ground floor garages in the residential buildings), which meets the Village’s parking regulations in 
Section VIII.A.10. (2.5 parking spaces/DU). 
 
The Applicant does not anticipate the need for 2.5 parking spaces per unit, especially since there are one-bedroom 
units. In addition, the development will be marketed to young professionals that are seeking access to public 
transportation and therefore often require only one (1) vehicle per household. The Applicant has agreed to land 
bank parking spaces and construct them if needed in the future. This requires the providing space for parking but 
not improving it until a need is established. As a result this will create additional green space for the development 
until such time as the parking is needed (or not needed). The parking areas that will be land banked will be spaces 
located nearest Magnuson Lane, thereby parking will primarily be located behind the structures to meet the intent 
of the Urban Design Overlay District This would not necessarily constitute an exception since the total number of 
required parking spaces will be provided. This is an acceptable practice within the context of a PUD. Staff 
recommends notation of the land banking as part of the Special Use conditions.  
 
Staff also suggested that the Applicant reconfigure the south curb cuts on Magnuson Lane and consolidate them 
into one single access point. This will preserve access to the municipal pump station and create a safer entry into 
the residential site. Additionally, Staff requested that the parking garages have access out each end of the 
residential buildings to improve the maneuverability within the garages. This change will create new garage entry 
points on the south side of Building 1 and the north side of Building 2. The Applicant will revise the plans 
accordingly. 
 
The plans show the addition of public sidewalk along the west side of Magnuson Lane. Staff recommends the 
sidewalk also be added along the south side of Magnuson Lane/Greenway Boulevard to link John Michael Drive to 
Brushwood Lane via public sidewalk. The Applicant has provided sidewalks and carriage walks within the site itself 
to serve the residents and guests. Staff has encouraged the Applicant to add crosswalks to further improve the 
pedestrian safety within the site. 
 
The Applicant has provided a bike connection to the Frankfort Square Park District’s bike trail system that is just 
south of the municipal pump station. The bike trail meanders through residential areas and eventually leads south 
to the Old Plank Road Trail. 
 
 
Lighting 
The Photometric Plan indicates adequate lighting in the parking areas, which is provided by decorative light 
fixtures. Staff recommends the Applicant add decorative wall sconces near the entry doors and garage doors to add 
to the aesthetics and the residential character of the buildings. 
 
 
Trash Enclosures 
The Applicant has provided an interior trash room for the tenant’s to dispose of their waste. A management 
company will handle the trash collection from the trash room to the outdoor trash enclosures. The exterior trash 
enclosures will be constructed with materials matching the façade of the buildings. 
 
 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 8 of 14 
 

Amenities 
In order to create and preserve value for the residential dwelling units, the Applicant proposes many amenities on-
site, including but not limited to: 

• Indoor ground-level parking garages with at least one space per dwelling unit;  
• A club house including an outdoor pool with cabanas, a fitness center, locker rooms, free WiFi, a lounge, a 

meeting room, a computer room, and a great room with a kitchenette. 
• Outdoor grilling areas for each building, including grill stations, fire pits, outdoor seating, pergolas, and a 

service sink; 
• Disc golf baskets; 
• Bike storage (interior and exterior); 
• Electric car charging stations; 
• Exterior exercise circuit equipment; 
• A dog park (for private use by the residents) including a large and small dog area, complete with seating 

area, a drinking fountain, and training fixtures such as a jump bar and weave poles; 
• An arboretum area at the north end of the site featuring outdoor seating; 
• A bike trail connection to a major bike trail system; 
• Over 4 acres of open space; and 
• Outdoor terraces available to the residents in addition to their own private balconies.  

 

 
Rendering of the Outdoor Terrace and Grilling Stations 

 
 

 
Close View of Grilling Stations 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 9 of 14 
 

ARCHITECTURE 
 

 
 

The two (2) residential structures bookend the site with mirror images of each other.  The structures are 4-stories 
of residential uses over a ground-level parking garage. The building height ranges from 57’ to 71’ with the highest 
range reflecting the elevation of the highest peak measured from floor grade to maximum peak while the lowest 
height reflects the ground elevation to the lowest roof elevation.  The site has been graded to minimize the exposed 
ground level elevations. (see the Building Height section for further discussion). 

 
The street façade had a central architectural feature to identify 
the street access; it also has increased roof height and projects 
5’ from the front façade.  A wood trellis frames the doorway on 
both the front and rear facades with tapered stone columns. 
The top floor unit is set back to create a roof deck and includes 
the floor to ceiling windows. The west entrances will function 
as the main entrance to the facility; however, the east façade is 
also designed with a similar entry feature as required by the 
UD-1.  
 
There are 72 units per structure with the following breakdown 
of unit type: 
 

Unit Type Area (SF) # of Units 
2 bedroom/2 bath 1,286-1,356 44 
2 bedroom/2 bath/study 1,616 4 
1 bedroom/1.5 bath 1,073 4 
1 bedroom/1 bath 924-987 20 

 
The smallest unit is 924 SF (1 bedroom) with the largest 2 bedroom/2 bath/study unit measuring 1,616 SF.  All 
units exceed the Village’s minimum size requirements for usable floor area. In addition to the generous unit size, all 
units have at least one (1) balcony with some units having two (2) balconies, private terraces, or large private roof 
decks. The outside end units of each building have terraces measuring 23’ x 31’, plus a balcony. 
 
The architecture provides for varying roof heights, which help to break up the expanse of the roof line but also 
allow for several units to have increased ceiling heights in excess of 13 feet. These same units also are enhanced 
with floor to ceiling windows and private roof decks. Each structure reflects the curvature of the roadway.  
Articulation is provided throughout each façade with inset and projecting balconies.  
 
The ground floor parking garage provides one (1) interior parking space per unit.  Vehicular access will be 
provided at each end of the structure. A separate garage is provided at the rear outer edge of each building that 
provides 10 parking spaces and an expansive roof deck on top (47’ x 93’) and includes seating areas and grilling 
stations.  
 
 
 
 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 10 of 14 
 

Building Height   
The height of the main ridge line of the proposed multi-family structures are 64’+ with the peak of the roof of the 
central entrance features measuring 71’+.  However, building height is measured as “the mean height level between 
eaves and ridge of gable, hip, and gambrel roofs”; therefore, the height of the tallest roof (at the entrance) is 
considered 65’.  For comparison, the height of the condominium units on Brookside Glen Drive and Greenway 
Boulevard are 62’ in height.  While the maximum height allowed in the R-5 District is 35’, as part of a PUD and the 
Substantial Deviation request the Commission may consider this as an exception to the Zoning Ordinance.  Support 
for this exception is found through the analysis of the various approving documents for this PUD and is presented 
as follows: 
 
The Annexation Agreement of the original PUD (1989) provided for 122.8 acres of townhomes zoned R-5 and 21.5 
acres of condominiums zoned R-6  (see graphic of the proposed allotment of zoning districts under ‘Background’ 
above).  The maximum height in each of these districts is 35’ and 40’ respectfully.  There were several amendments 
to the original Agreement over the following years that continued to alter the original zoning and master planning 
for the area, including an amendment and approval of a Substantial Deviation of the PUD in 2000 which increased 
the allowable density, unit count, and height of the condominium units.   The ordinance reads:  

“The original Planned Unit Development called for 429.9 acres of single-family residential lots with a total of 
1,127 lots, while the revised Planned Unit Development proposed herein would provide for 460 acres of single-
family residential lots with a total of 1,192 lots. The original Planned Unit Development also provided for 
123.3 acres of townhome development with a total number of 740 dwelling units, while the revised Planned 
Unit Development reduces the townhome development to a total of 94.6 acres and a total of 527 dwelling 
units. Finally, the original Planned Unit Development provided for 21.5 acres of condominium development 
with a total of 258 dwelling units, while the revised Planned Unit Development will have 27 acres of 
condominium development with 352 dwelling units. Thus, there is an overall reduction in density of 54 
dwelling units. The proposed substantial deviation also provides for an increase in the building height for 
the proposed condominium units from three to four stories, and each condominium building will have 
underground parking (at least one parking stall per condominium unit) and elevators. There will be 16 
condominium buildings with 22 units in each building.” 

 
The same document also states:  

“to allow an increase in the building height in the condominium portion of the Planned Unit Development (in 
the R-5 Low Density Residential District of the Planned Unit Development) to allow for four story buildings not 
to exceed 56 feet in height.” 

 
It is unclear as to how the existing condominiums (on Brookside Glen 
Drive and Greenway Boulevard) were approved at 62’. However, 
despite the height restrictions of the underlying zoning district (35’ for 
R-5), the proposed height of 65 can be supported by the amended 
ordinance which provides for four stories with underground parking 
and the precedence of the existing condos at a height of 62'.  The 
Commission may wish to consider this as an exception from the 
maximum allowable building height per Section V.C.II. of the Zoning 
Ordinance and approve it as part of the Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from the PUD.  
 
Both the proposed structure and the existing condos on Greenway 
Boulevard have exposed foundations for the interior parking areas. The 
proposed buildings have elected to berm the foundation walls at 
varying heights to mitigate the exposed foundation walls.  In addition, extensive foundation landscaping has been 
provided to soften the look.  The Applicant has also agreed to provide climbing landscaping treatments where 
possible.  Providing the undulating landscape along with the partial burial of the ground floor parking areas also 
allows for increased security and privacy for the first floor units.  

 
Exception #3: Building height. Allow for a building height ranging between 57’-71’ with the mean 
height of the highest roof measuring 65’. 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 11 of 14 
 

HVAC  
The HVAC units are installed as wall units; the metal louvers are painted to match the brick color. There will be no 
roof or ground units.  
 
 
Building Materials  
The proposed multi-family structures are constructed 
predominately of masonry materials. The façade of the 
residential units is constructed of a thin brick embedded in 
precast panels that will be installed as horizontal panels 
thereby eliminating section lines or noticeable vertical 
breaks.  Color samples will be available at the meeting but 
the renderings closely reflect the actual color. The accent 
brick is beige with matching precast accent strips serving as 
lintels above the windows. The accent brick highlights the 
main entrances and is repeated along the façade highlighting 
some of the balcony areas. The ground floor includes a 
stamped precast stained panel that matches the accent areas 
of the club house. 
 
 
Clubhouse  
The Clubhouse is centrally located with easy access on the north and south sides for each building.  The architect 
has been requested to modify the east façade to reflect more of a street presence with front façade features. This 
will be presented at the meeting. The building materials are consistent with the residential structures and 
measures 19’ in height.   
 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Following a successful workshop, proceed to a Public Hearing at the June 1, 2017 Plan Commission meeting. 
 
 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 12 of 14 
 

STANDARDS FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL 
 
Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that Planning Staff must find that the conditions listed below must 
be met. Staff will prepare draft responses for these conditions within the next Staff Report. 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 
 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and 
drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.   

 
c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for 

safe, efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent roadways as 
well. 

 
d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  

 
e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter (including 

public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony with adjacent land 
uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any part of the Site Plan area not used for 
buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and 
shrubs. 

 
f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 

 

 

  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 13 of 14 
 

STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 
Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 
Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 
will provide draft Findings in the Staff Report for the Public Hearing. 

 
X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

 
b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values 
within the neighborhood; 
 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided; 
 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 
 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 
which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 
pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such 
conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to 
ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon 
other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  
Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 
 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of 
the community as a whole. 

 
It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 
Permit is tied to the Applicant. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever 
apply to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to 
examine the conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 14 of 14 
 

LIST OF REVIEWED PLANS 
 

Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On Sheet 

  Plat of Survey AS 06/13/2016 

 A-0.0 Cover Sheet AS 06/13/2016 

Color Site Plan AS 06/13/2016 

 A-1.0 Schematic Site Plan B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.1         Signage Plan AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.2         Refuse Enclosure Plan & Elevation AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.3         Photometric Site Plan AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.4         Exterior Light Fixture Cut Sheets AS 01/25/2017 

 A-2.0 Building Elevation B&W/Color Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

   A-2.1         Building Elevation B&W/Color Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-2.2 Building Elevation  AS 06/13/2016 

 A-2.3 Building Elevation  AS 06/13/2016 

 A-3.0 Partial Lower Level Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-3.1 Partial Lower Level Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-3.2 Partial Lower Level Plan Bldg 1 B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

 A-3.3 Partial First Floor Plan Bldg 1  B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

   A-3.4         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

   A-3.5         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

 A-4.0 Building Elevation Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-4.1 Building Elevation Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-4.2 Building Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

 A-4.3 Building Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

 A-5.0 Partial Lower Level Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-5.1 Partial Lower Level  Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-5.2 Partial Lower Level Plan Bldg 2 B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

 A-5.3 Partial First Floor Plan AS 01/25/2017 

   A-5.4         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

   A-5.5         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

   A-6.0          Common Area Details AS 01/25/2017 

 A-6.1 Club House Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

 A-7.0 Club House Elevations AS 01/25/2017 

   A-7.1         Club House Elevations AS 01/25/2017 

   A-7.2         Club House Rendering AS 01/25/2017 

 A-8.0 Club House Floor Plan AS 01/25/2017 

 A-8.9 Site Plan AS 06/13/2016 

 L-1 Landscape Plan EEA 04/27/2017 

 L-1 Color Landscape Plan EEA 04/27/2017 

Partial Color Rendering   

 
AS  Architectural Studio, Ltd. 
EEA  Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 

 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Applicant, Andrea T. Crowley, on behalf of Karli Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg 
Brookside Joint Venture, seeks Site Plan Approval and a Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from the approved Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development 
(PUD). The Applicant proposes to construct two (2) multi-family structures with 
seventy-two (72) one and two bedroom rental units in each building for a total of 
144 units.   
 
The approved PUD (2000) provided for nine (9) 16-unit structures for a total of 144 
units. The density and unit count remain the same as originally approved; however, 
reducing the number of structures allows for additional green space and amenities 
such as  a club house, pool, cabanas, dog park, outdoor recreation and fitness areas, 
walking path, grilling areas, arboretum, Frisbee golf,  and fire pits. Each unit is 
provided with an indoor parking space.  
 
The property is zoned R-5 PD (Low Density Residential, Planned Unit Development) 
and is located in the Urban Design Overlay District.  As a PUD, deviations from the 
Zoning Ordinance are considered exceptions rather than variations; therefore, these 
exceptions are reviewed in context of the original intent of the PUD rather than strict 
adherence to the Village’s Zoning Ordinance. The following table outlines the 
exceptions according to the proposed plans: 
 

Exception Requirement Proposed 
Building Setback 20’ maximum 14’ – 36’ 
Parking Setback 25’ minimum TBD 
Building Height 56’ maximum 62’ 

 
 
 

UPDATES FROM THE 5/18/2017 STAFF REPORT ARE IN RED 
 

 
 
 
Applicant 
Andrea Crowley, on 
behalf of Karli Mayher 
and KJM-Vandenberg 
Brookside Joint Venture  
 
Property Location 
SWC of Magnuson Lane and 
191st Street 
 
Parcel Size 
7.65 ac 
 
Zoning 
R-5  PD 
Brookside Glen PUD 
 
PINs 
19-09-11-200-015-0000 
19-09-11-200-013-0000 
 
Approvals Sought 
Site Plan Approval, Special 
Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from 
a PUD (which includes 
exceptions from Zoning 
Ordinance) 
 
 
Project Planners 
Paula J. Wallrich, AICP 
Interim Community 
Development Director 
 
Stephanie Kisler, AICP  
Planner I 
 

PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
June 1, 2017   
 
THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN 
SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 2 of 19 
 

Existing Condominiums 

BACKGROUND 
 

 

 
Excerpt from the Original Brookside Glen PUD 

 
(A more thorough outline of the chronology for the subject parcel is attached as Exhibit A – Timeline.) 
The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development (PUD) was approved as part of an annexation of 828 acres in 1990.  
Since that time there have been amendments to the Agreement as well as several PUD modifications and rezonings.  
This is not atypical for a property of this size that has had to respond to market trends and fluctuating economic 
conditions over time.  The subject property was originally planned for a mixture of commercial, office, restricted 
industrial, and residential uses (condo/apartments).   
 
In 2000, a Substantial Deviation from the PUD was approved 
for nine (9) 4-story, 16 unit condo buildings similar to the 
housing types that currently exist on Brookside Glen Drive 
and Greenway Boulevard.  This project was never built and, 
Staff has been unable to locate plans for the project; however, 
an exhibit that accompanied the legal notice for this project is 
provided in the attached timeline (Exhibit A). Since that time, 
there have been a few other proposals including a 
condominium development scheme with nine 8-unit 
buildings and one 16-unit building (submitted in 2007; see 
image below). In 2014, a proposal was submitted for 123 
units in 17 buildings comprised of between 4 to 15 attached 
single-family rowhouse dwelling units per building (see image  
on next page). Neither project was approved.   
 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 3 of 19 
 

 
Proposed Plans from 2007 (by others) 

 

 
Proposed Plans from 2014 (by others) 

 
 
In February, 2016, the Village was approached by the Applicant, Karli Mayher, to develop the same 7.65 acre parcel 
(application submitted in July 2016). However, her proposal was for two (2) buildings instead of nine (9), yet 
maintained the same density (18.8 du/ac) and unit count (144 dwelling units).  As part of the Applicant’s study of 
the residential market they discovered that financing for condo developments is becoming increasingly more 
difficult due to the subprime mortgage crisis and the trend was moving away from home ownership (condos).    
(Please see attached articles regarding obtaining mortgages for condominium ownership, 
http://www.hsh.com/finance/mortgage/how-to-buy-a-condo.html, & 
http://www.investopedia.com/university/condo-buyers-guide/condo-buyers-guide9.asp - Exhibit B). 
 
Tinley Park is becoming more attractive to the young professional wanting luxury housing without the 
maintenance responsibilities. These renters are looking to live close to public transportation and shopping 
opportunities.  The Applicant is seeking to capitalize on this housing trend and develop upscale rental units that 
provide modern amenities not commonly found in rental housing. Please see attached article regarding trends in 
Multi-Family rental housing, https://www.bdcnetwork.com/5-intriguing-trends-track-multifamily-housing-game - 
Exhibit C).  

http://www.hsh.com/finance/mortgage/how-to-buy-a-condo.html
http://www.investopedia.com/university/condo-buyers-guide/condo-buyers-guide9.asp


The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 4 of 19 
 

 
Rental developments have been known to struggle with maintaining value over time. There are many examples in 
the south suburbs that experience a decline in building condition as maintenance costs increase.  One way to 
insulate against such decline is to ensure there is an inherent cost or value to the development that necessitates a 
certain Rate of Return (ROI) over time.  The subject parcel has proposed significant amenities beyond what is 
expected or required of multi-family developments. Such things as a clubhouse, pool, exercise areas and fitness 
center, dog park, walking paths, outdoor grilling area, roof decks, and cabanas not only contribute to the overall 
character of the development but contribute to a higher operating cost that in turn commands a certain lease rate 
to guarantee an expected rate of return. The Applicant has also referenced market research that indicates that the 
amenities of a development that distinguish one development from another, thus, increasing its leasing market. The 
Applicant has commissioned a market study by Tracy Cross that will be presented at the Public Hearing. 
 
 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 5 of 19 
 

ZONING, ADJACENT LAND USE, & COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
 
The property is zoned R-5 PD (Low Density Residential) and is part of the Brookside Glen Planned Unit 
Development (PUD). Upon further research by Staff it has been determined that the original PUD approved an R-6 
zoning for this property; there is no documentation of rezoning to R-5, see Exhibit A). It is bordered by the ComEd 
transmission lines to the west, B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial District) to the east, R-5 PD to the south 
and southeast and R-2 PD (Single-Family Residential) to the far south.   The site is located within the Urban Design 
Overlay District (UD-1) that is intended to “accommodate the automobile, but are primarily designed to promote 
non-motorized and public transportation movements to, within, and among properties”. UD-1 attempts to create a 
streetscape that is defined by buildings rather than parking lots.   
 

 
Graphic Showing Zoning in the Vicinity of the Site 

 
Surrounding land uses include vacant 
property to the east that is planned and 
zoned for commercial uses.  A municipal 
pump station is located immediately to the 
south and a townhome development exists to 
the southeast with 2-story structures 
housing 4-6 units.  East of 80th Avenue, multi-
family uses continue with similar 
townhomes and 4-story condominium 
buildings of 16 units each. These structures 
are designed similarly to the proposed 
project in that they are effectively 5-story 
buildings due to the ground floor parking 
garage. A detention pond is located to the 
north and functions as a buffer to 191st 
Street. The Wolverine Pipeline traverses the 
site (east to west), just north of the proposed 
dog park. 
 
The underlying zoning district of R-5 provides for certain bulk regulations, as does the UD-1.  As a Planned Unit 
Development, deviations from these requirements are considered ‘exceptions’ and are not reviewed as a ‘true’ 
variation from the Zoning Ordinance; instead, they are reviewed in context of the approved PUD.  The Commission 
may wish to evaluate these deviations using the PUD Standards and Criteria for a PUD (Sections VII.C.1. and 
VII.C.3). As a Special Use, Staff will provide Findings of Fact at the Public Hearing consistent with the Special Use 
standards in Section X.J.5 of the Zoning Ordinance.  Any exceptions that Staff has noted during the review are 
identified throughout this report. 
 
The Village’s Comprehensive Plan indicates the subject area as residential.  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 6 of 19 
 

SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 
The proposed Site Plan shows two (2) multi-family residential structures (each with seventy-two (72) dwelling 
units) and a club house in between the residential structures. The buildings follow the curve of Magnuson Lane. 
The Applicant has worked cooperatively with Staff to create an optimal Site Plan, resulting in several revisions to 
the original submittal. There will be a few additional revisions presented at the workshop meeting on May 18th. 
 

 
Excerpt of the Applicant’s Color Site Plan 

 

 
Staff ’s Graphic Showing the Site Plan Over an Aerial Image 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 7 of 19 
 

 
The Applicant has provided an updated Site Plan based on comments from the 5/18/2017 Plan Commission 
meeting. This revised Site Plan is different from the Site Plan shown on the previous page because it shows the 
southern access point being combined. Additionally, parking has been land banked near the proposed private dog 
park to reduce the number of vehicles near the adjacent townhomes and closest to Magnuson Lane to effectively 
place all parking behind the building setback. 
 

 
Excerpt of the Applicant’s Revised Color Site Plan 

 
Setbacks 
The buildings are located closer to the street in order to meet the intent of the Urban Design Overlay District, which 
establishes a maximum front yard setback of twenty feet (20’). Staff notes that Building 1 has a front yard setback 
that ranges from 14’ to 24’ and Building 2 has front yard setbacks ranging from 22’ to 36’. It is important to 
consider the scale of the building when thinking about the most suitable setbacks. Due to the height and scale of the 
buildings, increased setbacks provide opportunity for additional landscaping and berming against the foundation 
wall. Additionally, the curvature of the street and the resulting sight lines along with the curvature of the building 
façade serve to minimize the scale of the building. This all contributes to the mitigation of the scale of the building 
and provide for a more pedestrian scale to the streetscape. As a point of reference, there are condominiums of 
similar scale with respect to height located along Brookside Glen Drive and Greenway Boulevard which have 
setbacks ranging from 24-30’.  

 
Exception #1: Front yard setback. The Urban Design Overlay District requires a twenty foot (20’) 
maximum setback for the front yard. The proposed structures do not meet this requirement in all 
instances. 

 
Additionally, in an attempt to meet the intent of the Urban Design Overlay District’s regulations, the Applicant has 
located the majority of the surface parking behind the buildings. The regulations call for parking to be set back a 
minimum of twenty-five feet (25’) in front yards. Staff has recommended that all parking areas meet this 
requirement. A revised Site Plan will be presented at the workshop meeting. Parking is discussed further in the 
Parking section of the Staff Report. 
 

Exception #2: Parking setback. The Urban Design Overlay District requires a twenty-five foot (25’) 
minimum setback for parking. The Applicant is encouraged to design all parking areas to meet this 
requirement. 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 8 of 19 
 

The Applicant has relocated parking spaces to meet the twenty-five foot (25’) minimum setback for parking. 
This exception is no longer necessary. 
 

Landscape 
The Applicant has provided a Landscape Plan that meets the spirit of the Landscape Ordinance, according to the 
Village’s Landscape Architect. Staff recommends some minor revisions to the Landscape Plan, which will be 
resubmitted for final review prior to the Public Hearing. The minor revisions include re-arranging the plantings to 
be grouped rather than planted in a linear pattern and correcting specifications for plant material sizes. Staff will 
continue to work with the Applicant to achieve a satisfactory Landscape Plan. 
 

 
Excerpt from the Proposed Landscape Plan 

 
Parking & Access 
Some of Staff ’s suggested revisions to the Site Plan include land banking some parking spaces and reconfiguring 
the access drive at the south end of the property. The Site Plan currently contains 360 parking spaces (144 of which 
are in the ground floor garages in the residential buildings), which meets the Village’s parking regulations in 
Section VIII.A.10. (2.5 parking spaces/DU).STEPHANIE- NEED TO UPDATE 
 
The Applicant does not anticipate the need for 2.5 parking spaces per unit, especially since there are one-bedroom 
units. In addition, the development will be marketed to young professionals that are seeking access to public 
transportation and therefore often require only one (1) vehicle per household. The Applicant has agreed to land 
bank parking spaces and construct them if needed in the future. This requires the providing space for parking but 
not improving it until a need is established. As a result this will create additional green space for the development 
until such time as the parking is needed (or not needed). The parking areas that will be land banked will be spaces 
located nearest Magnuson Lane, thereby parking will primarily be located behind the structures to meet the intent 
of the Urban Design Overlay District This would not necessarily constitute an exception since the total number of 
required parking spaces will be provided. This is an acceptable practice within the context of a PUD. Staff 
recommends notation of the land banking as part of the Special Use conditions.  
 
Staff also suggested that the Applicant reconfigure the south curb cuts on Magnuson Lane and consolidate them 
into one single access point. This will preserve access to the municipal pump station and create a safer entry into 
the residential site. Additionally, Staff requested that the parking garages have access out each end of the 
residential buildings to improve the maneuverability within the garages. This change will create new garage entry 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 9 of 19 
 

points on the south side of Building 1 and the north side of Building 2. The Applicant will revise the plans 
accordingly. 
 
The plans show the addition of public sidewalk along the west side of Magnuson Lane. Staff recommends the 
sidewalk also be added along the south side of Magnuson Lane/Greenway Boulevard to link John Michael Drive to 
Brushwood Lane via public sidewalk. The Applicant has provided sidewalks and carriage walks within the site itself 
to serve the residents and guests. Staff has encouraged the Applicant to add crosswalks to further improve the 
pedestrian safety within the site. 
 
The Applicant has provided a bike connection to the Frankfort Square Park District’s bike trail system that is just 
south of the municipal pump station. The bike trail meanders through residential areas and eventually leads south 
to the Old Plank Road Trail. 
 
 
Lighting 
The Photometric Plan indicates adequate lighting in the parking areas, which is provided by decorative light 
fixtures. Staff recommends the Applicant add decorative wall sconces near the entry doors and garage doors to add 
to the aesthetics and the residential character of the buildings. 
 
 
Trash Enclosures 
The Applicant has provided an interior trash room for the tenant’s to dispose of their waste. A management 
company will handle the trash collection from the trash room to the outdoor trash enclosures. The exterior trash 
enclosures will be constructed with materials matching the façade of the buildings. 
 
Security 
The Applicant originally stated that security cameras will not be used. The residents will have key fobs to enter the 
building and will be able to buzz in guests via cell phone. The Plan Commission encouraged the use of security 
cameras at the Plan Commission meeting on May 18, 2017.  
 
 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 10 of 19 
 

Amenities 
In order to create and preserve value for the residential dwelling units, the Applicant proposes many amenities on-
site, including but not limited to: 

• Indoor ground-level parking garages with at least one space per dwelling unit;  
• A club house including an outdoor pool with cabanas, a fitness center, locker rooms, free WiFi, a lounge, a 

meeting room, a computer room, and a great room with a kitchenette. 
• Outdoor grilling areas for each building, including grill stations, fire pits, outdoor seating, pergolas, and a 

service sink; 
• Outdoor televisions on roof decks; 
• Disc golf baskets; 
• Bike storage (interior and exterior); 
• Electric car charging stations; 
• Exterior exercise circuit equipment; 
• A dog park (for private use by the residents) including a large and small dog area, complete with seating 

area, a drinking fountain, and training fixtures such as a jump bar and weave poles; 
• An arboretum area at the north end of the site featuring outdoor seating; 
• A bike trail connection to a major bike trail system; 
• Over 4 acres of open space; and 
• Outdoor terraces available to the residents in addition to their own private balconies.  

 

 
Rendering of the Outdoor Terrace and Grilling Stations 

 

 
Close View of Grilling Stations 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 11 of 19 
 

ARCHITECTURE 
 

 
 

The two (2) residential structures bookend the site with mirror images of each other.  The structures are 4-stories 
of residential uses over a ground-level parking garage. The building height ranges from 57’ to 71’ with the highest 
range reflecting the elevation of the highest peak measured from floor grade to maximum peak while the lowest 
height reflects the ground elevation to the lowest roof elevation.  The site has been graded to minimize the exposed 
ground level elevations. (see the Building Height section for further discussion). 

 
The street façade had a central architectural feature to identify 
the street access; it also has increased roof height and projects 
5’ from the front façade.  A wood trellis frames the doorway on 
both the front and rear facades with tapered stone columns. 
The top floor unit is set back to create a roof deck and includes 
the floor to ceiling windows. The west entrances will function 
as the main entrance to the facility; however, the east façade is 
also designed with a similar entry feature as required by the 
UD-1.  
 
There are 72 units per structure with the following breakdown 
of unit type: 
 

Unit Type Area (SF) # of Units 
2 bedroom/2 bath 1,286-1,356 44 
2 bedroom/2 bath/study 1,616 4 
1 bedroom/1.5 bath 1,073 4 
1 bedroom/1 bath 924-987 20 

 
The smallest unit is 924 SF (1 bedroom) with the largest 2 bedroom/2 bath/study unit measuring 1,616 SF.  All 
units exceed the Village’s minimum size requirements for usable floor area. In addition to the generous unit size, all 
units have at least one (1) balcony with some units having two (2) balconies, private terraces, or large private roof 
decks. The outside end units of each building have terraces measuring 23’ x 31’, plus a balcony. 
 
The architecture provides for varying roof heights, which help to break up the expanse of the roof line but also 
allow for several units to have increased ceiling heights in excess of 13 feet. These same units also are enhanced 
with floor to ceiling windows and private roof decks. Each structure reflects the curvature of the roadway.  
Articulation is provided throughout each façade with inset and projecting balconies.  
 
The ground floor parking garage provides one (1) interior parking space per unit.  Vehicular access will be 
provided at each end of the structure. A separate garage is provided at the rear outer edge of each building that 
provides 10 parking spaces and an expansive roof deck on top (47’ x 93’) and includes seating areas and grilling 
stations.  
 
 
 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 12 of 19 
 

Building Height   
The height of the main ridge line of the proposed multi-family structures is 62’+ with the peak of the roof of the 
central entrance features measuring 69’+.  However, building height is measured as “the mean height level between 
eaves and ridge of gable, hip, and gambrel roofs”; therefore, the height of the tallest roof (at the entrance) is 
considered 62’.  For comparison, the height of the main ridge of the condominium units on Brookside Glen Drive 
and Greenway Boulevard is 62’ in height.  While the maximum height allowed in the R-5 District is 35’, as part of a 
PUD and the Substantial Deviation request the Commission may consider this as an exception to the Zoning 
Ordinance.  

 
 

Support for this exception is found through the analysis of the various approving documents for this PUD and is 
presented as follows: 
 
The Annexation Agreement of the original PUD (1989) provided for 122.8 acres of townhomes zoned R-5 and 21.5 
acres of condominiums zoned R-6  (see graphic of the proposed allotment of zoning districts under ‘Background’ 
above).  The maximum height in each of these districts is 35’ and 40’ respectfully.  There were several amendments 
to the original Agreement over the following years that continued to alter the original zoning and master planning 
for the area, including an amendment and approval of a Substantial Deviation of the PUD in 2000 which increased 
the allowable density, unit count, and height of the condominium units.   The ordinance reads:  
 

“The original Planned Unit Development called for 429.9 acres of single-family residential lots with a total of 
1,127 lots, while the revised Planned Unit Development proposed herein would provide for 460 acres of single-
family residential lots with a total of 1,192 lots. The original Planned Unit Development also provided for 
123.3 acres of townhome development with a total number of 740 dwelling units, while the revised Planned 
Unit Development reduces the townhome development to a total of 94.6 acres and a total of 527 dwelling 
units. Finally, the original Planned Unit Development provided for 21.5 acres of condominium development 
with a total of 258 dwelling units, while the revised Planned Unit Development will have 27 acres of 
condominium development with 352 dwelling units. Thus, there is an overall reduction in density of 54 
dwelling units. The proposed substantial deviation also provides for an increase in the building height for 
the proposed condominium units from three to four stories, and each condominium building will have 
underground parking (at least one parking stall per condominium unit) and elevators. There will be 16 
condominium buildings with 22 units in each building.” 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 13 of 19 
 

The same document also states:  
 

“to allow an increase in the building height in the condominium portion of the Planned Unit Development (in 
the R-5 Low Density Residential District of the Planned Unit Development) to allow for four story buildings not 
to exceed 56 feet in height.”  (Staff questions whether the height limitation of 56’ is in reference to a four story 
building only or a 4 story building with parking underneath). 

 
It is unclear as to how the existing condominiums (on Brookside Glen 
Drive and Greenway Boulevard) were approved at 62’. However, 
despite the height restrictions of the underlying zoning district (35’ for 
R-5), the proposed height can be supported by the amended ordinance 
which provides for four stories with underground parking and the 
precedence of the existing condos of a similar height.The Commission 
may wish to consider this as an exception from the maximum allowable 
building height per Section V.C.II. of the Zoning Ordinance and approve 
it as part of the Special Use Permit for a Substantial Deviation from the 
PUD.  
 
Both the proposed structure and the existing condos on Greenway 
Boulevard have exposed foundations for the interior parking areas. The 
Applicant has elected to berm the foundation walls at varying heights 
to mitigate the exposed foundation walls.  In addition, extensive foundation landscaping has been provided to 
soften the look.  The Applicant has also agreed to provide climbing landscaping treatments where possible.  
Providing the undulating landscape along with the partial burial of the ground floor parking areas also allows for 
increased security and privacy for the first floor units.  

 
Exception #3: Building height. Allow for a building height ranging between 57’-71’ with the mean 
height of the highest roof measuring 62’. 

 
 
HVAC  
The HVAC units are installed as wall units; the metal louvers are painted to match the brick color. There will be no 
roof or ground units.  
 
 
Building Materials  
The proposed multi-family structures are constructed 
predominately of masonry materials. The façade of the 
residential units is constructed of a thin brick embedded in 
precast panels that will be installed as horizontal panels 
thereby eliminating section lines or noticeable vertical 
breaks.  Color samples will be available at the meeting but 
the renderings closely reflect the actual color. The accent 
brick is beige with matching precast accent strips serving as 
lintels above the windows. The accent brick highlights the 
main entrances and is repeated along the façade highlighting 
some of the balcony areas. The ground floor includes a 
stamped precast stained panel that matches the accent areas 
of the club house. 
 
 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 14 of 19 
 

Clubhouse  
The Clubhouse is centrally located with easy access on the north and south sides for each building.  The architect 
has been requested to modify the east façade to reflect more of a street presence with front façade features. This 
will be presented at the meeting. The building materials are consistent with the residential structures and 
measures 19’ in height.   
 

 

Previous Rendering of the Proposed Clubhouse 

 

 

Updated Rendering of the Proposed Clubhouse 

  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 15 of 19 
 

STANDARDS FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL 
 
Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance provides conditions for approval. Staff has provided draft findings for each 
condition below. 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 
• The proposed use, Multi-Family residential, is a permitted use in the R-6 Zoning District and 

was contemplated in the original PUD and Substantial Deviation (2000).  
 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and 
drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.   

• The proposed site plan increases the amount of green space and distance from existing 
residential structures. 

• Off-street parking meets the required setback of the UD-1 and is screened from public view. 
• Lighting meets Village photometric requirements. 

 
c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides 

for safe, efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent 
roadways as well. 

• The existing street configuration was approved with the original PUD (90-R-002). 
Ordinance 2000-O-006 (the Substantial Deviation from the PUD) approved 144 dwelling 
units on the subject parcel. 
 

d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  
• Sidewalks are provided along the right-of-way as well as throughout the site to connect 

parking areas with residential structure and amenity areas. 
 

e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter 
(including public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony 
with adjacent land uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any part of the Site 
Plan area not used for buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a 
mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs. 

• Landscaping has been provided consistent with the intent of Village Code; additional 
landscaping has been provided in those areas adjacent to existing residential areas. 
 

f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 
• Outdoor trash areas are screened. 

 

 

  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 16 of 19 
 

STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 

Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. 
The Plan Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special 
Use request. Staff has provided draft Findings in the Staff Report for the Public Hearing that can be 
supplemented as a result of testimony and discussion at the Public Hearing. 
 
X.J.5. Standards: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;  

• The proposed use is consistent with the use and density of the approved PUD (and 
Substantial Deviation) with 144 multi-family units, however the 144 units are provided in 
two (2) structures instead of nine (9).  

 
b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood;  

• The proposed use increases the amount of green space and distance from existing 
residential uses. As part of the proposed development, ROW improvements for Magnuson 
Lane will be completed including its intersection with 191st Street thereby improving 
circulation and access for existing residential units. Landscape buffers have been designed 
to screen off-street parking areas. 

 
c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;   
• The proposed development is consistent with land use and density approvals in the original 

PUD. 
 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are 
being provided;  

• Existing road and utility infrastructure is in place; ROW improvements including sidewalks 
will be completed as part of the proposed development. 

 
e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets;  
• The density has not changed from original approvals.   

 
f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 

in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village 
Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose 
such conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be 
necessary to ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such 
permit upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this 
Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this 
Ordinance.  

• Two exceptions are requested with the proposed development: Building height and building 
setback. 

 
g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development 

of the community as a whole.  
• The existing property has remained vacant since the 1990 adoption of the PUD.  The 

proposed development will increase property tax revenue and has potential to increase the 
sales tax revenue of commercial uses in the Village. 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 17 of 19 
 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS 
 
If the Plan Commission wishes to take action, an appropriate wording of the motions would read:  
 
Site Plan Approval: 
 
“…make a motion to grant the Applicant, Andrea T. Crowley, on behalf of Karli Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg 
Brookside Joint Venture, Site Plan Approval to construct two (2) four-story multi-family structures with seventy-
two (72) units in each building for a total of 144 dwelling units on the subject site, generally located in the 
southwest corner of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street in the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development, in 
accordance with plans as noted on the List of Reviewed Plans as of MM/DD/YYYY (Note to Plan Commission: We are 
still awaiting the final full set of plans and will update the List of Reviewed Plans once a final set has been submitted).  
Each multi-family structure will include semi-underground parking garages that provide one (1) interior parking 
space per unit. The project also includes a clubhouse with an outdoor pool and cabanas, outdoor grilling areas, a 
private dog park, and an outdoor terrace among other amenities. The Plan Commission also adopts the Standards 
for Site Plan Approval proposed in the Staff Report and discussed at this meeting.” 
 
 …The Site Plan Approval is granted with the following conditions: 
 

1. That 144 parking spaces are provided within semi-underground garages below the residential 
dwelling units, 144 surface parking spaces are provided, and 72 parking spaces are land banked 
until such time as the Village identifies that there is a need for additional parking; 
 

2. [any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 
 
 
Special Use Permit: 
“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the Applicant, Andrea T. 
Crowley, on behalf of Karli Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture, for a Substantial Deviation from 
the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development (as approved in Ordinance 2000-O-006) to allow for the 
construction of two (2) four-story multi-family structures with seventy-two (72) units in each building for a total of 
144 dwelling units on the subject site, generally located in the southwest corner of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
in the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development, in accordance with plans as noted on the List of Reviewed Plans 
as of MM/DD/YYYY (Note to Plan Commission: We are still awaiting the final full set of plans and will update the List 
of Reviewed Plans once a final set has been submitted).  The Plan Commission also adopts the Findings of Fact 
proposed in the Staff Report and discussed at this meeting.” 
 

…with the following exceptions: 
 

1. Building Height: That the maximum building height of the structures can exceed the maximum 
building height per the PUD in Ordinance 2000-O-006 in accordance with the plans submitted on 
the List of Reviewed Plans; and  
 

2. Building Setback: That the setback of the structures can exceed the maximum setback the Urban 
Design Overlay District in accordance with the plans submitted on the List of Reviewed Plans. 

 
  

…The Special Use Permit is recommended with the following conditions: 
 

1. That the Applicant provides the following amenities for the residents: 
a. Indoor ground-level parking garages with at least one space per dwelling unit;  
b. A club house including an outdoor pool with cabanas, a fitness center, locker rooms, free 

WiFi, a lounge, a meeting room, a computer room, and a great room with a kitchenette. 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 18 of 19 
 

c. Outdoor grilling areas for each building, including grill stations, fire pits, outdoor seating, 
pergolas, and a service sink; 

d. Outdoor televisions on roof decks; 
e. Disc golf baskets; 
f. Bike storage (interior and exterior); 
g. Electric car charging stations; 
h. Exterior exercise circuit equipment; 
i. A dog park (for private use by the residents) including a large and small dog area, 

complete with seating area, a drinking fountain, and training fixtures such as a jump bar 
and weave poles; 

j. An arboretum area at the north end of the site featuring outdoor seating; 
k. A bike trail connection to a major bike trail system; 
l. Over 4 acres of open space; and 
m. Outdoor terraces available to the residents in addition to their own private balconies. 

 
2. The provision of security cameras; 

 
3. That adequate landscape screening be provided as a buffer to the adjacent townhomes; 

 
4. That decorative wall sconces be added to the structures; 

 
5. That right-of-way and drainage improvements are completed along Magnuson Lane to connect to 

191st Street, including the roadway, street lighting, sidewalks, and stormwater; 
 

6. [any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 
 
 
 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 19 of 19 
 

LIST OF REVIEWED PLANS 
 

Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On Sheet 

  Plat of Survey AS 06/13/2016 

 A-0.0 Cover Sheet AS 06/13/2016 

Color Site Plan AS 06/13/2016 

 A-1.0 Schematic Site Plan B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.1         Signage Plan AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.2         Refuse Enclosure Plan & Elevation AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.3         Photometric Site Plan AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.4         Exterior Light Fixture Cut Sheets AS 01/25/2017 

 A-2.0 Building Elevation B&W/Color Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

   A-2.1         Building Elevation B&W/Color Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-2.2 Building Elevation  AS 06/13/2016 

 A-2.3 Building Elevation  AS 06/13/2016 

 A-3.0 Partial Lower Level Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-3.1 Partial Lower Level Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-3.2 Partial Lower Level Plan Bldg 1 B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

 A-3.3 Partial First Floor Plan Bldg 1  B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

   A-3.4         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

   A-3.5         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

 A-4.0 Building Elevation Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-4.1 Building Elevation Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-4.2 Building Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

 A-4.3 Building Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

 A-5.0 Partial Lower Level Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-5.1 Partial Lower Level  Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-5.2 Partial Lower Level Plan Bldg 2 B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

 A-5.3 Partial First Floor Plan AS 01/25/2017 

   A-5.4         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

   A-5.5         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

   A-6.0          Common Area Details AS 01/25/2017 

 A-6.1 Club House Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

 A-7.0 Club House Elevations AS 01/25/2017 

   A-7.1         Club House Elevations AS 01/25/2017 

   A-7.2         Club House Rendering AS 01/25/2017 

 A-8.0 Club House Floor Plan AS 01/25/2017 

 A-8.9 Site Plan AS 06/13/2016 

 L-1 Landscape Plan EEA 04/27/2017 

 L-1 Color Landscape Plan EEA 04/27/2017 

Partial Color Rendering   

 
AS  Architectural Studio, Ltd. 
EEA  Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd. 

 



PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
June 28, 2017 
 
The Residences at Brookside Glen 
Southwest Corner of Magnuson Lane & 191st Street 
 

 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Applicant, Andrea T. Crowley, on behalf of Karli Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg 
Brookside Joint Venture, seeks a Special Use Permit with Site Plan Approval for a 
Substantial Deviation from the approved Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development 
(PUD). The Applicant proposes to construct two (2) multi-family structures with seventy-
two (72) one and two bedroom rental units in each building for a total of 144 units and a 
3,495 square foot clubhouse.   
 
This is the third Staff Report regarding this project. Prior Staff Reports (5/18/2017 and 
6/1/2017) can be found on the Village website.  The Plan Commission held a workshop 
for the proposed development on May 18, 2017 and a Public Hearing on June 1, 2017. The 
Commission requested the Public Hearing be continued to the next meeting to allow for 
additional public input.  Due to concerns regarding the adequacy of seating at the Village 
Hall, the Public Hearing was re-noticed to allow for a new Public Hearing at a larger 
venue for June 28, 2017.   
 
The Staff Report will not replicate information previously provided and instead shall 
highlight the key facts, concerns and resolutions from comments at prior meetings, and 
analyze required standards for approval related to this project.  
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
Applicant 
Andrea Crowley on behalf 
of Karli Mayher and KJM-
Vandenberg Brookside 
Joint Venture 
 
 
Property Location 
SWC of Magnuson Lane and 
191st Street 
 
 
Parcel Size 
7.65 ac 
 
 
Zoning 
R-5 PD 
 
 
PINs 
19-09-11-200-015-0000 
19-09-11-200-013-0000 
 
 
Approvals Sought 
Special Use Permit with 
Site Plan Approval for a 
Substantial Deviation from 
a PUD (which includes 
exceptions from Zoning 
Ordinance) 
 
 
Project Planners 
Paula J. Wallrich, AICP 
Interim Community 
Development Director 
 
Stephanie Kisler, AICP  
Planner I 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 2 of 17 
 

FACTS 
 

1. Applicant Request: The issue before the Plan Commission is approval of a Substantial Deviation from the 
Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development (PUD) approved in 1990.  For the past 27 years this PUD has 
evolved; reacting to market demands and economics.  See the attached timeline for specific references to 
approvals and ordinances related to this property. The original PUD of 828 acres provided for a mix of uses 
as illustrated below.  The Annexation Agreement (90-R-002) references this exhibit (Exhibit C) and the 
proposed location of uses.  The subject property (Part of Parcel C) is highlighted in yellow.  The Applicant is 
not requesting a rezoning of the property.  The Applicant’s request is to deviate from Ordinance 2000-O-
006 (Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen PUD), which approved nine (9) structures of sixteen 
(16) dwelling units each for this property (total of 144 units) to instead construct two (2) structures of 
seventy-two (72) dwelling units (total of 144 units) and a clubhouse with a pool and other various 
residential amenities. 
 
The zoning on the subject property was established as part of the original Planned Unit Development upon 
annexation in 1990.  The Annexation Agreement references zoning for this area (see 90-R-002). There was 
no specific development proposal for Parcel C until 1999-2000, when the Developer requested a Substantial 
Deviation that would diminish the townhome area in exchange for an increase in the number of single 
family homes and an increase in the building height of the condominiums proposed for Parcel C.  The only 
reference to rezoning in the Substantial Deviation in 2000 was for a portion of the townhome area (R-5) to 
be rezoned to (R-2) Single-Family Residential.  
 

 
 

Excerpt of Exhibit C within Resolution 90-R-002 with “Parcel C” Areas Highlighted 
 

2. Understanding Planned Unit Developments.  In 1990, the annexation of 828 acres was a significant 
endeavor for the Village of Tinley Park.  To plan for a development of this magnitude, the Village utilized a 
common master planning technique by annexing the parcel as a PUD.  It is important to understand that a 
PUD inherently provides flexibility in its planning and zoning.  The PUD approved in 1990 provided a 
master plan for the 828 acre property as a guide to its future potential.  As stated in Section VII of the 
Zoning Ordinance, the purpose of a Planned Unit Development is “to facilitate and encourage the 
construction of imaginative and coordinated developments and to provide relief from the subdivision and 
zoning requirements which are designed for conventional developments, but which may inhibit innovation of 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 3 of 17 
 

design and cause undue hardship with regard to developing a parcel of land to its best possible use.”  When 
analyzing a development proposal in a PUD the underlying zoning is ‘suspended’ and the review is guided 
by the overall intent of the PUD and the standards established for Special Uses (Section X.5.) and Planned 
Unit Developments (Section VII.C.)  Staff has prepared findings utilizing these standards in the section 
below. 
 

3. Site Plan.  At prior meetings concerns have been expressed from residents in the area regarding the Site 
Plan.  Most specifically, there were concerns regarding the adjacency of the outdoor terrace to the existing 
townhomes.  The Applicant has modified the Site Plan and relocated the terrace to the north end of the 
building.   
 

 
 

Comments were also received regarding the location of the dog park.  The Applicant has responded to this 
concern by noting that the dog park will not have any lighting and will therefore close at dusk. The only 
relocation of the dog park would be to the north end of the parcel where the arboretum is proposed; this is 
a much smaller area. The Applicant feels this will compromise the quality of this amenity if moved to a 
smaller location.   The parking adjacent to the dog park has been identified as ‘land banked’ and therefore 
will not be improved as part of the initial development but will be available if there is a need for additional 
parking in the future.  In addition, the parking has been reoriented so that cars parking near the dog park 
would not be facing the townhomes. 
 

4. Landscaping.  Due to concerns expressed at previous meetings regarding the screening of the dog park, 
additional landscaping has been provided.  
 

 
 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 4 of 17 
 

5. Exceptions. 
a. Building Setback: The proposed buildings are located closer to the street in order to meet the intent 

of the Urban Design Overlay (UD-1) District, which establishes a maximum front yard setback of 
twenty feet (20’).  It is important to note that the Urban Overlay District is intended “to establish and 
promote specific design standards concerned with the character and placement of non-residential 
buildings within the district, including parking and other accessory uses, as well as the role and nature 
of the spaces between the buildings and the public streets.” Even though the UD-1 is referenced for 
non-residential buildings, the overall character of the attached housing in the PUD respects the 
intent of this overlay district which creates “development patterns that accommodate the 
automobile, but are primarily designed to promote non-motorized and public transportation 
movements to, within, and among properties.”   
 
Staff notes that Building 1 has front yard setbacks that ranges from 14’ to 24’ and Building 2 has 
front yard setbacks ranging from 22’ to 36’.   The clubhouse with is one-story in height ranges from 
11’ to 13’. It is important to consider the scale of the building when determining the most suitable 
setbacks. Due to the height and scale of the buildings, increased setbacks provide opportunity for 
additional landscaping and berming against the foundation wall. Additionally, the curvature of the 
street and the resulting sight lines, along with the curvature of the building façade serve to 
minimize the scale of the building and provide for a more pedestrian scale to the streetscape. As a 
point of reference, there are condominiums of similar scale with respect to height located along 
Brookside Glen Drive and Greenway Boulevard which have setbacks ranging from 24-30’.   
 
The parcel provides some flexibility with respect to increasing the front yard setbacks; however, not 
without compromise. The front yard setback for the clubhouse could be increased; however, Staff 
encouraged the Applicant to minimize the setback to highlight the architecture along the 
streetscape.  Setbacks for each of the residential buildings could also be increased however at the 
expense of usable green space at the rear of the buildings.  Consistent with the intent of the UD-1, 
which will regulate all of the adjacent future commercial structures, the goal is to create an 
architecturally-dominate streetscape that is more urban in character. 
 

b. Building Height: The height of the main ridge line of the proposed multi-family structures is 62’+ 
with the peak of the roof of the central entrance features measuring 69’+.  However, building height 
is measured as “the mean height level between eaves and ridge of gable, hip, and gambrel roofs”; 
therefore, the height of the tallest roof (at the entrance) is considered 62’.  For comparison, the 
height of the main ridge of the condominium units on Brookside Glen Drive and Greenway 
Boulevard is 62’ in height.   
 
The Annexation Agreement (90-O-002) states: “In the portion of the Subject Property zoned R-6 
Medium Density Residential District, the maximum building height shall be 3 stories or 40 feet in 
height provided the appropriate setbacks are applied in accordance with the planned unit 
development provisions of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance.”   However, the Substantial Deviation 
(2000-O-006) “provides for an increase in the building height for the proposed condominium units 
from three to four stories, and each condominium building will have underground parking (at least 
one parking stall per condominium unit) and elevators.”  In a subsequent section of the same 
ordinance it states “to allow an increase in the building height in the condominium portion of the 
Planned Unit Development (in the R-5 Low Density Residential District of the Planned Unit 
Development) to allow for four story buildings not to exceed 56 feet in height.”   
 
There continues to be confusion as to why this ordinance references the same area as R-5 instead of 
R-6, but it is also confusing as to how the condominium built as part of Brookside Place are 62’ in 
height.  It is possible that the height limitation of 56’ is in reference to the residential portion of the 
structure and does not include the semi-underground garage.   
 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 5 of 17 
 

Regardless of how the existing structures were allowed to be built, the last governing ordinance 
states 56’ in height.  Therefore, the exception request for the subject property is to construct two 
(2) residential structures with a maximum height of 62’. It is important to note that Staff 
recommended the increase in height for the entrance feature to help break up the expanse of the 
roof as originally proposed.  
 

 

 

Height Analysis of Proposed Buildings Height Analysis of Existing Condo Buildings 
 

 
c. Both the proposed structure and the existing condos on Greenway Boulevard have exposed 

foundations for the semi-underground garages. The Applicant has elected to berm the foundation 
walls at varying heights to mitigate the exposed foundation walls.  In addition, extensive foundation 
landscaping has been provided to soften the look.  The Applicant has also agreed to provide 
climbing landscaping treatments where possible.  Providing the undulating landscape along with 
the partial burial of the ground floor parking areas also allows for increased security and privacy 
for the first floor units.  

 
6. Open Items. 

a. Security: There have been questions raised regarding security cameras. Staff has not received a final 
security plan from the Applicant. Staff recommends making this a condition of approval. 

b. Property management/maintenance: Concerns were raised regarding the continued maintenance of 
the property.  The Applicant has stated that there will be maintenance personnel available 24/7, 
although at this time there is no commitment for resident management. The Applicant has stated 
that there will be a management and leasing office on-site that will be open Monday through Friday 
from 9am to 5pm. 

c. Number of buildings: There has been discussion regarding the size of the proposed residential 
buildings and questions as to whether the Applicant has investigated a 3 or 4 building development.  
The Applicant has stated that several site plan scenarios were investigated at the beginning of the 
project resulting in a strong correlation between number of structures and the amount of open 
space and cost of construction. Having two structures rather than 3, 4, or even 9 structures will 
allow for more open space and amenities for the development. The Applicant has stated that they 
have prioritized the amount of residential amenities for this project and have proposed what they 
feel addresses a demand for rental housing with luxury amenities.  

 
 
 

 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 6 of 17 
 

STANDARDS AND CRITERIA FOR PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS 
 
Section VII.C. of the Zoning Ordinance provides standards and criteria for Planned Unit Developments. Staff 
provides draft responses for each of these standards below (see bullet points) for the Plan Commission’s 
consideration. The Plan Commission may add or delete from these findings based on testimony and discussion 
resulting from Public Hearing testimony. 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR ALL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS: 
 

a. The site of the proposed Planned Unit Development is not less than five (5) acres in area, is under 
single ownership and/or unified control, and is suitable to be planned and developed, or 
redeveloped, as a unit and in a manner consistent with the purpose and intent of this Ordinance and 
with the Comprehensive Plan of the Village; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development is over 800 acres. The subject site is 7.65 acres and is 
under single ownership.  

• The Brookside Glen PUD called for condos/apartments in this area according to Exhibit C of Resolution 
90-R-002.  

 
Excerpt from Exhibit C of 90-R-002 with “Parcel C” Highlighted 

 
• The Village’s Comprehensive Plan notes this site as residential. 

 

 
Excerpt from the Village’s Land Use Plan from the Comprehensive Plan (Yellow = Residential) 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 7 of 17 
 

b. The Planned Unit Development will not substantially injure, or damage the use, value, and 
enjoyment of the surrounding property, nor hinder or prevent the development of surrounding 
property in accordance with the Land Use Plan of the Village; 

• The proposed development does not increase the density or total unit count approved in Ordinance 
2000-O-006. 

• The subject site is vacant land that was planned for condo/apartments according to Exhibit C of 
Resolution 90-R-002 (see graphic in General Provision “a” on the previous page).  

• Single-family dwellings (attached and detached) have already been developed in the vicinity. 
• The Applicant has made revisions to their plans in response to concerns from Staff, the Plan 

Commission, and citizens. Revisions include adding more landscaping to buffer between the existing 
townhomes, relocating the outdoor terrace on Building 2, and reconfiguring the land banked parking 
near the dog park so that the parking would not be facing toward the existing townhomes. 

• Vacant land that was planned for commercial uses (Community Shopping and Office/Restricted 
Industrial) exists to the east of the subject parcel. The proposed development would allow for more 
people to live in this area since 144 dwelling units would be added, which may spur more development 
to occur on vacant parcels in the area near 191st Street and 80th Avenue.  

• The Applicant is not requesting an increase from the number of dwelling units that were approved for 
the condo/apartment portion of the PUD. 

 
c. The uses permitted in the development are necessary or desirable and that the need for such uses 

has been clearly demonstrated; 
• The proposed use (144 dwelling units) is consistent with approvals of formerly adopted documents 90-

R-002 and 2000-O-006. 
• The Applicant has provided a Market Study (prepared by Tracy Cross & Associates) addressing the 

viability of the proposed development.  
 

d. The proposed development will not impose an undue burden on public facilities and services, such 
as sewer and water systems, police, and fire protection; 

• The proposed development does not increase the density or total unit count approved in Ordinance 
2000-O-006. 

• The public improvements and services needed for the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development were 
master planned in the early 1990s when the development was initially approved.  

• The remaining public improvements near the site (completion of Magnuson Lane to 191st Street, street 
lighting, street trees, public sidewalk, stormwater, etc.) must be completed before the proposed 
development can be occupied. 

 
e. The proposed development can be substantially completed within the period of time specified in 

the schedule of development submitted by the developer; 
• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development has been underway since 1990 and still has vacant 

parcels to be developed.  
• The project is expected to be completed in one phase. 
• All residential amenities are to be completed prior to issuance of final Certificate of Occupancy.  

 
f. The street system serving the Planned Unit Development is adequate to carry the traffic that will be 

imposed upon the streets by the proposed development, and that the streets and driveways on the 
site of the Planned Unit Development will be adequate to serve the residents or occupants of the 
proposed development; 

• The proposed development does not increase the density or total unit count approved in Ordinance 
2000-O-006. 

• The public streets needed for the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development were master planned in 
the early 1990s when the development was initially approved.  

• The proposed development will require the completion of Magnuson Lane and a new connection with 
191st Street. 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 8 of 17 
 

• The proposed development will have two major access points – the new intersection of Magnuson Lane 
and 191st Street and the existing intersection of Greenway Boulevard and 80th Avenue. 

• The access points will be shared with the 52 existing townhome units on Brushwood Lane and Enclave 
Lane and any future development in the southwest corner of 191st Street and 80th Avenue. 

 
g. When a Planned Unit Development proposes the use of private streets, common driveways, private 

recreation facilities, or common open space, the developer shall provide and submit, as part of the 
application, the method and arrangement whereby these private facilities shall be operated and 
maintained; 

• The proposed development includes private amenities for the occupants, private parking areas and 
drive aisles, and common open space. 

• The Applicant will provide management services 24/7 with a management office on-site open Monday-
Friday from 9am-5pm. 

 
h. The general development plan shall contain such proposed covenants, easements, and other 

provisions relating to the bulk, location, and density of residential buildings, non-residential uses 
and structures, and public facilities as are necessary for the welfare of the Planned Unit 
Development and the Village.  All such covenants shall specifically provide for enforcement by the 
Village of Tinley Park in addition to the landowners within the development; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development, as amended, noted general development plans for the 
PUD. 

• Certain conditions are placed on the Special Use Permit approval regulating the operation of the 
proposed development. 

 
i. The developer shall provide and record easements and covenants, and shall make such other 

arrangements as furnishing a performance bond, escrow deposit, or other financial guarantees as 
may be reasonably be required to assure performance in accordance with the development plan and 
to protect the public interest in the event of abandonment of said plan before completion; and 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development included certain easements, covenants, and financial 
guarantees. 

• Appropriate financial securities will be provided as required by Village ordinance. 
 

j. Any exceptions or modifications of the zoning, subdivision, or other regulations that would 
otherwise be applicable to the site are warranted by the design of the proposed development plan, 
and the amenities incorporated in it, are consistent with the general interest of the public. 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development included exceptions from the Zoning Ordinance. In the 
specific case of the areas planned for condo/apartments, the exceptions included the allowable density 
and the height of the structures. 

• The Applicant requests an exception from the allowable height of the structures and an exception from 
the required front yard setback. 

 
 
RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS:   
(It is important to note that these standards are customarily applied for the adoption of a new PUD, not a 
Substantial Deviation, and therefore some have limited applicability) 
 

a. The density of any Residential Planned Unit Development shall not exceed the density allowed in 
the district in which the Planned Unit Development is located, except the Plan Commission may 
recommend, and the Village Board may grant, an increase in the density up to but not more than 
twenty (20) percent, provided the proposed development provides additional open space and 
amenities to compensate for the increased density.  The Plan Commission, in determining the 
reasonableness of a proposed increase in the number of dwelling units per acre, shall take into 
consideration: 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 9 of 17 
 

(1) The physical characteristics of the site that may make increased densities appropriate in the 
particular location; 

(2) The amount, location, and proposed use of common open space;  
(3) The location, design, and type of dwelling units proposed; and  
(4) The provision of unique design features such as golf courses, lakes, swimming pools, 

underground parking, and other similar features within the Planned Unit Development, which 
require unusually high development costs and which achieve an especially attractive and stable 
development.  Land within the Planned Unit Development, which is used for open space, may be 
included as gross area for calculations of density. 
• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development approved a certain allowable density (144 dwelling 

units). 
• The condo/apartment portion of the PUD was approved for 12 du/acre (258 units / 21.5 acres) per 

Resolution 90-R-002 and then amended in Ordinance 2000-O-006 to allow for 13 du/acre (352 units / 
27 acres).  Staff notes that it is uncertain whether this is net or gross density, but assumes it is gross 
density since it is consistent with the gross density requirements of R-5 and R-6 Zoning Districts. 

• The existing Brookside Place condominiums (which were constructed in three phases) have an average 
density of 18.7 du/acre. This is a net density calculation; without information regarding what area 
was considered part of the original gross density calculation a comparison is not possible. 

• The proposed development has a density of 18.8 du/acre and includes the remaining 144 units that 
were approved in 2000 (352 total units approved – 208 units constructed in Brookside Place = 144 
approved units remaining). This is a net density calculation; without information regarding what area 
was considered part of the original gross density calculation a comparison is not possible. 

• The Applicant is not requesting an increase from the number of dwelling units that were approved for 
the condo/apartment portion of the PUD. 

• The Applicant is providing over four (4) acres of open space. 
 

b. When a Planned Unit Development is proposed in a single-family residential zone, seventy (70) 
percent of all dwelling units proposed within the zone shall be intended for single-family 
occupancy.  For the purpose of this Section, a townhouse shall be considered as a single-family 
dwelling; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development consists of a majority of single-family dwellings. The 
only existing multi-family dwellings are the Brookside Place condominiums. Other planned areas 
included Community Shopping, Office/Restricted Industrial, and parks. 

• The Applicant is not requesting an increase from the number of dwelling units that were approved for 
the condo/apartment portion of the PUD. 

 
c. No minimum lot area is required for individual buildings, except that individual lots for single-

family detached dwellings, which may be provided within the overall Planned Unit Development, 
shall not be less than six thousand five hundred (6,500) square feet in area and single-family 
attached and semi-detached dwelling units not less than three thousand (3,000) square feet of lot 
area; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development would have accounted for this provision. 
• This provision does not state requirements for multi-family structures. 

 
d. Not more than six (6) dwelling units shall be permitted in a single-family attached building.  “Single-

Family Attached Building” is defined as a building containing two or more single-family attached 
dwelling units joined at one or more points by one or more party walls or common facilities not 
including the walls of an enclosed courtyard or similar area; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development would have accounted for this provision. 
• This provision does not state requirements for multi-family structures. 

 
e. When single-family attached dwellings are proposed within a Residential Planned Unit 

Development, the front or rear facade of a dwelling unit shall not be less than sixty (60) feet from 
the front or rear facade of another dwelling unit.  The unattached side face of a single-family 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 10 of 17 
 

attached building shall not be less than twenty (20) feet from the side face of another such building 
and not less than forty (40) feet from the front or rear face of another such building or unit; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development would have accounted for this provision. 
• This provision does not state requirements for multi-family structures. 

 
f. No dwelling unit shall be situated so as to face the rear of another dwelling unit unless adequate 

landscaping is provided to effectively create a visual separation; 
• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development would have accounted for this provision. 
• The proposed development does not situate dwelling units in a manner that faces the front of a 

dwelling unit toward the rear of another dwelling unit. Landscape buffering and distance between the 
proposed development and existing residential structures has been provided. 

 
g. Non-residential or local business-type uses (limited to those permitted in the B-1 Neighborhood 

Shopping District) may be included as part of a Residential Planned Unit Development when the 
Plan Commission finds that: 
(1) Such business uses are beneficial to the overall Residential Planned Unit Development and will 

not be injurious to adjacent or neighboring properties;  
(2) Such uses are not available within reasonable proximity of the subject area;  
(3) Are gauged primarily for the service and convenience of the residents of the subject area; and 
(4) Are designed as a unit of limited size and made an integral part of the proposed    Residential 

Planned Unit Development. 
• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development would have accounted for this provision. 
• This provision does not state requirements for multi-family structures. 

 
h. Combination of business and multiple-family residential uses in one structure may be permitted in 

a structure provided that: 
(1) The business uses are limited to personal services and convenience type uses  intended solely 

for the purpose of serving those residing in the multiple-family complex; and 
(2) No businesses are permitted on the same floor or above a floor used for residential purposes. 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development did not call for any mixed-use structures. 
• The proposed development does not include commercial uses under the residential dwellings. 

 
i. Ten (10) percent of the gross land area of a Planned Unit Development, or a minimum of seven 

hundred fifty (750) square feet per dwelling unit, whichever is greater, shall be developed for 
recreational open space; except that in multiple-family areas, the minimum square feet per 
dwelling unit shall be computed on the basis of two hundred (200) square feet for each efficiency 
and one (1) bedroom unit, three hundred fifty (350) square feet for each two (2) bedroom units, 
and five hundred fifty (550) square feet for each three (3) or more bedroom units.  When private 
common open space is provided within a Planned Unit Development, such open space shall not be 
computed as part of the required minimum lot area, or any required yard, or any other structure.  
Open spaces proposed for either dedication to the public or common ownership by the residents of 
the Residential Planned Unit Development shall be retained as open space for park and 
recreational use for the life of the Planned Unit Development.  A variety of open space and 
recreational areas is encouraged, including children’s informal play in close proximity to individual 
dwelling units according to the concentration of dwellings, formal parks, picnic areas, playgrounds, 
areas of formal recreational activities such as tennis, swimming, golf, etc.; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned over 122 acres of parks and recreation 
space according to Exhibit C of Resolution 90-R-002. 

• There are 48 one bedroom units and 96 two bedroom units in the proposed plan. Per the standards 
above, the required open space for the proposed development would be 43,200 square feet (.99 acres). 
The Applicant is providing over four (4) acres of open space, which is three (3) acres more than this 
requirement. 

 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 11 of 17 
 

j. Each Residential Planned Unit Development shall provide for the visual and acoustical privacy of 
each dwelling unit.  Fences, walks, and landscaping shall be provided for the protection and 
aesthetic enhancement of property and the privacy of its occupants, screening of objectionable 
views, or uses and reduction of noise;  

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned the layout of the development. 
• The Applicant’s plans indicate landscaping throughout the site to buffer from other parcels; the 

landscape plan will meet the intent of the Landscape Ordinance. Sidewalks and a bike trail connection 
are also shown on the plans. The west side of the buildings will face the ComEd right-of-way. 

 
k. The pedestrian circulation system and its related walkways shall be insulated as completely as 

possible from the street system in order to provide separation of pedestrian and vehicular 
movements.  This shall include, when deemed to be necessary by the Plan Commission, pedestrian 
underpasses or overpasses in the vicinity of schools, playgrounds, local shopping areas, and other 
neighborhood uses which generate a considerable amount of pedestrian traffic; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned the pedestrian layout of the 
development. 

• The Applicant’s plans indicate sidewalks and a bike trail connection that will link with the existing 
sidewalks and trails. 

 
l. At least two (2) off-street parking spaces shall be provided for each dwelling unit, except as may be 

otherwise required.  Such parking shall be provided convenient to all dwelling units (not more than 
three hundred (300) feet from the dwelling unit as measured along the shortest paved route).  
Driveways, parking areas, walks, and steps shall be well paved, maintained, and lighted for night 
use.  Screening of parking and service areas shall be encouraged through ample use of trees, shrubs, 
hedges, and screening walls; 

• The Applicant’s plans indicate one (1) covered parking space for each unit and one (1) outdoor 
parking space per unit. Additionally, seventy-two (72) parking spaces are land banked for potential 
parking needs. The parking ratio is 2.5 spaces per dwelling unit for a total requirement of 360 spaces – 
all of which have been provided on the plans. 

 
m. Access and circulation shall adequately provide for firefighting equipment, delivery trucks, 

furniture moving vans, refuse collection, and snow removal; 
• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned the layout of the development. 
• The Applicant’s plans meet the requirements of the Fire Department and drive aisles allow for other 

vehicles to safely traverse the site. Trash enclosures are located in areas that are accessible for trash 
collection. 

 
n. All Residential Planned Unit Developments shall provide for underground installation of utilities, 

including telephone and power, in both public and private rights-of-way.  Provision shall be made 
for acceptable design and construction of storm sewer facilities, including water retention areas, 
grading, gutters, piping, and treatment of turf to handle stormwater, prevent erosion, and 
formation of dust; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned the layout of the development. 
• The proposed development will comply with these provisions. 

 
o. All buildings within a Residential Planned Unit Development shall be set back not less than twenty-

five (25) feet from a public dedicated street, and along the exterior boundaries not adjoining a 
street, there shall be a minimum setback of forty (40) feet plus one (1) foot for each additional foot 
that the building increases in height over thirty-five (35) feet; 

• In 2013, the Village adopted an overlay district for certain areas of the Village that called for lesser 
front yard setbacks (20’ maximum front yard setback). The Applicant designed the proposed 
development to meet the intent of the overlay district but still respect the character of the existing 
development. The front yard setbacks of the buildings range from 14’ to 36’.  

 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 12 of 17 
 

p. A twenty (20) foot buffer including, but not limited to, solid fences, masonry walls, or plant 
materials, shall be provided so as to constitute the visual screening of all parking areas and outdoor 
activity areas from adjacent property or rights-of-way at ground level.  Where a buffer already 
exists on the adjacent property line, or where parking areas or similar activity areas adjoin each 
other on adjacent properties, the buffer requirements may be waived by the Plan Commission; and 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned the layout of the development. 
• The proposed plans indicate a landscape buffer from adjacent rights-of-way, parking areas, and 

activity areas. 
 

q. When the development is to be constructed in stages or units, a sequence of development schedules 
shall be provided showing the order of construction of each principal functional element of such 
stages or units, the approximate completion date for each stage or unit, and a cost estimate for all 
improvements within each stage or unit. 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development has been constructed in many phases and units. 
• The Applicant intends to construct the proposed development in a single phase. 

 

 

  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 13 of 17 
 

STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 
Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 
Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 
has provided draft Findings below (see bullet points) for the Public Hearing that can be supplemented as a result of 
testimony and discussion at the Public Hearing. 

 
X.J.5. Standards: 

 
a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;  
• The proposed use is consistent with the use and density of the approved PUD (and Substantial 

Deviation) with 144 multi-family units, however the 144 units are provided in two (2) structures 
instead of nine (9).  
 

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood;  

• The proposed use increases the amount of green space and distance from existing residential uses from 
previously approved site plans. As part of the proposed development, ROW improvements for 
Magnuson Lane will be completed including its intersection with 191st Street, thereby improving 
circulation and access for existing residential dwellings. Landscape buffers have been designed to 
screen off-street parking areas.  The proposed Site Plan is consistent with the intent of the Urban 
Overlay District which prioritizes the architecture of the project and minimizes the appearance of 
parking areas. 

 
c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;   
• The proposed development is consistent with land use and density approvals in the original PUD. 
• The adjacent vacant property is planned for commercial uses; the addition of residential units may 

provide incentive for development of these parcels to occur. 
 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are 
being provided;  

• Existing road and utility infrastructure is in place; Right-of-way improvements including sidewalks 
will be completed as part of the proposed development. 

 
e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets;  
• The density has not changed from original approvals.   

 
f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 

in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village 
Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose 
such conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be 
necessary to ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such 
permit upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this 
Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this 
Ordinance.  

• Two exceptions are requested with the proposed development: Building height and building setback. 
• Staff has recommended conditions of approval 

 
g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development 

of the community as a whole.  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 14 of 17 
 

• The subject property has remained vacant since the 1990 adoption of the PUD.  The proposed 
development will increase property tax revenue and has potential to increase the sales tax revenue of 
commercial uses in the Village. 

  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 15 of 17 
 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 
 
If the Plan Commission wishes to take action, an appropriate wording of the motion would read:  
 
 “…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the Applicant, Andrea T. 
Crowley, on behalf of Karli Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture, for a Substantial Deviation from 
the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development to allow for the construction of two (2) four-story multi-family 
structures with semi-underground parking containing seventy-two (72) units in each building for a total of 144 
dwelling units on the subject site and a 3,495 square foot clubhouse, generally located in the southwest corner of 
Magnuson Lane and 191st Street in the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development, in accordance with plans as 
noted on the List of Reviewed Plans within the Staff Report.  The Plan Commission also adopts the Standards for a 
Planned Unit Development and Findings of Fact for a Special Use Permit drafted in the Staff Report and discussed at 
this meeting.” 
 

…with the following exceptions: 
 

1. Building Setback: That the setback of the structures can exceed the maximum setback required in 
the Urban Design Overlay District in accordance with the plans submitted on the List of Reviewed 
Plans; and 
 

2. Building Height: That the maximum building height of the structures can exceed the maximum 
building height established in Ordinance 2000-O-006 in accordance with the plans submitted on 
the List of Reviewed Plans. 

 
  

…The Special Use Permit is recommended with the following conditions: 
 

1. That the Applicant provides amenities per the plans; 
 

2. Applicant constructing parking spaces identified as “land banked” per Village Board direction; 
 

3. Staff approval of a Security Plan; 
 

4. Restrict use of dog park hours to daylight hours; 
 

5. Staff approval of final landscape plan; 
6. Staff approval of decorative wall sconces; 
7. Completion of residential amenities (including clubhouse) prior to final occupancy of the dwelling 

units in at least one of the residential structures; 
8. Completion of public improvements (sidewalk, lighting, street trees and intersection improvements 

at 191st) prior to final occupancy of at least on residential structure; and  
9. [any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 

  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 16 of 17 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
The following attachments correspond to the proposed project and are included in the Plan Commission Meeting 
Packet for June 28, 2017:  
 

1. Revised Site Plan 
2. Revised Landscape Plan (with labels) 
3. Revised Landscape Plan (without labels) 
4. Market Study Summary by Tracy Cross & Associates, Inc. 
5. Summary Planning Analysis by Tracy Cross & Associates, Inc. 
6. Public Comments Response by Tracy Cross & Associates, Inc. 
7. Plan Commission Minutes from 4/15/1999, 8/5/1999, and 9/16/1999 
8. Village Board Minutes from 9/7/1999, 9/21/1999, and 2/15/2000 
9. Revised Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
10. Article from Crain’s Chicago Business dated June 19, 2017 

 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 17 of 17 
 

LIST OF REVIEWED PLANS 
 

Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On Sheet 

 Plat of Survey AS 06/13/2016 

A-0.0 Cover Sheet AS 06/13/2016 

 Color Site Plan AS 06/13/2016 

A-1.0 Schematic Site Plan (Color) AS 06/08/2017 

A-1.1 Signage Plan AS 01/25/2017 

A-1.2 Refuse Enclosure Plan & Elevation AS 01/25/2017 

A-1.3 Photometric Site Plan AS 01/25/2017 

A-1.4    Exterior Light Fixture Cut Sheets AS 01/25/2017 

A-2.0 Building Elevation B&W/Color Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

A-2.1 Building Elevation B&W/Color Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

A-2.2 Building Elevation  AS 06/13/2016 

A-2.3 Building Elevation  AS 06/13/2016 

A-3.0 Partial Lower Level Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

A-3.1 Partial Lower Level Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

A-3.2 Partial Lower Level Plan Bldg 1 B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

A-3.3 Partial First Floor Plan Bldg 1  B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

A-3.4 Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

A-3.5 Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

A-4.0 Building Elevation Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

A-4.1 Building Elevation Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

A-4.2 Building Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

A-4.3 Building Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

A-5.0 Partial Lower Level Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

A-5.1 Partial Lower Level  Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

A-5.2 Partial Lower Level Plan Bldg 2 B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

A-5.3 Partial First Floor Plan AS 01/25/2017 

A-5.4 Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

A-5.5 Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

A-6.0 Common Area Details AS 01/25/2017 

A-6.1 Club House Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

A-7.0 Club House Elevations AS 01/25/2017 

A-7.1 Club House Elevations AS 01/25/2017 

A-7.2 Club House Rendering AS 01/25/2017 

A-8.0 Club House Floor Plan AS 01/25/2017 

A-8.9 Site Plan AS 06/13/2016 

L-1 Landscape Plan EEA 06/21/2017 

L-1 Color Landscape Plan EEA 06/21/2017 

 Partial Color Rendering   

  
AS  Architectural Studio, Ltd. 
EEA  Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd. 

 























































Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
In Relation to the Proposed Residences at Brookside Glen Development 

 
As of October 13, 2017 

 
Summary of Brookside Glen History:  
 

• 1989: A Pre-Annexation Agreement was adopted as Ordinance 89-O-052. Minutes from the Plan Commission 
regarding the proposed Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development (PUD) reflect that the “Condo/apartment 
portion [of the proposed Brookside Glen PUD] is 12 du/acre.”  
 
This is important because the area was recognized with potential for either condo or apartments.  
 

• 1990: The Annexation Agreement (Resolution 90-R-002) was adopted on January 11, 1990. This agreement 
also accounted for the Special Use Permit for the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development. This agreement 
noted “21.5 acres for condominiums under the R-6 Medium Density Residential District” and “258 
condominiums in the R-6 zoned portion”.  
 

  
Excerpt from Exhibit C from 90-R-002  

 
This is important because the property may actually be zoned R-6 rather than R-5 as referenced in later 
documents and on the Zoning Map. This also establishes the entitlement for 21.5 acres of condominiums 
with 258 units allowed.  
 
Also, the Brookside Glen property was officially annexed under Ordinance 90-O-004 and Ordinance 90-O-
005. The first amendment to the Brookside Glen Annexation Agreement was adopted on February 6, 1990 
(90-R-004). 
 
Ordinance 90-O-008 was adopted on February 27, 1990 (although the ordinance itself incorrectly states the 
adoption year as 1989). This ordinance annexed the Brookside Glen property again due to concerns with 
proper notice for the annexation. Ordinance 90-O-009 officially rezoned the Brookside Glen property 
following annexation, although the exhibit detailing the rezoning was not attached to the copy of the 
ordinance. 
 
 
 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline (Updated 10/9/2017) 
 

Page 2 of 11 

• 1994: Another amendment to the Brookside Glen Annexation Agreement was approved on October 25, 1994 
as Resolution 94-R-030 (labeled in error as 94-O-030).  This amendment included changes to some of the 
standards for the single-family residential lots, updated fees, discussed requirements for dedication of public 
streets and sidewalks, and discussed water mains and sanitary sewers. 
 

• 1998: A parcel is annexed and added to the Brookside Glen PUD per Ordinance 98-O-018 and Ordinance 98-
O-019 on March 17, 1998. A 200’ x 209’ parcel was annexed and added to the Brookside Glen PUD. The 
parcel was not available in 1990 when the original PUD was approved. The property that was annexed is 
located near approximately 19501 88th Avenue (currently this is approximately Brookside Glen Drive and 88th 
Avenue). 

 
• 1999: Staff notes that the November 4, 1999 Plan Commission meeting minutes indicate that the New Lenox 

Pumping Station was considered for a Special Use Permit. The minutes discuss the property as being zoned 
R-6 PD.  

 
This supports that there might be an error on the Zoning Map. Staff has not found any record of the 
condominium/apartment portion of the PUD being rezoned from R-6 to R-5 (as shown on the current Zoning 
Map). 
 

• 2000: A Substantial Deviation to the original Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development was approved on 
February 15, 2000 as Ordinance 2000-O-006. This Substantial Deviation amended the acreage and dwelling 
units for single-family, townhomes, and condominiums. The allowable acreage of condominiums increased 
from 21.5 acres to 27 acres and the allowable number of dwelling units increased from 258 to 352 dwelling 
units. The Ordinance also allowed for an increase in the allowable building height for the condominium 
buildings (from three stories to four stories with underground parking). The Substantial Deviation was 
considered at the Plan Commission meetings on 4/15/1999, 5/6/1999,8/5/1999 and 9/16/1999 and the 
Village Board meetings on 9/7/1999, 9/21/1999, 1/4/2000, 1/18/2000, 2/1/2000, and 2/15/2000. 

 
Staff notes that this Ordinance may have an error because it states “there will be 16 condominium buildings 
with 22 units in each building.” Plan Commission meeting minutes from September 16, 2000 note 
“…proposed 4-story, 16-unit, 56’ high building. There would be a total of 22 buildings, for a total of 352 
dwelling units.” Staff believes that the Ordinance should state “there will be 22 condominium buildings with 
16 units in each building.” Additionally, the Ordinance refers to the condominium portion of the PUD as being 
zoned R-5 rather than R-6 as indicated in 90-R-002. Staff has not found any record of the condominium 
portion of the PUD being rezoned from R-6 to R-5. Exhibits were not attached to the Village’s copy of the 
Ordinance; however, Staff located some plans that were included with the paperwork for the 1999 Legal 
Notice for the Substantial Deviation. 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline (Updated 10/9/2017) 
 

Page 3 of 11 

 
Excerpt from the Site Plan for the Southwest Corner of 191st Street and 80th Avenue  

(Staff believes this was included with the Legal Notice for the Substantial Deviation in 1999) 

 
Excerpt from the Site Plan for the Southeast Corner of 191st Street and 80th Avenue  

(Staff believes this was included with the Legal Notice for the Substantial Deviation in 1999) 
 

• 2001: The Plat for Brookside Place Phase I was recorded on January 12, 2001 and included the first seven (7) 
multi-family buildings (see buildings 1-7 on the image on the following page). The buildings had sixteen (16) 
units each for a total of one hundred twelve (112) dwelling units. The Plan Commission recommended 
approval of the Plat on October 5, 2000.   
 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline (Updated 10/9/2017) 
 

Page 4 of 11 

• 2002: The Plat for Brookside Place Phase II was recorded on June 28, 2002 and included two (2) multi-family 
buildings (see buildings 8-9 on the image on the following page). The buildings had sixteen (16) units each 
for a total of thirty-two (32) dwelling units. The Plan Commission recommended approval of the Plat on 
February 21, 2002. 

 

 
Excerpt from Engineering Plans for Brookside Place (2002) 

 
• 2004: The Plat for Brookside Place Phase III was recorded on August 5, 2004 and included four (4) multi-

family buildings (see buildings 10-13 on the image on the next page). The buildings had sixteen (16) units 
each for a total of sixty-four (64) dwelling units. The Plan Commission recommended approval of the Plat on 
May 20, 2004.  
 
Staff notes that at this point there are a total of thirteen (13) buildings developed and each building has 
sixteen (16) dwelling units for a total dwelling unit count of 208. Per Ordinance 2000-O-006 (as intended) the 
remaining number of buildings allowed on the remainder of the condo/apartment portion of the PUD is nine 
(9) and the remaining number of dwelling units allowed is one hundred forty-four (144) (see buildings 14-22 
on the images on the next page). 
 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline (Updated 10/9/2017) 
 

Page 5 of 11 

 
Image Showing the Brookside Place Structures 

 

  
Image Showing Remainder of the Multi-Family Structures 

as Denoted on the 2002 Engineering Plans 
Aerial Image Showing Remainder of the Multi-Family 
Structures as Denoted on the 2002 Engineering Plans 

 

• 2007: Planning Staff notes that a project called “Brookside Ridge” was proposed in 2007 that called for nine 
(9) two-story, eight (8) unit townhome-style condominium buildings and one (1) four-story, sixteen (16) unit 
condominium building. The project had eighty-eight (88) dwelling units. This project would have required a 
Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen PUD due to the change in dwelling type and reduction in 
number of dwelling units. This project was not approved by the Plan Commission and was not viewed 
favorably due to concerns about the building orientation and architecture. The project was tabled to a date 
uncertain at the November 15, 2007 Plan Commission meeting. Staff notes that a letter was sent to the 
Planning Department from RBT Development, Inc. that indicated that the existing 4-story condominium 
buildings were 63’6” tall. 

 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline (Updated 10/9/2017) 
 

Page 6 of 11 

 
Proposed Site Plan for Brookside Ridge Development (2007) 

 

 
Rendering of a Proposed Structure within the Brookside Ridge Development (2007) 

 
 

  



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline (Updated 10/9/2017) 
 

Page 7 of 11 

• 2014: Planning Staff notes that a project was proposed at this site in 2014 that called for up to one hundred, 
twenty-three (123) three-story single-family attached row houses within a total of seventeen (17) structures. 
This plan was well-received by the Plan Commission; however, the developer did not proceed with obtaining 
approvals from the Village due to issues with the location of the pipeline and a proposed row house 
building. 
 

 
Proposed Site Plan for the Brookside Ridge Row House Development (2014) 

 

 
Color Elevation of a Proposed Structure within the Brookside Ridge Row House Development (2014) 

 
  



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline (Updated 10/9/2017) 
 

Page 8 of 11 

• 2016: The Applicant formally submitted a complete application (“The Residences at Brookside Glen”) on July 
5, 2016 for two (2) four-story, one hundred, forty-four (144) unit multi-family apartment buildings, with 
surface parking  and parking in garages at the rear of the site and an accompanying clubhouse building. Each 
building had seventy-two (72) units with a mixture of one, two, and three-bedroom layouts. This plan is 18.8 
dwelling units per acre but is a different product from what was approved in the Substantial Deviation to the 
Planned Unit Development (2000-O-006) in 2000. 
 
Staff met with the Applicant to discuss the proposed plans on the following dates: 

o February 11, 2016 (pre-application meeting) 
o May 11, 2016 (pre-application meeting) 
o May 17, 2016 (pre-application meeting) 
o August 31, 2016 
o September 21, 2016 
o December 13, 2016 

 

 
Proposed Site Plan from Submittal #1 of the Residences of Brookside Ridge Development (2016) 

 

 
Partial Rendering of a Proposed Structure from Submittal #1  

of the Residences of Brookside Ridge Development (2016) 
  



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline (Updated 10/9/2017) 
 

Page 9 of 11 

• 2017: The Applicant submitted revised plans based on Staff’s comments. The plans indicate two (2) four-
story, one hundred, forty-four (144) unit multi-family apartment buildings and an accompanying clubhouse 
building. The buildings also include semi-underground parking on the bottom floor and provide one indoor 
parking space per unit. Each building has seventy-two (72) units with a mixture of one and two-bedroom 
layouts. There are no longer plans for any three-bedroom units. The Applicant made substantial 
improvements to the Site Plan with respect to parking, circulation, architecture, roof line, additional green 
space, and landscaping. The Applicant also added more amenities to the plans. The Applicant made 
substantial improvements to the architecture of the buildings, including increasing the amount of brick, 
adding articulation along each façade, raising the building height in key sections of the buildings, offering 
floor-to-ceiling windows on the top floor, and adding sizeable balconies/terraces/patios to both the private 
units and as common spaces. The changes to the building height amount to about 64’ along the main ridge 
line and about 71’ at the peak of the taller features of the roof. 
 
Staff met with the Applicant to discuss the proposed plans on the following dates: 

o May 11, 2017 
o May 23, 2017 

 
The project was heard at the following Plan Commission meetings: 

o May 18, 2017 (Workshop) 
o June 1, 2017 (Public Hearing) 
o June 15, 2017 (Continuation/close first Public Hearing) 
o June 28, 2017 (Special Meeting – new Public Hearing); Plan Commission recommended denial. 

 

 
Proposed Site Plan from Submittal #10 of the Residences at Brookside Glen Development (2017) 

 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline (Updated 10/9/2017) 
 

Page 10 of 11 

 
Partial Renderings of a Proposed Structure from Submittal #10  

of the Residences at Brookside Glen Development (2017) 

 

 

Proposed Site Plan from Submittal #15 of the Residences at Brookside Glen Development (2017) 
 

The project was heard at the following Village Board meetings: 
o July 11, 2017 (First Reading); Village Board concurred with the Plan Commission’s recommendation 

to deny the project. 
 

Meetings occurred with Village Staff, elected officials, the Applicant, and representatives from the Brookside 
Glen subdivision to discuss revised plans that would be more amenable to the nearby residents: 

o July 20, 2017 
o August 4, 2017 
o September 11, 2017 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline (Updated 10/9/2017) 
 

Page 11 of 11 

The Applicant submitted revised plans on October 2, 2017. These plans include four (4) multi-family residential 
structures with thirty-six (36) dwelling units per building for a total of 144 dwelling units. The floor plan shows a 
mixture of one and two bedroom units. The plans indicate a semi-underground parking garage connecting the 
residential structures and clubhouse along the curvature of Magnuson Lane/Greenway Boulevard. The first 
floors of the residential structures are connected by outdoor terraces with partial green roofs. A two-story 
clubhouse is located in the center of the development and includes various indoor and outdoor amenities, such 
as a fitness center, pool, and cabanas. The new elevations show balconies for each unit and floor-to-ceiling 
windows for the fourth floor units and some third floor units. 

 

 
Proposed Site Plan from Submittal #22 of the Residences at Brookside Glen Development (2017) 

 

 
Partial Renderings of a Proposed Structure from Submittal #22  

of the Residences at Brookside Glen Development (2017) 

 



 

Page 1 of 10 

 
Community Development 

 
Date: August 10, 2017 
 
To: Pat Connelly, Village Attorney 
  
From: Paula J. Wallrich, AICP 
 Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
 
Re: Density – Residences at Brookside Glen  
 
 

Executive Summary 

Questions have been raised as to what the allowable density is for the 7.65 acre parcel proposed for 
the Residences at Brookside Glen multi-family residential project located in the southwest corner of 
191st Street and 80th Avenue and west of Magnuson Lane. Staff provides the following information 
regarding density but also provides a discussion on the approved number of units for the parcel. What 
is evident in staff’s analysis is that – due to the changes in the land plan over time for the 
Condominium area – a density calculation is complex; however, Staff has provided the information 
and calculation to indicate that the subject property meets density requirements. More importantly, the 
proposed project meets the approved unit count (144 dwelling units) from Ordinance 2000-O-006 
where a Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development was approved.  

 

Density 

The term ‘density’ is misleading due the various definitions and use of the term, and the distinction 
between net and gross density.  Per the Village Zoning Ordinance, Section II, Rules and Definitions, 
“Density” is defined as:  

DENSITY: Density is the number of families residing on, or dwelling units developed on, an 
acre of land. Unless otherwise stated in this Ordinance, all Densities are stated in families per 
net acre; that is, per acre of land devoted to residential use, exclusive of land in streets, alleys, 
parks, playgrounds, school yards, or other public lands and open spaces.  

Note: Despite this definition, net density is not discussed or used anywhere in the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

The Zoning Ordinance does not provide a definition for Gross Density; however, according to the 
Planner’s Dictionary, published by the American Planning Association, Gross Density is defined as:  

GROSS DENSITY: The ratio of dwelling units per acre utilizing the full acreage of the parcel 
without subtracting areas dedicated to public or private roads, schools, parks, or similar public 
use and open space areas or hazard areas. 

   

Memorandum 



 

Page 2 of 10 

This distinction is important to note because the allowable densities noted in the District Regulations 
of Zoning Ordinance (Section V.B., Schedule II) reference gross density thresholds for the various 
residential districts. This is further complicated by the fact that there continues to be debate regarding 
the zoning of the subject property.  Despite the debate, the Annexation Ordinance for Brookside Glen 
(90-R-002) provided for 21.5 acres for condominium/apt uses under R-6 zoning:  

“...approximately 21.5 acres for condominiums under the R-6 Medium Density Residential District 
classification (hereinafter referred to as Parcel C  and as so identified and generally located in the 
area depicted on EXHIBIT C).” Exhibit C is duplicated (and enlarged) below.  

 



 

Page 3 of 10 

The Zoning Ordinance (Section V.B., Schedule II) limits the density for R-6 to 12 DU/AC. This was 
also indicated in Exhibit C of the Annexation Agreement 90-R-002 (see previous page).  The 
Annexation Agreement provided for 21.5 acres of land for condos/apts at a density of 12 DU/AC, 
which translates to allowing a total of 258 dwelling units.  Therefore, the Annexation Agreement 
approves an area and a density for “condos/apts” and by expressing the density an allowable number 
of units (258) is established.   

In 2000 a Substantial Deviation from the original Brookside Glen PUD was approved.  Ordinance 
2000-O-006 applied to several portions of the PUD and included:  

1. An increase in the number of dwelling units and land area for single-family detached housing; 

2. A decrease in the number of dwelling units and land area for townhomes; 

3. An increase in the number of dwelling units and land area for condominiums; and   

4. An increase in the building height/number of floors allowed for the condominium structures 
(allowing 4 floors with required underground parking instead of a maximum of 3 floors).   

 

The approved deviations for area and number of units are outlined below: 

Housing Type Approved with 
90-R-002 

Approved with 
2000-O-006 Difference 

Single-
Family 

Area 429.9 ac 460 ac +30.1 ac 

# of 
DU 1,127 DU 1,192 DU + 65 DU 

Townhomes 
Area 123.3 ac 94.6 ac -28.7 ac 

# of 
DU 740 DU 527 DU - 213 DU 

Condo/Apts 
Area 21.5 ac 27 ac + 5.5 ac 

# of 
DU 258 DU* 352 DU** + 94 DU 

Total 
Change 

Area 574.7 ac 581.6 ac + 6.9 ac 

# of 
DU 2,125 DU 2,071 DU -54 DU 

*12 DU/ac    **13.03 DU/ac 



 

Page 4 of 10 

Ordinance 2000-O-006 references an Exhibit A that has not been located.  This exhibit would have 
identified the specific areas impacted by the changes listed above.  Staff did however find an exhibit 
that was used for the legal notice for the Public Hearing for the Substantial Deviation:  

 

Excerpt from the Site Plan for the Southwest Corner of 191st Street and 80th Avenue 
(Staff believes this was included with the Legal Notice for the Substantial Deviation in 1999) 

 
 

 

Excerpt from the Site Plan for the Southeast Corner of 191st Street and 80th Avenue 
(Staff believes this was included with the Legal Notice for the Substantial Deviation in 1999) 

 



 

Page 5 of 10 

Despite the missing Exhibit A, Ordinance 2000-O-006 is very clear that it approved 27 acres and a 
total of 352 condominium units.  Although not specifically stated in the ordinance, this resulted in a 
change in density as well (352 units on 27 acres is 13 DU/AC). Per the table on page 3, it is also clear 
that 6.9 acres was added to the overall area subject to this ordinance.  There is no documentation as 
to where this additional land area is located.  Despite the math, what is not clear is what areas are 
included in this calculation since it reflects a gross density calculation.  What roads are included?  
What open areas, detention?  However, what is evident in the graphics on page 4 is the general 
location of the areas planned for the condos, which comprise 27 acres.   

After the approval of Ordinance 2000-O-006, Blackhawk Construction presented plats for Brookside 
Place Phase I, II, and III (see attached Plats) that were approved with very little discussion (minutes 
attached).  Of particular note are the changes on the east side of 80th Avenue.   The area in Phase I & 
II originally planned for 11 condo buildings but was eventually developed with only 9 condo buildings. 
The area designated for the condo building labeled as #12 was removed from the condo development 
area entirely (see images below). 

 
  

Original Plan for Phase I & II 
(11 Buildings) 

Existing Phase I & II 
(9 Buildings) 

Existing Phase III 
(4 Buildings) 

 

There is no documentation or discussion as to changes in densities or areas included as part of the 
condo area development known as Brookside Place.  Phase III included the area at the east end of 
the development just south of what is now the fire station.  This area was never considered for condos 
during the annexation process; it was originally designated as Parcel F for Office and Restricted 
Industrial uses (see Exhibit C of the Annexation Agreement in 90-R-002). Staff also notes that the fire 
station was originally planned for where PAWS currently exists according to the Annexation 
Agreement.  

These changes in the condo building locations were approved as final plats of subdivision.  It is 
apparent that the approvals were based on maintaining the approved unit count of 352 units in 22 
buildings, rather than a density calculation.  

There was limited discussion or explanation as to the total net or gross area designation for condo 
use except for staff reports, which identify a density of 18.8 DU/AC.  Since this is significantly above 
the gross density approval of 12 DU/AC, Staff assumes it is a net density calculation. Trying to 
compute a density calculation without clear demarcation of areas is complex.  Staff notes that we lost 
the ability to use gross density calculations once the plans changed. However, taking some 
calculations as indicated in the graphics on page 6, the subject property still meets gross density 
requirements. 

  



 

Page 6 of 10 

Using the Village’s GIS system, Staff measured the three areas below which include the areas platted 
as Brookside Place and includes the general area around the subject property that was depicted in 
the Legal Notice for Ordinance 2000-O-006.  The graphics approximate the 27 acres originally 
designated for condo use; therefore, the unit count of 352 dwelling units in 27 acres is consistent with 
approvals in Ordinance 2000-O-006.  

Staff also notes that there are several reports/memos in the files that reference an approved density 
for the condos of 18.8 DU/AC. (see attached Exhibit A.)  This obviously reflects a net density 
calculation.  Adding Brookside Place Phase I & II (7.86 ac), Brookside Place Phase III (3.25 ac), and 
the subject net area (7.65 ac) totals 18.68 ac.  This results in a 18.84 DU/net acre calculation. 

Brookside Place Phase I & II  7.86 ac 
Brookside Place Phase III  3.25 ac 
Subject Property (including           15.80 ac 
detention, open space)      26.91 ac 
 

 

Brookside Place Phase I & II 

 
  

Subject Property 

 

Brookside Place Phase III 

 



 

Page 7 of 10 

Unit Count 

Ordinance 2000-O-006 provides a prescribed number of units devoted to the condominium housing 
type totaling 352 units (22 buildings with 16 units in each building).  Unfortunately, there was a typo in 
the ordinance which stated “16 buildings with 22 units each” but the minutes prove that the intent was 
22 buildings of 16 units each.  Regardless of the error, the total number of units allowed for 
condominium units was 352. There have been 13 buildings of 16 units each constructed for a total of 
208 units.  Since 352 units were approved within 2000-O-006 there are 144 units left to construct.  
According to Exhibit C of the Annexation Agreement (90-R-002), the remaining land in the PUD that 
was planned for condo/apt use is located on the subject property; thus, the property is entitled to 144 
dwelling units. Lastly, the 2002 engineering plans for the area clearly show nine (9) buildings planned 
on the subject property and also show the pump station (see Exhibit A). 

Developing the subject parcel (7.65 ac) with 144 units reflects a net density of 18.8 DU/AC. 

For comparison purposes, here are net densities for the existing Brookside Place development by 
phase: 

Net Densities for Existing Brookside Place Condominium Development 

Brookside Place # of Dwelling Units Land Area Net Density 

Phase I 112 6.15 ac 18.2 DU/AC 

Phase II 32 1.71 ac 18.7 DU/AC 

Phase III 64 3.25 ac 19.6 DU/AC 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 8 of 10 

Exhibit A 
 

• 2007 Brookside Ridge 

o Staff Review Letter stated conflicting information about density: 

 

 

o Letter from developer notes density too: 

 

 



 

Page 9 of 10 

 

• 2014 Brookside Ridge 

o Staff Review Letter clarifies entitlement for density  

 

o Staff Report noted density and history of proposals: 

 

 



 

Page 10 of 10 

 



��"- Robinson 
'iii'iii,iii' ENGINEERING 

To: Stephanie Kisler, Planner 

From: Christopher J. King, PE 

MEMO 

Date: October 5, 2017 

Project/Subject: Brookside Glen Development at 191st and Greenway Blvd. Project No: 17-R00SS 

A question has been raised on the capacity of Greenway Boulevard to handle the expected traffic for the 144 

units planned at the west side of Greenway Boulevard and south of 191st Street. The Brookside Glen PUD was 

master planned and include 144 units on this parcel, so the proposed development is essentially the equivalent 

of the original plan. Greenway Boulevard is a ring road that circulates traffic to 80th Avenue (a collector) and 

191st Street (an arterial). The section of Greenway that extends beyond the exiting 62 townhome units will 

need to be reconstructed as it has sat vacant and is greatly deteriorated. Additionally, the connection to 191st 

Street will be required. 

Once the new intersection at 191st Street is connected, traffic on the ring road will have two ingress/egress 

points, whereas today, only 80th Avenue can be accessed. Using the Institute of Traffic Engineers guide for 

projected traffic and assuming a 70% traffic distribution to 191st Street from the new development, the daily 

traffic volumes would be: 

INTERSECTION 

Greenway and 80th 

Greenway and 191st 

For comparison 

CURRENT DAILY TRIP 

380 

0 

East side of Greenway at 80th 840 

WITH DEVELOPMENT DAILY TRIPS 

410 

960 

These trips are spread out during the day, and an estimate of 12% is reasonable to determine the peak hour. 

Doing so on average means that in the peak hour, there is from 1 to 2 cars per minute. A time study could be 

done to calculate the average delay for these trips during the peak hour, though I would expect it to fall well 

below a value that would create a poor level of service. That is not to say that no vehicle ever has a period of 

delay, just that the typical delay is well within acceptable limits. The additional 30 daily trips only add 4 trips 

during a peak hour, well within the capacity of these intersections. 

One other improvement that will occur in this area is the intersection of 191st Street and 80th Avenue. Will 

County is currently studying this intersection and it is scheduled for improvements, including dual left turn lanes 

due to the commuter traffic heading to the 80th Avenue station. The current plan is for design to be completed 

in 2019 and construction is 2020. 

Please call with any questions. 

CJK/pc 




	10-19-2017 Plan Commission Agenda
	DRAFT PC Minutes 20171005
	Item #1 - Banging Gavel
	Banging Gavel - Staff Report 20171019 final
	Banging Gavel - Back Up

	Item #2 - Aldi
	Aldi Sign - Staff Report 20171019 final
	Aldi Sign - Back Up

	Item #3 - Studio Q
	Studio Q - Staff Report 20171019 final
	Studio Q - Back Up

	Item #4 - Residence of Brookside Glen
	Residence of Brookside Glen - Staff Report 20171019 final
	RBSG - Back Up
	RBSG - Applications and Narrative 20171003 amended_Redacted
	RBSG - Plan Set 20171005 small
	RBSG - Site Plan REVISED 20171013 parking by clubhouse plus setback labels
	RBSG - Landscape Plan
	RBSG - Clean Renderings and Elevations
	RBSG - ATMI Precast Info
	RBSG - Attachments
	3 Tracy Cross - Market Study Summary scan
	4 Tracy Cross - Summary Planning Analysis scan
	5 Tracy Cross - Public Comments Response scan
	6a PC MINUTES 19990415
	6b PC MINUTES 19990805
	6c PC MINUTES 19990916
	6d PC MINUTES 20170518
	6e PC MINUTES 20170601
	6f PC MINUTES 20170628
	7a Residence at Brookside Glen - Staff Report 20170518
	7b Residence at Brookside Glen - Staff Report 20170601
	7c Residence at Brookside Glen - Staff Report 20170628
	8a VB MINUTES 19990907
	8b VB MINUTES 19990921
	8c VB MINUTES 20000215
	8d VB MINUTES 20170711
	9 Brookside Glen Timeline Info 20171013
	10 RBSG Density Memo 20170808 final
	11 Traffic Memo 20171009






